
TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY
COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

AGENDA PACKET

For the Meeting of Wednesday
July 3, 2013

7:00P.M. Regular Meeting

District Office
1800 Willow Lake Road



 
 

 
Town of Discovery Bay Board of Directors 

Meeting Agenda for July 3, 2013 - Pg.1 

 

                                                  
 
 
 
NOTICE OF THE REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
Wednesday July 3, 2013 
REGULAR MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
1800 Willow Lake Road, Discovery Bay, California 
Website address: www.todb.ca.gov 
 
REGULAR MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
A. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

1. Call business meeting to order 7:00 p.m. 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Roll Call 

  
B. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Individual Public Comments will be limited to a 3-minute time limit) 

During Public Comments, the public may address the Board on any issue within the District’s jurisdiction which is 
not on the agenda.  The public may comment on any item on the Agenda at the time the item is before the Board 
for consideration.  Any person wishing to speak must come up and speak from the podium.  There will be no 
dialog between the Board and the commenter.  Any clarifying questions from the Board must go through the Chair. 
 

C. PRESENTATIONS 
 
D. AREA AGENCIES REPORTS / PRESENTATION 
  1  Sheriff’s Office Report  
 2. CHP Report 
 3. Fire District Report 

4. East Contra Costa Fire Protection District Report  
 5. Supervisor Mary Piepho, District III Report 
 
E. COMMITTEE/LIAISON REPORTS 

1. Trans-Plan Report 
2.   County Planning Commission Report 
3. Code Enforcement Report 
4. Special Districts Report**  
**These meetings are held Quarterly 

 
F. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under the CONSENT CALENDAR are considered by the District to be routine and will be enacted 
by one motion. 
1. DRAFT minutes of previous special meeting dated June 19, 2013 
2. DRAFT minutes of previous regular meeting dated June 19, 2013 
3. Approve Register of District Invoices  

 
G. NEW BUSINESS AND ACTION ITEMS 

1. Consideration of a Supplemental Environmental Project pertaining to the State Regional Water Quality 
Control Board for Administrative Civil Liabilities imposed upon the Town of Discovery Bay in the amount of 
$54,000.00 

2. Award of Contract to Vintage Contractors for the Cornell Park Pickle Ball Conversion project 
 

 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 

 

President – Mark Simon • Vice-President – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Chris Steele 
 

 

http://www.todb.ca.gov/


 
 

 
Town of Discovery Bay Board of Directors 

Meeting Agenda for July 3, 2013 - Pg.2 

 

H. PRESIDENT REPORT AND DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 
 
I. MANAGER’S REPORT 
  
J. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT – Discussion and Possible Action 

1. Town of Discovery Bay “DRAFT” Employee Personnel Manual 
 
K. DISTRICT LEGAL COUNSEL REPORT 
 
L. COMMITTEE UPDATES – Discussion and Possible Action 

1. Approved minutes from the Community Center meeting dated May 29, 2013 
 2. Community Center Status Report (No written report) 
 
M. CORRESPONDENCE – Discussion and Possible Action  

1. R – Letter from Supervisor Piepho regarding the Caltrans Right of Way dated June 11, 2013 
 

N. PUBLIC RECORD REQUESTS RECEIVED   
 
O. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
  
P.  ADJOURNMENT     

1. Adjourn to the next meeting dated July 16, 2013 starting at 7:00 p.m. on 1800 Willow Lake Rd – Located 
behind the Delta Community Presbyterian Church.  

 
 
 
 
“This agenda shall be made available upon request in alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by the 
American with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. § 12132) and the Ralph M. Brown Act (California Government Code § 
54954.2). Persons requesting a disability related modification or accommodation in order to participate in the meeting 
should contact the Town of Discovery Bay, at (925)634-1131, during regular business hours, at least twenty-four hours 
prior to the time of the meeting.” 
 
"Materials related to an item on the Agenda submitted to the Town of Discovery Bay after distribution of the agenda 
packet are available for public inspection in the District Office located at 1800 Willow Lake Road during normal business 
hours." 
 
 
 
 
 
 



No Back Up
Documentation

For Agenda Item # C



No Back Up
Documentation

For Agenda Item # D



No Back Up
Documentation

For Agenda Item # E



 
 

Town of Discovery Bay Board of Directors 
Special Meeting Minutes for June 19, 2013 - Pg.1 

 

                                                  
 
 
 
 
 
MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
Wednesday, June 19, 2013 
1800 Willow Lake Road, Discovery Bay, California 
SPECIAL MEETING 6:30 P.M. 
Website address: www.todb.ca.gov 
 
SPECIAL MEETING AT 6:30 P.M. 
 
A. ROLL CALL 

Call business meeting to order – 6:30 p.m. by Vice-President Simon 
Roll Call – All Present – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease 
Director Steele – Arrived at 6:45 p.m. 
 

B. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 No Public Comment 
 
C. OPEN SESSION DISCLOSURE OF CLOSED SESSION AGENDA  

(Government Code Section 54957.7) 
Legal Counsel Schroeder – The Board adjourned into Closed Session regarding action items D1 and D2.  There 
are no reportable facts or circumstances at this time. 

 
D. CLOSED SESSION:  

1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION  
Pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54956.9 of the Government Code 
Name of case: Hofmann Land Development Co. v. Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District, 
Contra Costa County Superior Court Case No. C-13-00274 

2. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION 
Pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54956.9 of the Government Code 
Name of case: Robert Abbadie v. Town of Discovery Bay CSD and York Services Group, Inc., WCAB Case 
No. (Unassigned) 

 
E. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION; REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION  

(Government Code Section 54957.1)  
Legal Counsel Schroeder – The Board is reconvening from Closed Session regarding action items D1 and D2.  
Three of the four Board Members were present during the entirety of the Closed Session.  Director Steele arrived 
at 6:45 p.m. and remained through the end of the Closed Session.  There is no reportable action. 
 

F. ADJOURNMENT     
The meeting adjourned at 7:00 p.m. to the Regular Meeting on June 19, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. on 1800 Willow Lake 
Road. 

 
 
//cmc – 06.24.13 
 
http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/ 
 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 

President – Ray Tetreault • Vice-President – Mark Simon • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Chris Steele 
 

 

Agenda Item F-1

http://www.todb.ca.gov/
http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/


 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD Board of Directors 
Meeting Minutes for June 19, 2013 - Pg.1 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
Wednesday June 19, 2013 
REGULAR MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
1800 Willow Lake Road, Discovery Bay, California 
Website address: www.todb.ca.gov 
 
REGULAR MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
A. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Call business meeting to order – 7:03 p.m. by Vice-President Simon 
Pledge of Allegiance – Led by Vice-President Simon 
Roll Call – All Present – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease, Director Steele 

 
B. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Individual Public Comments will be limited to a 3-minute time limit) 

None 
 

C. PRESENTATIONS 
 General Manager Howard – Recognized Board Member Ray Tetreault. 

Vice-President Simon – Presented Awards to Board Member Ray Tetreault.   All of the Board Members 
congratulated Ray Tetreault for all of his dedication to the Town of Discovery Bay. 

  
Vice-President Simon – Stated that New Business and Action Item F-3 - Pantages Bays Project: Public 
Facilities will be moved to F-1 

  
D. PRESIDENT REPORT AND DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS 

        None 
 
E. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under the CONSENT CALENDAR are considered by the District to be routine and will be 
enacted by one motion. 
1. DRAFT minutes of previous special meeting dated June 4, 2013 
2. DRAFT minutes of previous regular meeting dated June 5, 2013 
3. Approve Register of District Invoices 
4. Proposed Water and Wastewater Rate Study for the Periods FY 2013/14 through FY 2016/17 
Motion by: Director Pease to approve the Consent Calendar 
Second by: Director Graves 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease, Director Steele, 
NOES: 0 

 
F. NEW BUSINESS AND ACTION ITEMS 

1. Discovery Bay Influent Pump Station, Pump Station W Modifications, and Emergency Storage 
Lagoon Capital  Improvement Program Project 

General Manager Howard – Provided details of item F-1.   
District Engineer Gregory Harris – Provided additional details of item F-1.  There was discussion between 
the General Manager, Gregory Harris, and the Board. 
Motion by: Director Pease to (1) award the lowest responsible bid to Pacific Infrastructure in the amount of 
$1,233,000 2) that the General Manager be authorized to execute all contract documents, and (3) that the 
General Manager be authorized to execute contract change orders up to ten (10) percent of the amount of 
the bid award. 
Second by: Director Graves 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease, Director Steele, 
NOES: 0 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 

President – Ray Tetreault • Vice-President – Mark Simon • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Chris Steele 
 

 

Agenda Item F-2

http://www.todb.ca.gov/


 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD Board of Directors 
Meeting Minutes for June 19, 2013 - Pg.2 

 
 

 
2. Consideration of Annual Fiscal Year 2013-14 and Fiscal Year 2014-15 Operating, Capital and 

Revenue Budgets and Adoption of Resolution 2013-11 
General Manager Howard – Provided details of item F-2.  There was discussion between the General 
Manager and the Board.  
Motion by: Director Pease to approve the FY 2013-14 Operating, Capital and Revenue Budgets and Adopt 
Resolution 2013-11 

 Second by:  Director Steele 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease, Director Steele, 
NOES: 0 
3. Pantages Bays Project: Public Facilities 
General Manager Howard – Provided details of item F-3.  There was discussion between the General 
Manager, the Parks and Landscape Manager, and the Board. 
Motion by: Director Pease to approve the long-term maintenance, once the financial reimbursement is 
received, for the Pantages Bays Project public accessible walkways 
Second by: Director Steele 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease, Director Steele, 
NOES: 0 
Agency Comment Request – Development Plan Application – DP13-3013 – Delta Community 
Presbyterian Church 
General Manager Howard – Provided details of item F-4.  There was discussion between the General 
Manager, the representative from the Delta Community Presbyterian Church, and the Board. 
Motion by: Director Graves to send a letter to the County with no negative comments. 
Second by: Director Pease 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease, Director Steele, 
NOES: 0 
  

G. VEOLIA REPORT 
1. Veolia Report for the Month of May 2013 
Project Manager Fermin Garcia – Provided the details of the May 2013 Monthly Operations Report.  There 
was discussion between the Project Manager, the General Manager, the Water and Wastewater Manager, 
and the Board. 

 
H. MANAGER’S REPORTS 

None 
 

I. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT – Discussion and Possible Action 
1. Consideration of Newport Pointe Pre-Annexation Agreement  
General Manager Howard – Provided details of item I-1.  There was discussion between the General 
Manager, Legal Counsel, and the Board.  The Board requested that this agenda Item be postponed to a 
future Board meeting. 

 
J DISTRICT LEGAL COUNSEL REPORT– Discussion and Possible Action 

1. Status of Board Officers and Vacancy created by resignation of President 
Legal Counsel Schroeder – Provided details of item J-1.  There was discussion between Legal Counsel and 

the Board. 
Motion by: Director Pease to nominate Mark Simon as the President and Kevin Graves as the Vice-
President 
Second by: Director Graves 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease, Director Steele, 
NOES: 0 
Motion by: Director Graves to nominate Director Steele as the President Pro-Tempore 
Second by: Vice-President Simon 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 3 – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Steele, NOES: 0, 
ABSTAIN: 1 – Director Pease 
2. Board Member Vacancy Process 
Legal Counsel Schroeder – Provided details of item J-2.  There was discussion between Legal Counsel, the 
General Manager, and the Board. 
Motion by: Director Steele to send out the notice of the Board Vacancy and look for qualified applicants  
Second by: Director Graves 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease, Director Steele, 
NOES: 0 
The discussion continued between Legal Counsel, the General Manager, and the Board. 
Motion by:  Director Graves to move Legal Counsel’s recommendation - that the Board appoint someone to 
fill the vacancy on the July 16, 2013 Board meeting 
Second by: Director Pease 

Agenda Item F-2



 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD Board of Directors 
Meeting Minutes for June 19, 2013 - Pg.3 

 
 

Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Vice-President Simon, Director Graves, Director Pease, Director Steele, 
NOES: 0 
 

K. COMMITTEE UPDATES – Discussion and Possible Action 
1. Community Center Status Report (No written report) 

 
L. CORRESPONDENCE – Discussion and Possible Action 

1. R – Letter from Contra Costa County Supervisor Piepho to the Byron Union School District regarding 
the Funding for the School Resource Officer (SRO) 
 

M. PUBLIC RECORD REQUESTS RECEIVED  
 
N. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS  

1. Summer Volunteer 
2. Board Communication to the Public 

 
O. ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 8:18 p.m. to the next Regular meeting dated July 3, 2013 starting at 7:00 p.m. on 
1800 Willow Lake Road-Located behind the Delta Community Presbyterian Church.  
 
 
 

//cmc – 06.24.13 
 
http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/ 
 

Agenda Item F-2

http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/


Town of Discovery Bay
“A Community Services District”

AGENDA REPORT

Meeting Date

July 03, 2013

Prepared By: Dina Breitstein, Finance Manager & Lesley Marable, Sr. Accounts Clerk
Submitted By: Rick Howard, General Manager

Agenda Title

Approve Register of District Invoices

Recommended Action

Staff recommends that the Board approve the listed invoices for payment

Executive Summary

District invoices are paid on a regular basis, and must obtain Board authorization prior to payment. Staff recommends
Board authorization in order that the District can continue to pay warrants in a timely manner.

Fiscal Impact:

Amount Requested $ 312,057.74
Sufficient Budgeted Funds Available?: Yes (If no, see attached fiscal analysis)
Prog/Fund # See listing of invoices. Category: Operating Expenses and Capital Improvements

Previous Relevant Board Actions for This Item

Attachments

Request For Authorization to Pay Invoices for the Town of Discovery Bay CSD 2012/2013
Request For Authorization to Pay Invoices for the Discovery Bay Lighting & Landscape District # 8 2012/2013
Request For Authorization to Pay Invoices for the Discovery Bay Lighting & Landscape District # 9 2012/2013

AGENDA ITEM: F-3

Cinderella
Stamp



Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date  Amount

Administration

Bay Area News Group 642510/2005834 Classifieds-Budget 05/31/13 $78.54

Bill Pease JUNE  2013 Expense Report June 2013 06/27/13 $460.00

Boething Treeland Farms, Inc. TV241059A Freight Charges (Z61) 04/19/13 $71.89

Boething Treeland Farms, Inc. TV243726 Newport Dr Enhancement (Z61) 06/17/13 $338.76

Chris Steele JUNE  2013 Expense Report June 2013 06/27/13 $690.00

Chris Steele JUNE  2013 Expense Report June 2013 06/27/13 $4.52

Christopher & Dorain Dailey 624 MYSTIC CT Closed Acct, Refund Overpayment 06/25/13 $4.70

Community Fund LLC 3924 WORTHING WAY Closed Acct, Refund Overpayment 06/25/13 $8.17

Discovery Pest Control 491975 Pest Control Service 06/07/13 06/07/13 $70.00

Express Employment Professionals 12559732-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/26/13 (Z57,61) 05/29/13 $155.16

Express Employment Professionals 12529125-2 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/19/13 (Z35,57,61) 05/22/13 $322.25

Express Employment Professionals 12594617-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/02/13 (Z57,61) 06/05/13 $238.71

Express Employment Professionals 12620211-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/09/13 (Z57,61) 06/12/13 $226.78

Express Employment Professionals 12651871-1 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/16/13 (Z35,57,61) 06/19/13 $286.44

Freedom Mailing Service, Inc 22722 Water Bill Processing May 2013 06/18/13 $1,119.88

Hertz Equipment Rental 26897193-001 Newport Dr Enhancement (Z61) 06/14/13 $196.56

MailFinance N4044906 Postage Machine Lease 06/17/13 $69.68

Mark Simon JUNE  2013 Expense report June 2013 06/26/13 $400.00

Neopost (Postage Account) 7900044908384650 Postage Late Fee 06/06/13 $2.05

Neumiller & Beardslee 256336 Services Performed through 05/31/13 06/13/13 $5,182.49

Neumiller & Beardslee 256338 Hofmann v. TODB 06/13/13 $2,009.19

Odyssey Landscape Co, Inc. 36038818.2 Bixler Island, Point of Timber (Z35,61) 05/31/13 $2,090.00

Odyssey Landscape Co, Inc. 36038853 Maintenance June 2013 (Z35,57,61) 06/20/13 $7,397.47

Office Depot 659964816001 Office Supplies 06/10/13 $53.15

Office Depot 661335359001 Office Supplies 06/07/13 $32.29

Office Depot 663442878001 Office Supplies 06/14/13 $23.60

Peter Matravers & Katherine Wu 235 AMESBURY ST Closed Acct, Refund Overpayment 06/25/13 $29.03

ReliaStar Life Insurance Company #JR52 457(B) 063013 457 (b) 06/16/13-06/30/13 06/25/13 $918.92

Shred-It 9402033069 Shredding Service May 2013 05/30/13 $71.31

Some Gave All JUNE  2013 Expense Report June 2013 06/27/13 $690.00

Some Gave All JUNE  2013 Expense Report June 2013 06/27/13 $16.88

Verizon Wireless 9705649947 Cell Phone Bill May 2013 05/26/13 $118.84

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1339731-00 Newport Drive Irrigation Enhancement (Z61) 05/31/13 $5,042.70

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1340806-00 Weed Control 06/03/13 $87.50

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1340806-00 Weed Control (Z57,61) 06/03/13 $174.98

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1345268-00 Newport Dr (Z61) 06/12/13 $9.58

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1345318-00 Newport Dr (Z61) 06/14/13 $196.88

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1347288-00 Newport Dr (Z61) 06/17/13 $347.89

Wesley Bisset 3701 YACHT DR Closed Acct, Refund Overpayment 06/25/13 $5.55

Woodmill Recycling Company 2013-2389 Green Waste from Newport Dr (Z61) 05/31/13 $37.00

Administration Sub-Total $29,279.34

Water

Bartle Wells Associates BWAA513B-1002 Rate Studies for FY2013/2014  through FY2016/2017 06/13/13 $4,830.00

EnerPower 63396 Electric Charges for 05/10/13-06/10/13 06/19/13 $519.00

EnerPower 63397 Electric Charges for 05/11/13-06/11/13 06/19/13 $2,480.00

EnerPower 63398 Electric Charges for 05/10/13-06/10/13 06/19/13 $740.00

Express Employment Professionals 12559732-8 Laborer Week Ending 05/26/13 05/29/13 $271.65

Express Employment Professionals 12559732-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/26/13 05/29/13 $83.55

Express Employment Professionals 12529125-2 Laborer Week Ending 05/19/13 05/22/13 $280.65

Express Employment Professionals 12529125-2 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/19/13 05/22/13 $54.55

Express Employment Professionals 12594617-8 Laborer Week Ending 06/02/13 06/05/13 $230.28

Express Employment Professionals 12594617-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/02/13 06/05/13 $40.58

Express Employment Professionals 12620211-8 Laborer Week Ending 06/09/13 06/12/13 $145.15

Express Employment Professionals 12620211-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/09/13 06/12/13 $88.32

Express Employment Professionals 12651871-1 Laborer Week Ending 06/16/13 06/19/13 $287.84

Herwit Engineering 13-05 Professional Services 05/31/13 05/31/13 $2,548.76

J.W. Backhoe & Construction, Inc. 1900 Leak at Birmingham Ct 06/14/13 $690.20

Mail Stream 516098 Prop 218 Proposed Rate Increase Mailers 06/17/13 $1,209.67

Neumiller & Beardslee 256336 Services Performed through 06/13/13 $367.50

Neumiller & Beardslee 256337 SWWC Litigation 06/13/13 $229.88

Request for authorization to pay invoices  (RFA)

For the Meeting on July 03, 2013  

Town of Discovery Bay CSD

For Fiscal Year’s 7/12 - 6/13

Agenda Item F-3



Pacific Gas & Electric 29437218075/061113 Electric & Gas Bill 05/10/13-06/11/13 06/11/13 $46,686.80

ReliaStar Life Insurance Company #JR52 457(B) 063013 457 (b) 06/16/13-06/30/13 06/25/13 $50.00

Univar SJ556117 Chemicals Delivered 06/06/13 06/06/13 $228.54

Univar SJ556118 Chemicals Delivered 06/06/13 06/06/13 $349.27

Univar SJ557459 Chemicals Delivered 06/13/13 06/13/13 $185.42

Univar SJ557461 Chemicals Delivered 06/13/13 06/13/13 $293.22

UPS 00012X417253 Shipping Charge 06/22/13 $17.00

Veolia Water North America 28947 Monthly O&M June 2013 06/24/13 $27,936.80

Verizon Wireless 9705649947 Cell Phone Bill May 2013 05/26/13 $122.94

Water Sub-Total $90,967.57

Wastewater

Ace Armature 33-284/286 Replacement for Teco/Westinghouse Motor 06/14/13 $2,122.05

American Retrofit Systems 346 Replace Starter for Ox Ditch 06/12/13 $1,628.00

Bartle Wells Associates BWAA513B-1002 Rate Studies for FY2013/2014  through FY2016/2017 06/13/13 $7,245.00

Bay Area News Group 642510/2005834 Classifieds-WWTP 1 Influent PS 05/31/13 $284.16

EnerPower 63394 Electric Charges for 05/13/13-06/11/13 06/19/13 $131.00

EnerPower 63395 Electric Charges for 05/13/13-06/11/13 06/19/13 $23.00

Express Employment Professionals 12559732-8 Laborer Week Ending 05/26/13 05/29/13 $407.47

Express Employment Professionals 12559732-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/26/13 05/29/13 $125.32

Express Employment Professionals 12529125-2 Laborer Week Ending 05/19/13 05/22/13 $420.96

Express Employment Professionals 12529125-2 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/19/13 05/22/13 $81.81

Express Employment Professionals 12594617-8 Laborer Week Ending 06/02/13 06/05/13 $345.40

Express Employment Professionals 12594617-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/02/13 06/05/13 $60.86

Express Employment Professionals 12620211-8 Laborer Week Ending 06/09/13 06/12/13 $217.71

Express Employment Professionals 12620211-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/09/13 06/12/13 $132.47

Express Employment Professionals 12651871-1 Laborer Week Ending 06/16/13 06/19/13 $431.76

Herwit Engineering 13-05 Professional Services 05/31/13 05/31/13 $3,823.14

J.W. Backhoe & Construction, Inc. 1899 Located and Uncovered Valve Cans & Manhole Lids 06/14/13 $1,884.00

J.W. Backhoe & Construction, Inc. 1905 Hauled Cutback to Plant #2 06/24/13 $1,079.68

Mail Stream 516098 Prop 218 Proposed Rate Increase Mailers 06/17/13 $1,814.49

Pacific Gas & Electric 73121157587/061213 Electric & Gas Bill 05/10/13-06/11/13 06/12/13 $36,441.17

ReliaStar Life Insurance Company #JR52 457(B) 063013 457 (b) 06/16/13-06/30/13 06/25/13 $75.00

Sunstate Equipment 5451200-001 Skip Loader Rental 05/09/13 $3,090.31

Veolia Water North America 28947 Monthly O&M June 2013 06/24/13 $41,905.18

Verizon Wireless 9705649947 Cell Phone Bill May 2013 05/26/13 $99.11

Wastewater Sub-Total $103,869.05

Community Center

Community Center Sub-Total $0.00

Grand Total $224,115.96

Agenda Item F-3



Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date  Amount
American Retrofit Systems 347 Irrigation Unit Repair 06/20/13 $150.00

American Retrofit Systems 348 Power for Timers 06/21/13 $100.00

Aramark Uniform Services 517-1359052 Community Center-Mat Service 06/14/13 06/14/13 $235.14

Boething Treeland Farms, Inc. TV243726 DB Blvd & Clipper 06/17/13 $578.99

Boething Treeland Farms, Inc. TV243728 DB Blvd & Sand Point 06/17/13 $228.71

Cheryl McMillen 2 Community Center-Instructor Fees April/May 06/17/13 $560.00

Cheryl McMillen 4 Community Center-Instructor Fees June 06/17/13 $245.00

Express Employment Professionals 12559732-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/26/13 05/29/13 $95.48

Express Employment Professionals 12529125-2 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/19/13 05/22/13 $214.83

Express Employment Professionals 12594617-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/02/13 06/05/13 $35.81

Express Employment Professionals 12594617-8 Community Center-Admin Asst Week Ending 06/02/13 06/05/13 $35.81

Express Employment Professionals 12594642-6 Community Center-Club Assoc Week Ending 06/06/13 06/05/13 $936.94

Express Employment Professionals 12620211-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/09/13 06/12/13 $119.35

Express Employment Professionals 12620211-8 Community Center-Admin Asst Week Ending 06/09/13 06/12/13 $71.61

Express Employment Professionals 12620296-9 Community Center-Club Assoc Week Ending 06/09/13 06/12/13 $1,073.33

Express Employment Professionals 12651890-1 Community Center-Club Assoc Week Ending 06/16/13 06/19/13 $1,091.12

Gates & Associates 34931 Landscape Architectural Service for Cornell Park 06/06/13 $396.34

Lincoln Equipment, Inc. SI212353 Community Center Swimming Pool Repair 05/13/13 $5,456.08

Melinda Esau 102 Community Center-Instructor Fees May 05/31/13 $560.00

Melinda Esau 103 Community Center-Instructor Fees June 06/27/13 $315.00

National Aquatic Services, Inc. 2013-348 Community Center-Service Call 06/12/13 $476.19

Odyssey Landscape Co, Inc. 36038818.1 Community Center-Irrigation Repairs 05/31/13 $132.00

Office Depot 661335359001 Community Center-Office Supplies 06/07/13 $22.13

Office Depot 663442878001 Office Supplies 06/14/13 $55.65

Pacific Gas & Electric 08692589941/061013 Electric & Gas Bill 05/09/13-06/10/13 06/10/13 $596.44

Pacific Gas & Electric 57028395986/061013 Community Center-Electric & Gas Bill 05/09/13-06/10/13 06/10/13 $1,101.12

Pacific Gas & Electric 59397344215/061713 Electric & Gas Bill 05/17/13-06/17/13 06/17/13 $6,419.61

Sandra Ribar 6/17/2013 Community Center-Instructor Fees May/June 06/17/13 $700.00

Shred-It 9402033068 Community Center-Shredding May 2013 05/30/13 $84.00

Sue Heinl Jun-13 Community Center-Expense Report June 2013 06/27/13 $33.00

Susan Emmett 230 Community Center-Instructor Fees May/June 05/25/13 $490.00

Tammy Cruze 3 Community Center-Instructor Fees May/June 06/25/13 $770.00

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 181 Zone 8 Payroll Feb-May 2013 06/21/13 $44,355.87

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-002-6.02 Community Center Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $1,364.24

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-2.01 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $2,432.14

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-2.02 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $491.82

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-2.03 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $551.24

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-2.04 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $471.40

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-2.05 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $27.72

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-2.06 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $376.13

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-2.07 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $4.12

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-2.08 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $9.56

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-2.09 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $83.06

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-4.01 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $2.90

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-4.02 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $74.89

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-4.03 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $483.19

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-4.04 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $2.90

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-4.05 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $26.36

Tricia Wisner 744514 Community Center-Instructor Fees June 06/26/13 $490.00

UPS 000012X417253 Shipping Charges 06/22/13 $10.21

Valley Crest Landscaping 4270656 Irrigation Repairs Willow Lake Ct 06/12/13 $328.00

Valley Crest Landscaping 4270657 Sprinkler Repair Clipper Dr 06/12/13 $50.00

Verizon Wireless 9705649947 Cell Phone Bill May 2013 05/26/13 $81.21

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1320354-00 Tools for Drip on Clipper 04/19/13 $43.70

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1345123-00 Community Center-Valves 06/15/13 $36.98

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1349027-00 Knee Pads 06/20/13 $31.47

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1335740-00 Community Center-Irrigation Repairs 05/22/13 $360.33

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1340806-00 Weed Control 06/03/13 $87.50

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1344443-00 Community Center-Irrigation Repair 06/11/13 $41.49

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1347289-00 Community Center-Fertilizer 06/17/13 $813.75

Total $76,511.86

Request For Authorization To Pay Invoices  (RFA)

For the Meeting on July 03, 2013 

Town of Discovery Bay, D.Bay L&L Park #8

For Fiscal Year’s 7/12 - 6/13

Agenda Item F-3



Vendor Name Invoice Number Description Invoice Date  Amount

American Retrofit Systems 340 Reset VFD at Ravenswood 06/05/13 $100.00

Express Employment Professionals 12559732-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/26/13 05/29/13 $167.09

Express Employment Professionals 12529125-2 Admin Asst Week Ending 05/19/13 05/22/13 $215.73

Express Employment Professionals 12594617-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/02/13 06/05/13 $334.18

Express Employment Professionals 12620211-8 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/09/13 06/12/13 $119.35

Express Employment Professionals 12651871-1 Admin Asst Week Ending 06/16/13 06/19/13 $95.48

Odyssey Landscape Co, Inc. 36038853 Maintenance June 2013 (Z35,57,61) 06/20/13 $2,827.28

Pacific Gas & Electric 04033779523/061013 Electric & Gas Bill 05/09/13-06/09/13 06/10/13 $177.64

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 182 Zone 9 Payroll Feb-May 2013 06/21/13 $4,069.06

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-3.01 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $204.65

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-3.02 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $2,547.83

Town of Discovery Bay CSD 9-900-000-004-3.03 Water Bill 05/01/13-05/31/13 05/31/13 $402.89

Verizon Wireless 9705649947 Cell Phone Bill May 2013 05/26/13 $81.24

Watersavers Irrigation Inc. 1340806-00 Weed Control 06/03/13 $87.50

Total $11,429.92

Request For Authorization To Pay Invoices   (RFA)

For the Meeting on July 03, 2013

Town of Discovery Bay, D.Bay L&L Park #9 (Ravenswood)

For Fiscal Year’s 7/12 - 6/13

Agenda Item F-3



Town of Discovery Bay
“A Community Services District”

AGENDA REPORT

Meeting Date

July 3, 2013

Prepared By: Rick Howard, General Manager
Submitted By: Rick Howard, General Manager

Agenda Title

Consideration of a Supplemental Environmental Project pertaining to the State Regional Water Quality Control Board for
Administrative Civil Liabilities imposed upon the Town of Discovery Bay in the amount of $54,000.00

Recommended Action

Approve a Supplemental Environmental Project involving the District’s Wetlands Demonstration Project in the amount of $34,500.00
pertaining to the State Regional Water Quality Control Board for Administrative Civil Liabilities Assessments

Executive Summary

On April 26, 2013 the Town of Discovery Bay received a letter (attached) from the Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control
Board (RWQCB) assessing Mandatory Minimum Penalties (MMP) for effluent excursions that took place between March 1, 2011
through February 28, 2013. There were 9 MMP’s that occurred that were subject to the $3,000.00 MMP, for a total of $27,000.00.
The 9 excursions that took place that were subject to the fines occurred shortly after the new Trojan UV3000+ system was installed.
If the Board recalls, the “weirs” that separate flow between the two UV banks were not even, thus the flows were not equal, causing
an inordinate amount of flow to one channel rather than equal flows.

On June 12, 2013 the Town of Discovery Bay received a letter (attached) from the RWQCB assessing Mandatory Minimum Penalties
(MMP) for effluent excursions that took place between March 1, 2013 and April 11, 2013. There were 9 MMP’s that occurred that
were subject to the $3,000.00 MMP, for a total of $27,000.00. The 9 excursions that took place that were subject to the fines
occurred due to a procedure not being appropriately followed.

The total amount owing to the RWQCB is $54,000. The nature of these fines is that they are mandatory penalties and must be paid.
However, a Supplemental Environmental Program (SEP) authorized by the State allows for an agency to mitigate the first $15,000
and the remaining 50% of the amount of the fine for an approved SEP.

On Wednesday June 12, 2013, District Staff, along with Veolia and Herwit Engineering met with RWQCB staff in Sacramento and
proposed a SEP for their consideration. The SEP, as presented would provide a Grant to the University of California, Berkeley in the
amount of $34,500 to continue to fund the wetlands demonstration project presently taking place at Wastewater Treatment Plant I.
The project consists of supporting a graduate student and purchase of instruments to continuing work on pharmaceutical removal with
the wetlands. An example of some of the recent work completed at the wetlands is attached. A final scope of work is currently being
worked out with the University. The final SCOPE of work will require approval by the RWQCB and will be included in their final order
on this issue.

At this time, Staff is seeking Board authorization to proceed with the SEP as identified above, and to notify the RWQCB of the Board’s
determination.

Fiscal Impact:

Amount Requested $ N/A
Sufficient Budgeted Funds Available?: (If no, see attached fiscal analysis)
Prog/Fund # Category: Pers. Optg. Cap. -or- CIP# Fund#

Previous Relevant Board Actions for This Item

N/A

Attachments
1. Micropol 2013 Biotransformation V5
2. EST Jasper Wetlands Photo
3. April 26, 2013 Letter from Regional Water Quality Control Board
4. June 12, 2013 Letter from Regional Water Quality Control Board
5. May 20, 2013 Letter to Regional Water Quality Control Board

AGENDA ITEM: G-1

Cinderella
Stamp



Biotransformation of Trace Organic 
Compounds in an Open-Water Unit Process 

Treatment Wetland 

Justin Jasper and David Sedlak 
University of California, Berkeley 

Micropol & Ecohazard Conference 
June 19, 2013 Agenda Item G-1



Wetlands Increasingly Used to Polish Wastewater 
Effluent and Effluent-Dominated Rivers 

Prado Wetlands 
Orange County, CA 

~200 ha 
~2.5X105 m3 d-1 Tarrant Wetlands 

Tarrant, TX 
~180 ha  

~4X105 m3 d-1 

Easterly Wetlands 
Orland, FL 

~475 ha  
~8X104 m3 d-1 

Agenda Item G-1



Average Removal of Trace Organics in Wetlands 

Jasper et al. In Press. Environ. Engi. Sci. 

a (Gray and Sedlak, 2005); b (Song et al., 2011); c (Breitholtz et al., 2012); d (Park et al., 2009); e (Camacho-Muñoz et al., 2011); f (Hijosa-Valsero et al., 2011); g 
(Matamoros and Bayona, 2006); h (Matamoros et al., 2007); i (Matamoros et al., 2009); j (Llorens et al., 2009); k (Matamoros et al., 2005); l (Matamoros et al., 
2008); m (Waltman et al., 2006) Agenda Item G-1



Unit Process Wetlands 

nitrified 
wastewater 

surface 
water 

Open-water Cell 
•Photolysis 
•Sorption  

•Biotransformation 

Cattail Cell 
•Denitrification 
•Anaerobic 

biotransformation 

Bulrush Cell 
•Sorption 

•Anaerobic 

biotransformation 

• Design wetlands as unit processes 
• Provide efficient treatment of a wide range of contaminants 

Jasper et al. In Press. Environ. Engi. Sci. 
Agenda Item G-1



Unit Process Wetlands 

nitrified 
wastewater 

surface 
water 

Open-water Cell 
•Photolysis 
•Sorption  

•Biotransformation 

Cattail Cell 
•Denitrification 
•Anaerobic 

biotransformation 

Bulrush Cell 
•Sorption 

•Anaerobic 

biotransformation 

• Design wetlands as unit processes 
• Provide efficient treatment of a wide range of contaminants 

Jasper et al. In Press. Environ. Engi. Sci. 
Agenda Item G-1



Shallow, Open-Water Wetland Cell 

7

8

9

10

11

2/20/2012 2/21/2012 2/22/2012 2/23/2012

In Out

p
H

 

0

10

20

30

2/20/2012 2/21/2012 2/22/2012 2/23/2012

In Out

D
is

so
lv

ed
 O

2
 (m

g/
L)

 

Inlet 
(nitrified 
wastewater 
effluent) 

Outlet 

Agenda Item G-1



Monitoring Open-Water Wetland 

Outlet 

Turn 2 

inlet 

Turn 1 

Turn 3 

Sampling location 

O

NH

OH

O

Test Compounds 

atenolol metoprolol propranolol sulfamethoxazole carbamazepine trimethoprim 
Agenda Item G-1



Monitoring Open-Water Wetland 
August, 2012 (HRT≈1.5 days) 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160
Inlet
Turn 1

Turn 2
Turn 3
Outlet

C
 (

n
g/

L)
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

O

NH

OH

O

Agenda Item G-1



Differences in Removal Rates with Season 

Agenda Item G-1



Sorption to Sediments in Open-Water Wetland 

O

NH

OH

O

O

NH

OH

O

Agenda Item G-1



Photolysis in Open-Water Wetland 

* Jasper and Sedlak. 2013. Environ. Sci. Technol. 

* 

k 
(d

-1
) 

Agenda Item G-1



Biotransformation in Open-Water 
Wetland? 

? 
? 

? 

k 
(d

-1
) 

Agenda Item G-1



Measuring Biotransformation Rates 
Dark 

 

 

Red Light (635 nm) 

 

water 

algae and sediments 0

5

10

15

20

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

dark microcosm (pH=8.5)

red microcosm (pH=10)

wetland, noon (pH>9)

D
ep

th
 f

ro
m

 b
o

tt
o

m
 (

cm
) 

Dissolved oxygen (mg/L) 
Agenda Item G-1



Atenolol 
Biotransformation to form metoprolol acid 

0

2

4

6

8

10

0 2 4 6

Dark 

C
o

n
ce

n
tr

at
io

n
 (

μ
g/

L)
 

0 2 4 6

aqueous

sorbed

metoprolol acid

total

Red light 

Time (days) 

→ 
(~100% yield) 

Agenda Item G-1



Metoprolol 
 Biotransformation enhanced under red light 

Time (days) 

0 2 4 6

aqueous

sorbed

total

Red light 

0

2

4

6

0 2 4 6

Dark 

C
o

n
ce

n
tr

at
io

n
 (

μ
g/

L)
 

O

NH

OH

O

O

NH

OH

O

O

NH

OH

O

→ 
(~10% yield) 

+ O

NH

OH

O

OH

(<1% yield) 

+ ? 

Agenda Item G-1



Propranolol 
Sorption with slow biotransformation under red light 

Time (days) 

0

2

4

6

0 2 4 6

Dark 

C
o

n
ce

n
tr

at
io

n
 (

μ
g/

L)
 

0 2 4 6

aqueous

sorbed

total

Red light 

Agenda Item G-1



Trimethoprim 
Biotransformation enhanced in dark 

Time (days) 

0

2

4

6

0 2 4 6

Dark 

C
o

n
ce

n
tr

at
io

n
 (

μ
g/

L)
 

0 2 4 6

aqueous

sorbed

total

Red light 

Agenda Item G-1



Sulfamethoxazole 
Slow biotransformation enhanced in dark 

Time (days) 

0

2

4

6

8

0 2 4 6

Dark 

C
o

n
ce

n
tr

at
io

n
 (

μ
g/

L)
 

0 2 4 6

aqueous

sorbed

total

Red light 

Agenda Item G-1



Carbamazepine 
Limited sorption with no biotransformation 

Time (days) 

0

2

4

6

0 2 4 6

Dark 

C
o

n
ce

n
tr

at
io

n
 (

μ
g/

L)
 

0 2 4 6

aqueous

sorbed

total

Red light 

Agenda Item G-1



Comparison of Transformation Rates 
k 

(d
-1

) 

Agenda Item G-1



Implications for Wetland Design 
wetland size needed for 1-log removal by photolysis and biotransformation (A90

1 ) 

Agenda Item G-1



Conclusions and Ongoing Work 

• Open-water wetland provides efficient 
removal 
– t1/2 ≈ 0.25-1 days 

• Removal mechanisms: 
– Photolysis (propranolol, sulfamethoxazole) 

– Biotransformation (beta blockers, trimethoprim) 

• Ongoing work: 
– Fingerprint microbial community in open-water 

cell using pyrosequencing 

– Compare microbial community in wetlands to 
communities in microcosms 

 

 

Agenda Item G-1



Acknowledgments 

• NSF grant number CBET-
0853512 

• NSF-GRF 

• NSF ERC for Re-Inventing the 
Nation’s Urban Water 
Infrastructure (ReNUWIT) 

• Virgil Koehne and Town of 
Discovery Bay 

• Dr. Alex Horne 

 
Agenda Item G-1



Phototransformation of Wastewater-Derived Trace Organic
Contaminants in Open-Water Unit Process Treatment Wetlands
Justin T. Jasper and David L. Sedlak*

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering and ReNUWIt Engineering Research Center, University of California at
Berkeley, Berkeley, California 94720, United States

*S Supporting Information

ABSTRACT: Open-water cells in unit process treatment
wetlands can be used to exploit sunlight photolysis to remove
trace organic contaminants from municipal wastewater effluent.
To assess the performance of these novel systems, a photo-
chemical model was calibrated using measured photolysis rates for
atenolol, carbamazepine, propranolol, and sulfamethoxazole in
wetland water under representative conditions. Contaminant
transformation by hydroxyl radical (•OH) and carbonate radical
(•CO3

−) were predicted from steady-state radical concentrations
measured at pH values between 8 and 10. Direct photolysis rates
and the effects of light screening by dissolved organic matter on
photolysis rates were estimated using solar irradiance data,
contaminant quantum yields, and light screening factors. The
model was applied to predict the land area required for 90% removal of a suite of wastewater-derived organic contaminants by sunlight-
induced reactions under a variety of conditions. Results suggest that during summer, open-water cells that receive a million gallons of
water per day (i.e., about 4.4 × 10−2 m3 s−1) of nitrified wastewater effluent can achieve 90% removal of most compounds in an area of
about 15 ha. Transformation rates were strongly affected by pH, with some compounds exhibiting faster transformation rates under the
high pH conditions associated with photosynthetic algae at the sediment−water interface and other contaminants exhibiting faster
transformation rates at the circumneutral pH values characteristic of algae-free cells. Lower dissolved organic carbon concentrations
typically resulted in increased transformation rates.

■ INTRODUCTION

Due to their incomplete removal during biological wastewater
treatment, a variety of trace organic contaminants are frequently
detected in municipal wastewater effluent.1,2 In the absence of
significant dilution, some of these contaminants pose risks to
aquatic biota3,4 and are an issue of concern for downstream
drinking water supplies.5,6 While reverse osmosis, ozonation, and
granular activated carbon can remove many wastewater-derived
trace organic contaminants,7,8 this additional treatment is expensive
and often produces wastes that require disposal. Chemical oxidation
can also produce disinfection byproducts of concern.
Constructed wetlands have been used since the 1970s to

remove nitrate and phosphate frommunicipal wastewater effluent.9

More recently, researchers have considered using them to remove
trace organic contaminants.10 In vegetated wetlands, microbes
associated with plant surfaces remove many of the trace organic
contaminants that are susceptible to biotransformation during
activated sludge treatment.11 However, rates of biotransformation
are often slower in wetlands than in treatment plants.
Sunlight photolysis can transform many wastewater-derived trace

organic contaminants detected in wastewater effluent.12−14 This
process is usually unimportant in wetlands because shading of the
water surface by emergent macrophytes and floating vegetation
reduces light penetration. While integration of open waters is often

desirable in treatmentwetlands aswaterfowl habitat15 and as ameans
of enhancing mixing,16 sunlight photolysis in deep, open waters is
generally slow.11Alternatively, wetlands constructed in a unit process
fashion, with individual cells exhibiting distinctly different character-
istics, can integrate shallow, open-water cells that exploit photolysis
as a means of removing trace organic contaminants.10

To evaluate the potential of open-water unit process cells to
transform trace organic contaminants, a photochemical model
was developed and validated under representative conditions
using compounds that undergo photolysis by different
mechanisms. Using previously published data, the model was
used to predict the removal of cimetidine, diuron, NDMA, and
17β-estradiol. The model was also used to estimate the area
needed to reduce the concentration of trace organic contami-
nants produced by a 1 million gallon per day (MGD) nitrifying
wastewater treatment plant by 90%.

Special Issue: Design Options for More Sustainable Urban Water
Environment

Received: October 24, 2012
Revised: January 10, 2013
Accepted: February 15, 2013

Article

pubs.acs.org/est

© XXXX American Chemical Society A dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXX

Agenda Item G-1

pubs.acs.org/est


■ MATERIALS AND METHODS
Materials. All reagents were purchased from Fisher Scientific

(Fairlawn, NJ) at the highest available purity. Isotopically labeled
internal standards, listed in Supporting Information (SI) Table SI 1,
were purchased from CDN Isotopes (Quebec, Canada), except for
sulfamethoxazole-d4, which was purchased from Toronto Research
Chemicals, Inc. (Ontario, Canada). All solutions were prepared
using Milli-Q water from a Millipore system.
Wetland Water and Conditions. Photolysis experiments

were conducted in water collected from a pilot-scale open-water
unit process wetland located in Discovery Bay, CA. The open-
water cell received about 10 000 gallons per day (4.4 × 10−4

m3 s−1) of nitrified wastewater effluent from the adjacent municipal
wastewater treatment plant. The 400 m2 cell was approximately
20 cm deep and divided with 3 baffles to give nearly plug-flow
hydraulics, with a hydraulic residence time ranging from 1 to 3
days. The bottom of the cell was lined with concrete or geotextile
fabric to prevent the growth of emergent macrophytes. A 2−5-cm
layer of organic-matter-rich sediments with large numbers of photo-
synthetic organisms accumulated on the cell bottom. Water quality
parameters for the wetland are provided in the SI.
Water samples used in this study were collected in clean,

amber glass bottles from the midpoint of the wetland, filtered
through a 1-μm glass fiber filter, and stored at 5 °C prior to
experiments.
Reaction Rate Constants for Carbonate Radical.

Second-order rate constants for the reaction of test compounds
with carbonate radical (•CO3

−) were measured using photo-
sensitizer based competition kinetics methods.17 Briefly, test
compounds (∼2.5 nM) were irradiated in capped, 10-mL
borosilicate test tubes with a path length of 1-cm, using a merry-
go-round reactor equipped with a 500-W medium-pressure
mercury lamp at 25 °C. Solutions contained isoproturon as a
reference compound k.CO3

−
isoproturon = 3 × 107 M−1 s−1),17 along

with 4-carboxybenzophone (CBBP) or duroquinone (DQ) as a
photosensitizer (5 μM). Solution pH was adjusted by varying the
concentrations of sodium carbonate and sodium bicarbonate
buffer solutions (total dissolved inorganic carbon = 0.5−1 M).
pH values higher than those typically encountered in sunlit
surface waters were used in laboratory experiments to minimize
side reactions with sensitizers and to ensure that amine
functional groups were predominantly deprotonated. Samples
were collected sacrificially at regular intervals. Assuming that
losses of test compounds and isoproturon were due only to
reaction with •CO3

−, the following equation could be used to
estimate the rate of reaction of a compound with •CO3

−

(k.CO3
−
compound):

=
−

−

⎡
⎣⎢

⎤
⎦⎥

⎡
⎣⎢

⎤
⎦⎥ln

[compound]
[compound]

k.

k.
ln

[isoproturon]
[isoproturon]

t

o

CO ,compound

CO ,isoproturon

t

o

3

3

(1)

The rate constant was obtained from a linear regression of ln
[([compound]t)/([compound]o)] versus ln [([isoproturon]t)/
([isoproturon]o)].
Reaction Rate Constants for Hydroxyl Radical and

Carbonate Radical with Wetland Dissolved Organic
Matter. Steady-state concentrations of •OH and •CO3

− were
calculated from the disappearance rates of probe compounds
irradiated as described above in wetland water buffered with
sodium borate buffer (10mM) at pH values ranging from 8 to 10.
Under these conditions, disappearance of probe compounds
exhibited pseudo-first-order kinetics (r2 > 0.97). Hydroxyl radical

steady-state concentration ([•OH]ss) was measured using para-
chlorobenzoic acid (pCBA) as a probe ([pCBA]o ≈ 5 μM;
k•OH, pCBA = 5 × 109 M−1 s−1).18 [•CO3

−]ss was measured using
N,N-dimethylaniline (DMA) as a probe ([DMA]o ≈ 5 μM;
k.CO3

−
DMA = 1.8× 109M−1 s−1).19,20 Data were corrected for direct

photolysis of DMA and loss of DMA by reaction with •OH
(k.OH,DMA = 1.4 × 1010 M−1 s−1)18 using measured [•OH]ss.
Estimates of the rate constants for the reaction of radicals with

wetland dissolved organic matter (i.e., k.OH,DOM and k.CO3
−
DOM)

were made by fitting measured steady-state radical concen-
trations at four or more pH values to the following equations:

=
+

+

+

·
− −

−

− −

( )
(

)

[OH]
R R

k. [HCO ] k. [CO ]

k. [DOM]

ss
form,OH,NO form,OH,DOM

OH,HCO 3 OH,CO 3
2

OH,DOM

3

3 3
2

(2)

and

=
+

· −

− · − ·
− −

−

[CO ]

k. [HCO ][OH] k. [CO ][OH]

k. [DOM]

3 ss

OH,HCO 3 ss OH,CO 3
2

ss

CO ,DOM

3 3
2

3

(3)

where Rform, OH,NO3
− and Rform, OH,DOM are the formation rates of

•OH from photolysis of NO3
− and dissolved organic matter,

respectively, and k.OH,CO3
−, k.OH,CO3

2−, k.OH,DOK, and k.CO3
−
,DOM are

second-order reaction rates between radical species and dissolved
carbon species. Previouslymeasured values of k.OH,HCO3

− and k.OH,CO3
2−

were used (Table 1). The formation rate of •OH from NO3
− and

DOM when irradiated with a medium-pressure mercury lamp
(Rform,

•
OH,NO3

− + Rform,
•
OH,DOM) was calculated by measuring the

formation rate of phenol from a solution of benzene in wetland
water, given a reaction yield of 0.85 mols of phenol per mole of
benzene that reacts with •OH.21 The concentration of benzene
employed (i.e.,∼3mM)was calculated to scavenge greater than 99%
of the •OH formed. The method of least-squares was used to
determine the remaining unknown parameters, k.OH,DOM and
k.CO3

−
,DOM.

Photolysis of Representative Compounds in Wetland
Water. The contribution of different photolysis mechanisms to
contaminant removal in wetland water was investigated by
irradiating wetland water as described above. Air-saturated
solutions were amended with approximately 50 nM of each of
four compounds (i.e., atenolol, propranolol, sulfamethoxazole,
and carbamazepine) from a concentrated aqueous stock solution
prior to irradiation. Solutions were modified to isolate the
contributions of different reactive species: 1% isopropanol (IPA)
was used to quench •OH reactions;22 0.1% isoprene was used to
quench 3DOM*;23 sparging with nitrogen gas (N2) was used to
evaluate the importance of 1O2 and

3DOM*;24 and adjustment of
pH to values between 8 and 10.5 was used to evaluate the effects
of pH on photolysis.

Predicting Photolysis Rates in Unit Process Wetlands.
Predictions of photolysis rates of trace organic contaminants in
open-water unit process cells (kphoto) included contributions
from direct photolysis, in addition to indirect photolysis via
reactions with •OH, •CO3

−, 1O2, and
3DOM*. The conditions

employed in the model calculations are summarized in Table 1.
Properties of contaminants necessary for the estimation of

Environmental Science & Technology Article

dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXXB

Agenda Item G-1



photolysis rates at a given pH value were calculated from
experimental data or obtained from previous publications (see
Table 2).
Complete details of contaminant photolysis rate calculations

are provided in the SI. Briefly, direct photolysis rates were calculated
using measured molar absorption coefficients and 24-h averaged
solar irradiances for clear skies at 40°N latitude (Z(24 h, λ))25 and
were corrected for light screening and depth using a screening
factor.26 Steady-state •OH and •CO3

− concentrations were
calculated using eqs 2 and 3. The formation rates of •OH from
NO3

− (Rform,
•
OH, NO 3

− ) and dissolved organic matter (Rform, OH, DOM)
were calculated using •OH formation quantum yields fromNO3

−

and DOM and were corrected for depth.21,27 1O2 steady-state
concentrations were estimated based on previously measured
values from irradiated wastewater effluent.28 Pseudo-first-order
reaction rates of 3DOM* with trace organic contaminants were
estimated using a wavelength-dependent quantum yield coefficient
(f(λ) (L Ei−1)), that accounted for the efficiency of light absorption
by DOM leading to transformation of a contaminant.29 A quantum
yield coefficient for the reaction of 3DOM* with propranolol was
used to account for differences betweenmodel predictions and rates
measured with a solar simulator.
To evaluate the applicability of the photochemical model,

predicted rates were compared to photolysis rates of test
compounds measured in a solar simulator (Oriel). Test
compound photolysis rates were measured in uncovered 1-L
borosilicate beakers containing 20 cm of wetland water amended
with approximately 50 nM of test compounds. Solutions were
irradiated from above with a collimated beam (20 × 20 cm)
generated by a 1000-W Xe lamp screened with an atmospheric
attenuation filter (typical spectrum shown in Figure SI 1). The
solution temperature was maintained at 15 °C to minimize
evaporation using a recirculating water bath. One-mL samples
were collected at regular intervals for analysis.

Table 1. Conditions Employed in Photolysis Model

parameter value(s)

depth (cm) 0−50
pH 7−10
[NO3

−] (mg L−1-N) 0−20
[DOC] (mg L−1-C) 1−15
[DIC] (mg L−1-C)a 60
Z(24 h, λ) (mEi cm−2 d−1)b throughout year
ΦNO3

−
,
•
OH
c 1.6 × 10−2

ΦDOM,
•
OH
c 3.7 × 10−5

[1O2]ss, near‑surface,noon (M (mg L−1-C)−1)d 1 × 10−14

k.OH,DOM ((mg L−1-C)−1 s−1)e 1.7 × 104

k.CO3
−
,DOM ((mg L−1-C)−1 s−1)e 3.7 × 102

k.OH,HCO 3
− (M−1 s−1)18 8.5 × 106

k.OH,CO 3
2− (M−1 s−1)18 3.9 × 108

α(λ)f m(λ) [DOC] + b(λ)
aDissolved inorganic carbon. b24-h-averaged solar intensity at 40° N
latitude under clear skies on the 21st day of each month.25 cQuantum
yields for formation of •OH from DOM and NO3

−. Values were
selected from the range available in the literature (i.e., ΦNO3

−
,OH =

0.010−0.017; ΦDOM,OH = 3.0−9.8 × 10−5)21,27 to give the best
agreement between model predictions and solar simulator measure-
ments. dAverage value for previously studied wastewaters.28
eDetermined in this study. fLight absorption by wetland water
estimated by assuming a linear relationship between dissolved organic
carbon ([DOC]) and α(λ). Details are available in the SI. Values for
m(λ) and b(λ) are given in Table SI 3.

T
ab
le
2.
C
om

po
un

d
P
ro
pe
rt
ie
s
U
se
d
in

P
ho

to
ly
si
s
M
od

el

pr
op
er
ty
a

Φ
k.
C
O

3−
co
nt
(M

−
1 s
−
1 )

k O
2,
1 c
on
t
(M

−
1 s
−
1 )

co
m
po
un
d

pK
a

pr
ot
on
at
ed

de
pr
ot
on
at
ed

k.
O
H
,c
on
tb
(M

−
1 s
−
1 )

pr
ot
on
at
ed

de
pr
ot
on
at
ed

pr
ot
on
at
ed

de
pr
ot
on
at
ed

f(
λ)

(1
03

L
Ei

−
1 )

at
en
ol
ol

9.
6
60

1.
1
×
10

−
2
61

1.
1
×
10

−
2
c

7.
5
×
10

9
62
,6
3

9(
±
4)

×
10

6
d

5.
9(
±
1.
6)

×
10

7
d

8.
5
×
10

3
39

n.
d.
e

n.
d.

pr
op
ra
no
lo
l

9.
5
60

5.
2
×
10

−
3
13

5.
2
×
10

−
3
c

1.
1
×
10

10
62

7.
8(
±
5.
6)

×
10

7
d

4.
6(
±
0.
7)

×
10

8
d

9.
2
×
10

6
38

n.
d.

(1
6
×
10

−
0.
02
λ )
d

su
lfa
m
et
ho
xa
zo
le

5.
7
53

5
×
10

−
1
53

9
×
10

−
2
53

5.
9
×
10

9
53

n.
a.
f

4.
4(
±
1.
2)

×
10

8
d

n.
d.

2
×
10

4
53

n.
d.

ca
rb
am

az
ep
in
e

13
.9

64
1.
3
x1
0−

4
37

n.
a.

9.
1
×
10

9
8,
37

2.
3(
±
0.
5)

×
10

6
d

n.
a.

n.
d.

n.
d.

n.
d.

co
m
po
un
ds

us
ed

on
ly
in
pr
ed
ic
tiv
e
m
od
el

N
D
M
A

8.
5
42
g

3.
1
×
10

−
1
42

8
x1
0−

2
42

3.
4
×
10

8
18

n.
d.

n.
d.

n.
d.

n.
d.

n.
d.

di
ur
on

n.
a.

1.
4
×
10

−
2
29

n.
a.

4.
6
×
10

9
65

8
×
10

6
29

8
×
10

6
29

n.
d.

n.
d.

(3
.5
×
10

−
0.
02
λ )

29

ci
m
et
id
in
e

7.
1
66

n.
d.

n.
d.

6.
5
×
10

9
66

n.
d.

n.
d.

3.
3
×
10

7
66

2.
5
×
10

8
66

n.
d.

17
β-
es
tr
ad
io
l

10
.4

8
4.
8
×
10

−
3
13

4.
8
×
10

−
3
c

9.
8
×
10

9
8

2.
2
×
10

7
h

4.
8
×
10

8
i

1.
9
×
10

7
j

6.
4
×
10

8
j

n.
d.

a
C
om

po
un
d
m
ol
ar
ab
so
rp
tio

n
co
effi

ci
en
ts
sh
ow

n
in
Fi
gu
re
SI

6.
b
A
ve
ra
ge

of
m
ul
tip

le
va
lu
es
,w

he
n
av
ai
la
bl
e.
c V
al
ue

fo
r
pr
ot
on
at
ed

sp
ec
ie
s
us
ed
.d
M
ea
su
re
d
in
th
is
st
ud
y.
e n
.d
.m

ea
ns

no
da
ta
av
ai
la
bl
e.
f n
.a
.

m
ea
ns

no
ta
pp
lic
ab
le
.g
A
pp
ar
en
tp

K
a
of
ph
ot
oe
xc
ite
d
st
at
e.
h
A
ve
ra
ge

va
lu
e
fo
r
ph
en
ol
us
ed
.20

i C
al
cu
la
te
d
w
ith

qu
an
tit
at
iv
e
st
ru
ct
ur
e
ac
tiv
ity

re
la
tio

ns
hi
p
fo
r
ph
en
ol
s
us
in
g
m
et
a
an
d
pa
ra
C
H

2C
H

2C
H

2C
H

3
su
bs
tit
ue
nt

co
ns
ta
nt
s.1

7
j C
al
cu
la
te
d
w
ith

qu
an
tit
at
iv
e
st
ru
ct
ur
e
ac
tiv
ity

re
la
tio

ns
hi
p
fo
r
ph
en
ol
s
us
in
g
m
et
a
an
d
pa
ra

C
H

2C
H

2C
H

2C
H

3
su
bs
tit
ue
nt

co
ns
ta
nt
s.5

2

Environmental Science & Technology Article

dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXXC

Agenda Item G-1



Analytical Methods. Dissolved organic carbon, dissolved
inorganic carbon, UV/vis, absorption spectra, and NO3

− were
measured using standard methods.30 pCBA, DMA, and phenol
were detected using a high-performance liquid chromatography
(HPLC) system (Waters Alliance) equipped with a UV-detector.
Trace organic contaminants and isoproturon were analyzed
using an Agilent 1200 series HPLC coupled to a 6410 triple
quadropole tandemmass spectrometer (LC-MS/MS). Details of
the analytical methods are provided in SI text and Table SI 1.

■ RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Wetland water contains chromophores that serve as sources of
reactive oxygen species and triplet state species. As a result,
photolysis rates of some compounds increased in wetland waters
relative to those measured in deionized water. For other
compounds, photolysis rates decreased in the presence of
chromophores due to light screening. Experiments with probe
compounds provided a basis for predicting the magnitude of
these effects over a range of conditions.
Carbonate Radical Reactions with Contaminants. The

competition kinetics method used to determine second-order
•CO3

− reaction rates with test compounds exhibited pseudo-first-
order kinetics as indicated by the linearity of data plotted according
to eq 1 (r2 > 0.9; see Figure SI 2). Dark controls indicated that none
of the compounds underwent hydrolysis at appreciable rates relative
to photolysis. Both CBBP and DQ were used as sensitizers to
evaluate the possibility of a side reaction between the sensitizer and
the test compound. The observed agreement between rate
constants measured with the two sensitizers indicated that side
reactions were not important at pH 11.4 (see Table SI 2).
The rate constants for reactions of test compounds with

•CO3
− at pH 11.4 varied over more than 2 orders of magnitude

(Table 2), reflecting the selectivity of •CO3
−. Changes in ionic

strength did not significantly affect measured rate constants. As
expected, •CO3

− reacted rapidly with sulfur-containing func-
tional groups on sulfamethoxazole.31,32 •CO3

− also reacted
rapidly with the deprotonated amines atenolol and propranolol.
To assess the role of compound speciation on reaction rates

with •CO3
−, experiments were performed at pH 8.2 and 11.4 for

atenolol (pKa = 9.6) and propranolol (pKa = 9.5). Attempts to
measure k.CO3

− at pH 8.2 were complicated by side reactions
between sensitizers and test compounds, as evidenced by differences
in second-order rate constants measured using the two sensitizers
(Table SI 2). In both cases, measured values for k.CO3

− were
approximately an order of magnitude lower for the deprotonated
β-blockers relative to the protonated species (Table 2). As expected,
•CO3

− reaction rates with carbamazepine did not vary significantly
with pH (Table SI 2). Although the protonation state of
sulfamethoxazole does not change significantly between pH 8.2
and pH 11.4, measured k.CO3

− values varied by approximately a
factor of 2.5. This change may have been due to side reactions with
sensitizers at pH 8.2. Therefore, k.CO3

− values measured at pH 11.4
were used for sulfamethoxazole in subsequent model calculations.
Reaction of Hydroxyl Radical and Carbonate Radical

withWetland Dissolved OrganicMatter.Measured [•OH]ss
and [•CO3

−]ss were strongly affected by pH, with an 80%
decrease in [•OH]ss and a greater than 100% increase in
[•CO3

−]ss as pH increased from 8 to 10 (Figure 1). The observed
shift in concentrations of radicals was attributed to the faster
reaction rate of •OH with CO3

2− relative to HCO3
−.18 This was

especially relevant in open-water wetlands, where photosynthesis
resulted in pH values as high as 10 (see Figure SI 3).
To assess the relative importance of dissolved organic matter

and dissolved inorganic carbon as sinks for radicals, [•OH]ss and
[•CO3

−]ss were modeled using eqs 2 and 3. The measured
formation rate of •OH in wetland water when irradiated with a
medium-pressuremercury lamp ((Rform,

•
OH,NO3

− +Rform,
•
OH,DOM) =

4.3 × 10−10 ± 0.2 M s−1; data not shown) was similar to previously
measured rates.21 Steady-state radical concentrations were calcu-
lated by fitting the adjustable parameters k.OH,DOM and k.CO3

−
DOM to

eqs 2 and 3 using a least-squaresmodel (Figure 1). The best-fit value
of k.OH,DOM (i.e., 1.7 × 104 (mg L−1-C)−1 s−1) was approximately
30% lower than values reported for reactions of •OHwith DOM in
natural waters (i.e., 2.3 × 104 (mg L−1-C)−1 s−1)33 and 80% lower
than values for municipal wastewater effluent (i.e., 7.2 × 104

(mg L−1-C)−1 s−1).34 The best-fit value for k.CO3
−,DOM (i.e., 370

(mg L−1-C)−1 s−1) was approximately 30% higher than previously
reported values for a hydrophobic SuwanneeRiver fulvic acid extract
(i.e., 280 (mg L−1-C)−1 s−1)17 and more than 9 times higher than a
Suwannee River dissolved organic matter extract (i.e., 40 (mg L−1-
C)−1 s−1).35 The relatively high reactivity of the natural organic
matter in this study may be attributed to its sourcenamely
wastewater effluent and the algae, diatoms, and bacteria on the
bottomof the cell. Previous research has shown that effluent organic
matter may contain abundant reactive moieties associated with
soluble microbial products.36 Presumably the organisms present in
the open-water-cell biofilm released similar reactive compounds.

Photolysis of Test Compounds in Wetland Water. Each
probe compound exhibited different behavior with respect to the

Figure 1. Measured [•OH]ss (■) and [•CO3
−]ss (⧫) in Discovery Bay

wetland water when irradiated with a 500-W medium-pressure mercury
lamp. [•OH]ss (• • •) and [•CO3

−]ss (- - -) plotted according to eqs 2
and 3. [NO3

−] = 16 mg/L−1-N; [DOM] = 5.5 mg of L−1-C; [HCO3
−] +

[CO3
2−] = 60 mg L−1-C; k.OH,HCO3

− = 8.5 × 106 M−1 s−1; k.OH,CO3
2− =

3.9 × 108 M−1 s−1; (Rform,
•
OH,NO3

− + Rform,
•
OH,DOM) = 4.3 × 10−10 M s−1

(measured); k.OH,DOM = 1.7× 104 (mgL−1-C)−1 s−1 (best fit); k.CO3
−
,DOM =

370 (mg L−1-C)−1 s−1 (best fit). Error bars represent ± one standard
deviation.

Environmental Science & Technology Article

dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXXD

Agenda Item G-1



relative contributions of different photolysis mechanisms when
irradiated with a medium-pressure mercury lamp. Among the
compounds studied (atenolol, propranolol, sulfamethoxazole,
and carbamazepine), only sulfamethoxazole and propranolol
underwent direct photolysis at appreciable rates in deionized
water (Figure 2), which was consistent with previous

findings.12,13,37 In wetland water at pH 8.5, •OH accounted for
much of the loss of carbamazepine and atenolol, as evidenced by
the 80% decreases in transformation rates observed upon
addition of IPA (Figure 2).
Photosensitized reactions involving 3DOM* were important

to the loss of propranolol. When wetland water was sparged with
N2 to remove O2, a triplet quencher, the rate of loss almost
doubled, while addition of the triplet quencher isoprene reduced
the rate of propranolol loss by approximately 50% (Figure 2).
These observations were consistent with previous studies of
propranolol photolysis in the presence of humic substances.38

The rate of transformation of atenolol, sulfamethoxazole, and
carbamazepine increased slightly under N2-sparged conditions
and decreased slightly but not significantly upon addition of
isoprene, implying a small contribution of 3DOM* to the
photolysis of these compounds. Results from other studies suggest
that 3DOM* contributes to the photolysis of sulfamethoxazole in
municipal wastewater effluent (i.e., 16% of total photolysis rate)24

and the photolysis of atenolol increases in the presence of fulvic
acid isolates (i.e., greater than 50% of the total photolysis rate with
20 mg L−1-C DOM).39 The smaller contribution of 3DOM*
observed in this study may have been due to differences in
experimental conditions or variations in the properties of 3DOM*
from different sources, such as antioxidative properties.40,41 In
addition, formation of •OH and •CO3

− from the high
concentration of NO3

− in the nitrified wastewater effluent reduced
the relative importance of reactions with 3DOM*.
To assess the impacts of pH on photolysis rates, experiments

were repeated in wetland water buffered at pH 10.5 (Figure SI 4).

Atenolol and carbamazepine, which were transformed mainly by
•OH at pH 8.5, exhibited different behavior at pH 10.5 due to the
conversion of •OH to •CO3

−. The rate of loss of carbamazepine
decreased by approximately 70% due to its low reactivity with
•CO3

−, while the rate of loss was almost unchanged for atenolol
due to its relatively high rate of reaction with •CO3

−. As expected,
the rate of loss of both sulfamethoxazole and propranolol
increased at high pH values, due to relatively fast rates of reaction
of these compounds with •CO3

−.
Photolysis Model Validation and Predictions. Photolysis

experiments conducted with a medium-pressure mercury lamp
provided a means of obtaining precise data within a period of
several hours. However, the conditions used in those experi-
ments were different from conditions encountered in sunlit
waters. To assess the potential for artifacts associated with
differences in the spectral qualities and light intensity, photolysis
rates were measured using a solar simulator and water depth
comparable to that of the pilot-scale open-water unit process cell.
Comparison of measured photolysis rates of test compounds in
the solar simulator agreed within approximately 10% with rates
predicted by the photolysis model at pH values bounding the
range typically observed in the pilot-scale system (Figure 3).

Due to the large contribution of 3DOM* to the indirect
photolysis rate of propranolol (e.g., see Figure 2), it was
necessary to estimate a quantum yield coefficient (fpropranolol(λ))
for the reaction of 3DOM* with propranolol. fpropranolol(λ) was
assumed to have a similar exponential dependence on wave-
length as f(λ) values obtained for other organic compounds (i.e.,
f(λ) = A*e−0.02*λ L Ei−1, where A is a compound-dependent
parameter).29 The parameter A was estimated for propranolol by
minimizing the differences between model predictions and
photolysis rates measured using a solar simulator. The obtained
value for Apropranolol was about 5 times larger than the reported
value for diuron (i.e., Adiuron = 3.5; Apropranolol = 16).29 Further
details regarding f(λ) are provided in the SI.

Figure 2. Pseudo-first-order photolysis rates for test compounds in
wetland water, wetland water sparged with N2, wetland water spiked
with 1% IPA, wetland water spiked with 1% IPA and 0.1% isoprene, and
deionized water. All solutions were buffered at pH 8.5. Rates were
measured in a merry-go-round reactor with a 500-W medium-pressure
mercury lamp. Error bars represent ± one standard deviation.

Figure 3. Predicted andmeasured pseudo-first-order photolysis rates for
test compounds in 20-cm deep wetland water buffered at pH 9 and 10
under a solar simulator. [DOC] = 8 mg L−1-C; [NO3

−] = 16 mg L−1-N;
depth = 20 cm; [HCO3

−] + [CO3
2−] = 60 mg L−1-C. Error bars

represent ± one standard deviation.

Environmental Science & Technology Article

dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXXE

Agenda Item G-1



The photochemical model was used to predict the
contributions of different photolysis pathways to the overall
photolysis rates of the test compounds and two additional
compounds for which appropriate data were available (i.e.,
NDMA and 17β-estradiol). The predicted contributions of each
photolysis mechanism to overall photolysis rates of test
compounds were similar to those observed using quenchers
and the mercury lamp (Figure 2). For compounds that reacted
mainly with •OH and •CO3

− (i.e., atenolol and carbamazepine),
predicted half-lives exceeded 3 days at pH 8 and 5 days at pH 10
(Figure 4). Propranolol and sulfamethoxazole were predicted to
have half-lives of 0.5−1 days, with higher rates expected at pH 10
due to reactions involving •CO3

−.

Literature data was used to predict the removal of NDMA and
17β-estradiol in the open-water cell. NDMA was predicted to
exhibit half-lives of less than 8 hours at pH 8 due to direct
photolysis, with a half-life almost twice as long at pH 10 due to
the lower quantum yield of the compound above pH 8.5.42

Predicted half-lives for 17β-estradiol were about 2.5 days at pH 8
and 1 day at pH 10, due to increased reaction rates of 1O2 and
•CO3

− with the deprotonated species at alkaline pH values.
Estimation of Wetland Area Necessary for Contami-

nant Photolysis. To assess the merits of open-water unit
process wetlands as a means of removing chemical contaminants via
photolysis it is useful to consider the area necessary to achieve a
desired level of treatment. For many wastewater-derived organic
contaminants, a 90% decrease in concentration will result in
concentrations below a threshold for ecological or human health
concerns. For example, a 90% reduction of typical propranolol
concentrations in municipal wastewater effluent (i.e., 0.1−0.5 μg
L−1)43,44 would result in concentrations that are about an order of
magnitude lower than the concentration at which reproductive
effects in aquatic organisms have been observed.45 Similarly, a 90%
reduction would reduce NDMA concentrations in most wastewater
effluent samples below the 10 ng L−1 notification level set by the
California Department of Health Services.46 In addition, a 10-fold

decrease in concentration of wastewater-derived trace organic
contaminant concentrations would result in concentrations in
effluent-dominated waters that are comparable to levels typically
detected in surface waters (i.e., many surface waters in the United
States consist of around10%wastewater under low-flowconditions).6

For the purpose of assessing the land required for treatment, it
is useful to consider the area needed to achieve 90% reduction in
concentration for 1 MGD of wastewater effluent. This provides a
simple basis for estimating land areas in different locations (i.e.,
to estimate the land needed to treat 10 MGD the value is
multiplied by 10). This value, which we refer to as A90

1 , is
calculated as follows:

=
*

A
0.87

z k90
1

photo (4)

with A90
1 expressed in ha MGD−1. kphoto is the pseudo-first-order

rate of compound disappearance, measured in d−1, and z is the
depth of the wetland cell measured in meters. The conversion
factor of 0.87 has the units ha m MGD−1 d−1. The derivation of
eq 4 is included in the SI. Wetland area is an important design
criterion for wetland projects because they are often limited by
available space, and capital costs for wetland construction increase
approximately linearly with wetland area.47 To assess the impact of
design parameters on wetland performance, the model was used to
predict A90

1 for a suite of representative contaminants.
Effect of Depth on Treatment Efficiency. A90

1 decreased with
increasing depth for all compounds, with the most significant
decreases occurring between 0 and 20 cm (Figure 5a). Deeper
open-water cells were predicted to be more effective because
decreases in photolysis rates due to light screening were
compensated for by increases in wetland hydraulic residence times.
Wetland depths beyond 50 cm may be impractical for open-

water cells because deeper wetlands result in longer hydraulic
residence times that are conducive to the growth of floating aquatic
plants, such as duckweed.48 Furthermore, deep photolysis wetlands
will exhibit less growth of photosynthetic organisms at the
sediment−water interfacea location where additional contami-
nant removal occurs via sorption and biotransformation.49

Effect of Nitrate on Treatment Efficiency.Nitrate is expected
to be important to the removal of compounds that react with
•OH and •CO3

−, such as atenolol and carbamazepine. As a result,
removal of these compounds from nitrified wastewater effluent,
which typically contains 5−20 mg L−1-N NO3

−,50 is predicted to
require an area that is about half as large as what would be
required if the wastewater had been denitrified prior to treatment
(Figure SI 5).

Effect of Dissolved Organic Carbon on Treatment Efficiency.
Dissolved organic carbon had a strong effect on A90

1 for most
compounds, mainly due to its ability to screen sunlight and
scavenge •OH and •CO3

− (Figure 5b). For compounds that are
removed primarily by reaction with •OH and •CO3

−, such as
carbamazepine, atenolol, and sulfamethoxazole, A90

1 increased by
approximately 50% when dissolved organic carbon concen-
tration increased from 5 to 10 mg L−1. Compounds that react
rapidly with 3DOM*, such as diuron, showed themost significant
differences in A90

1 at very low concentrations of dissolved organic
carbon. This may also be true for compounds such as 17β-
estradiol if reaction with 3DOM* were included in model
predictions.51 Unfortunately, rate constants for reactions of
3DOM*with many compounds are not available, which is a topic
that requires further research.

Figure 4. Predicted contributions of photolysis mechanisms to kphoto at
pH values of 8 and 10. [DOC] = 8 mg L−1-C; [NO3

−] = 20 mg L−1-N;
depth = 30 cm; [HCO3

−] + [CO3
2−] = 60 mg L−1-C; solar intensity

(Z(24 h, λ)) of June 21st under clear skies at 40° N latitude.

Environmental Science & Technology Article

dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXXF

Agenda Item G-1



1O2 steady-state concentrations were predicted to increase
with increasing concentrations of dissolved organic matter. Thus,
compounds that react rapidly with 1O2, such as cimetidine,
exhibited little change in A90

1 as dissolved organic carbon con-
centrations increased, despite increased light screening at higher
dissolved organic carbon concentrations. It should be noted that
the supersaturated dissolved oxygen concentrations created by
photosynthetic organisms on the bottom of open water cells could
have increased the importance of 1O2 relative to

3DOM*, due to the
scavenging of 3DOM* by O2. Additional research would be needed
to quantify the magnitude of this effect.
Effect of pH on Treatment Efficiency. Open-water unit

process cells exhibit wide variations in pH that are determined by
the alkalinity, depth, and mixing of the wastewater effluent, in
addition to the activity of photosynthetic organisms at the
sediment−water interface. For example, in the pilot-scale cell
employed in this study, pH increased from values of 8 to 10 as
water passed through the system over a two-day residence time
(Figure SI 3). In the early morning, or before the photosynthetic
organisms were established, pH values remained below 9
throughout the cell.
Changes in wetland pH affected the area needed to remove

most contaminants via photolysis (Figure 5c). Insight into these
trends canbe gained by consideringdominant photolysismechanisms
for test compounds at pH values of 8 and 10 (Figure 4). One
important pH-dependent change was the conversion of •OH to
•CO3

− (Figure 1). As a result of this phenomenon, compounds that

react slowly with •CO3
− under alkaline conditions (i.e., k.CO3

− < 108

M−1 s−1), such as atenolol and carbamazepine, are predicted to
require larger areas for treatment at higher pH values. Conversely,
compounds that react with •CO3

− at rates above 108 M−1 s−1 (e.g.,
sulfamethoxazole and propranolol) should require the same or
slightly smaller areas at elevated pH values.
Phenolic compounds (e.g., 17β-estradiol) should need less

area for treatment at elevated pH values because their deprotonated
forms react with 1O2 and

•CO3
− at rates that are over an order of

magnitude faster than their protonated forms.20,52

Direct photolysis rates were also affected by pH due to changes
in molar absorption coefficients or quantum yields of different
forms of the compounds.53 For example, the rate of direct
photolysis of NDMAwas predicted to decrease by approximately
75% between pH 7 and 10 (Figure 4) due to the effect of
protonation of an excited photointermediate on the reaction
quantum yield.42 For NDMA, this effect translated to more than
doubling A90

1 as pH increased from 8 to 10.
Effect of Season on Treatment Efficiency. Seasonal variations

in solar intensity should also affect A90
1 . For all modeled

compounds, A90
1 values were predicted to increase by a factor of

3−4 between summer and winter conditions (Figure 5d).
Seasonal variation in treatment efficiency is a common challenge

for treatment wetlands. For example, microbial denitrification rates
slow significantly under cold winter conditions.54 In some
locations, the summertime period when open-water cells exhibit
their best performance will coincide with times of low flow in

Figure 5. Area predicted to provide 90% removal of contaminants from 1 MGD of wastewater effluent in open-water treatment wetlands (A90
1 ) under

varying: (a) depth; (b) [DOC]; (c) pH; and (d) season. If not varied, pH = 8; [DOC] = 8 mg L−1-C; [NO3
−] = 20 mg L−1-N; depth = 30 cm; [HCO3

−] +
[CO3

2−] = 60 mg L−1-C; solar intensity Z(24 h, λ) of June 21st under clear skies at 40°N latitude. Dashed lines show the area per MGD of existing full-scale
wetland systems and the typical size of wetlands designed for nitrate removal.

Environmental Science & Technology Article

dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXXG

Agenda Item G-1



receiving waters.55 The design of open-water unit process cells will
need to account for seasonal variations in dilution and conditions
in these receiving waters.
Comparison of Photolysis Cells and ExistingWetlands.

To gain insight into the feasibility of building open-water unit
process cells, it is useful to compare predicted A90

1 values for
photolysis with the areas occupied by existing wetlands designed
to remove nutrients or to provide wildlife habitat (dashed lines in
Figure 5). The Prado wetlands in Orange County, California
occupy approximately 200 ha. They currently receive up to 65
MGD of water from the effluent-dominated Santa Ana River,
yielding a footprint of about 3 ha MGD−1.56 The Easterly
Wetlands, located near Orlando, Florida, receive approximately
20 MGD of wastewater effluent in 475 ha, yielding a footprint of
about 22 ha MGD−1.57 Wetland footprints of between 6 and 14
ha MGD−1 have been recommended for the removal of nitrate in
surface flow constructed wetlands.58

Comparison of predicted values of A90
1 with areas of existing

full-scale wetlands suggests that open-water cells can provide
efficient year-round treatment of photolabile compounds, such
as NDMA and propranolol. During spring and summer, the cells
would also provide substantial removal of less reactive
compounds, such as 17β-estradiol and sulfamethoxazole. The
least photoreactive compounds, such as carbamazepine and
atenolol, would only be removed to a significant extent through
photolysis in relatively large photolysis wetlands during summer
months. In practice, A90

1 values may be considerably lower
because microbes at the sediment−water interface will remove
contaminants by biotransformation.49

Application to Wetland Design. The model described
above may also be used to assess the role of photolysis in
wetlands that were built without open-water zones designed to
enhance photolysis, which is elaborated on in the SI. Ideally,
however, open-water unit process cells will be designed as part of
a unit process wetland with different types of wetland cells
combined in series to maximize treatment efficiency and
reliability.10 Due to the effect of NO3

− on the production of
•OH and •CO3

−, an open-water cell would likely be most
effective for removal of trace organic contaminants as the first
process in the treatment wetland. However, additional research is
needed to determine if wetland-derived dissolved organic carbon
is more photoreactive than wastewater-derived dissolved organic
carbon, which could result in increased photolysis rates for
certain compounds in open-water unit process cells situated
downstream of vegetated wetland cells.59

It is also important to note that most trace organic
contaminants will be transformed, and not mineralized, in
photolysis wetlands. Although many photoproducts will lack the
specificity of their parent compounds with respect to biological
receptors, further research is needed to determine if additional
risks are posed by photoproducts. It is also possible that
photoproducts produced are more amenable to biotransforma-
tion in subsequent unit process cells than their parent
compounds.

■ ASSOCIATED CONTENT
*S Supporting Information
Details of photolysis model calculations, methods for probe and
test compound analysis, wetland conditions, details of the
calculation of A90

1 , and application of model to existing wetlands,
in addition to supporting tables and figures referenced in this
work. This information is available free of charge via the Internet
at http://pubs.acs.org.

■ AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author
*E-mail: sedlak@berkeley.edu.

Notes
The authors declare no competing financial interest.

■ ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the National Science Foundation
(NSF) through NSF grant CBET-0853512, the Engineering
Research Center for Reinventing the Nation’s Water Infra-
structure (ReNUWIt) EEC-1028968, and a NSF Graduate
Research Fellowship. We thank Virgil Koehne, manager of the
Town of Discovery Bay, CA, and Alex Horne for their help
managing the Discovery Bay treatment wetlands.

■ REFERENCES
(1) Ternes, T. A.; Joss, A.; Siegrist, H. Peer reviewed: Scrutinizing
pharmaceuticals and personal care products in wastewater treatment.
Environ. Sci. Technol. 2004, 38 (20), 392A−399A.
(2) Heberer, T. Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical
residues in the aquatic environment: A review of recent research data.
Toxicol. Lett. 2002, 131 (1−2), 5−17.
(3) Purdom, C. E.; Hardiman, P. A.; Bye, V. V. J.; Eno, N. C.; Tyler, C.
R.; Sumpter, J. P. Estrogenic effects of effluents from sewage treatment
works. Chem. Ecol. 1994, 8 (4), 275−285.
(4) Triebskorn, R.; Casper, H.; Scheil, V.; Schwaiger, J. Ultrastructural
effects of pharmaceuticals (carbamazepine, clofibric acid, metoprolol,
diclofenac) in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and common carp
(Cyprinus carpio). Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 2007, 387 (4), 1405−1416.
(5) Snyder, S. A.; Westerhoff, P.; Yoon, Y.; Sedlak, D. L.
Pharmaceuticals, personal care products, and endocrine disruptors in
water: Implications for the water industry. Environ. Eng. Sci. 2003, 20
(5), 449−469.
(6) National Research Council. Water Reuse: Potential for Expanding
the Nation’s Water Supply Through Reuse of Municipal Wastewater; The
National Academies Press: Washington, DC, 2012. Available at: http://
www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=13303.
(7) Snyder, S. A.; Adham, S.; Redding, A.M.; Cannon, F. S.; DeCarolis,
J.; Oppenheimer, J.; Wert, E. C.; Yoon, Y. Role of membranes and
activated carbon in the removal of endocrine disruptors and
pharmaceuticals. Desalination 2007, 202 (1−3), 156−181.
(8) Huber, M. M.; Canonica, S.; Park, G-Y; Von Gunten, U. Oxidation
of pharmaceuticals during ozonation and advanced oxidation processes.
Environ. Sci. Technol. 2003, 37 (5), 1016−1024.
(9) Kadlec, R. H.; Wallace, S. Treatment Wetlands, 2nd ed.; CRC Press:
Boca Raton, FL, 2009.
(10) Jasper, J. T.; Nguyen, M. T.; Jones, Z. L.; Ismail, N. S.; Sedlak, D.
L.; Sharp, J. O.; Luthy, R. G.; Horne, A. J.; Nelson, K. L. Unit process
wetlands for treatment of municipal wastewater effluent. Environ. Engi.
Sci. 2013, in review.
(11) Matamoros, V.; García, J.; Bayona, J. M. Organic micropollutant
removal in a full-scale surface flow constructed wetland fed with
secondary effluent. Water Res. 2008, 42 (3), 653−660.
(12) Andreozzi, R.; Raffaele, M.; Nicklas, P. Pharmaceuticals in STP
effluents and their solar photodegradation in aquatic environment.
Chemosphere 2003, 50 (10), 1319−1330.
(13) Lin, AY-C; Reinhard, M. Photodegradation of common
environmental pharmaceuticals and estrogens in river water. Environ.
Toxicol. Chem. 2005, 24 (6), 1303−1309.
(14) Fono, L. J.; Kolodziej, E. P.; Sedlak, D. L. Attenuation of
wastewater-derived contaminants in an effluent-dominated river.
Environ. Sci. Technol. 2006, 40 (23), 7257−7262.
(15) Fleming-Singer, M. S.; Horne, A. J. Balancing wildlife needs and
nitrate removal in constructed wetlands: The case of the Irvine Ranch
Water District’s San Joaquin Wildlife Sanctuary. Ecol. Eng. 2006, 26 (2),
147−166.

Environmental Science & Technology Article

dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXXH

Agenda Item G-1

http://pubs.acs.org
mailto:sedlak@berkeley.edu
http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=13303
http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=13303


(16) Lightbody, A. F.; Nepf, H. M.; Bays, J. S. Mixing in deep zones
within constructed treatment wetlands. Ecol. Eng. 2007, 29 (2), 209−
220.
(17) Canonica, S.; Kohn, T.; Mac, M.; Real, F. J.; Wirz, J.; Von Gunten,
U. Photosensitizer method to determine rate constants for the reaction
of carbonate radical with organic compounds. Environ. Sci. Technol.
2005, 39 (23), 9182−9188.
(18) Buxton, G. V.; Greenstock, C. L.; Helman, W. P.; Ross, A. B.
Critical review of rate constants for reactions of hydrated electrons,
hydrogen atoms and hydroxyl radicals (·OH/·O-) in aqueous solutions.
J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data. 1988, 17 (2), 513−886.
(19) Huang, J.; Mabury, S. A. Steady-state concentrations of carbonate
radicals in field waters. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2000, 19 (9), 2181−
2188.
(20) Neta, P.; Huie, R. E.; Ross, A. B. Rate constants for reactions of
inorganic radicals in aqueous solution. J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data. 1988, 17
(3), 1027−1284.
(21) Dong, M. M.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Photochemical formation of
hydroxyl radical from effluent organic matter. Environ. Sci. Technol.
2012, 46 (7), 3788−3794.
(22) Packer, J. L.; Werner, J. J.; Latch, D. E.; McNeill, K.; Arnold, W. A.
Photochemical fate of pharmaceuticals in the environment: Naproxen,
diclofenac, clofibric acid, and ibuprofen. Aquat. Sci. 2003, 65 (4), 342−
351.
(23) Boreen, A. L.; Edhlund, B. L.; Cotner, J. B.; McNeill, K. Indirect
photodegradation of dissolved free amino acids: The contribution of
singlet oxygen and the differential reactivity of DOM from various
sources. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2008, 42 (15), 5492−5498.
(24) Ryan, C. C.; Tan, D. T.; Arnold, W. A. Direct and indirect
photolysis of sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim in wastewater
treatment plant effluent. Water Res. 2011, 45 (3), 1280−1286.
(25) Gueymard, C. A. SMARTS: Simple Model of the Atmospheric
Radiative Transfer of Sunshine. 2003. Available at http://www.nrel.gov/
rredc/smarts/.
(26) Schwarzenbach, R. P.; Gschwend, P. M.; Imboden, D. M.
Environmental Organic Chemistry, 2nd ed.; Wiley, 2003.
(27) Zepp, R. G.; Hoigne,́ J.; Bader, H. Nitrate-induced photooxidation
of trace organic chemicals in water. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1987, 21 (5),
443−450.
(28) Haag, W. R.; Hoigne,́ J. Singlet oxygen in surface waters. 3.
Photochemical formation and steady-state concentrations in various
types of waters. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1986, 20 (4), 341−348.
(29) Gerecke, A. C.; Canonica, S.; Müller, S. R.; Schar̈er, M.;
Schwarzenbach, R. P. Quantification of dissolved natural organic matter
(DOM) mediated phototransformation of phenylurea herbicides in
lakes. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2001, 35 (19), 3915−3923.
(30) American Public Health Association, American Water Works
Association, Water Environment Federation. Standard Methods for the
Examination of Water and Wastewater, 19th ed.; Washington, DC, 1995.
(31) Chen, S.; Hoffman, M. Z. Effect of pH on the reactivity of the
carbonate radical in aqueous solution. Radiat. Res. 1975, 62 (1), 18−27.
(32) Huang, J.; Mabury, S. A. A new method for measuring carbonate
radical reactivity toward pesticides. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2000, 19 (6),
1501−1507.
(33) Brezonik, P. L.; Fulkerson-Brekken, J. Nitrate-induced photolysis
in natural waters: Controls on concentrations of hydroxyl radical photo-
intermediates by natural scavenging agents. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1998,
32 (19), 3004−3010.
(34) Rosario-Ortiz, F. L.; Mezyk, S. P.; Doud, D. F. R.; Snyder, S. A.
Quantitative correlation of absolute hydroxyl radical rate constants with
non-isolated effluent organic matter bulk properties in water. Environ.
Sci. Technol. 2008, 42 (16), 5924−5930.
(35) Larson, R. A.; Zepp, R. G. Reactivity of the carbonate radical with
aniline derivatives. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 1988, 7 (4), 265−274.
(36) Dong, M. M.; Mezyk, S. P.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Reactivity of
effluent organic matter (EfOM) with hydroxyl radical as a function of
molecular weight. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2010, 44 (15), 5714−5720.

(37) Lam, M. W.; Mabury, S. A. Photodegradation of the
pharmaceuticals atorvastatin, carbamazepine, levofloxacin, and sulfame-
thoxazole in natural waters. Aquat. Sci. 2005, 67 (2), 177−188.
(38) Chen, Y.; Hu, C.; Hu, X.; Qu, J. Indirect photodegradation of
amine drugs in aqueous solution under simulated sunlight. Environ. Sci.
Technol. 2009, 43 (8), 2760−2765.
(39) Wang, L.; Xu, H.; Cooper, W. J.; Song, W. Photochemical fate of
beta-blockers in NOM enriched waters. Sci. Total Environ. 2012, 426,
289−295.
(40) Canonica, S.; Laubscher, H.-U. Inhibitory effect of dissolved
organic matter on triplet-induced oxidation of aquatic contaminants.
Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 2008, 7 (5), 547.
(41)Wenk, J.; VonGunten, U.; Canonica, S. Effect of dissolved organic
matter on the transformation of contaminants induced by excited triplet
states and the hydroxyl radical. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2011, 45 (4),
1334−1340.
(42) Lee, C.; Choi, W.; Yoon, J. UV photolytic mechanism of N-
nitrosodimethylamine in water: Roles of dissolved oxygen and solution
pH. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2005, 39 (24), 9702−9709.
(43) Sedlak, D. L.; Pinkston, K. E. Factors affecting the concentrations
of pharmaceuticals released to the aquatic environment. Water Res.
Update 2001, 55−64.
(44) Huggett, D.; Khan, I.; Foran, C.; Schlenk, D. Determination of
beta-adrenergic receptor blocking pharmaceuticals in United States
wastewater effluent. Environ. Pollut. 2003, 121 (2), 199−205.
(45) Huggett, D. B.; Brooks, B. W.; Peterson, B.; Foran, C. M.;
Schlenk, D. Toxicity of select beta adrenergic receptor-blocking
pharmaceuticals (β-blockers) on aquatic organisms. Arch. Environ.
Contam. Toxicol. 2002, 43 (2), 229−235.
(46) Mitch, W. A.; Sharp, J. O.; Trussell, R. R.; Valentine, R. L.;
Alvarez-Cohen, L.; Sedlak, D. L. N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) as a
drinking water contaminant: A review. Environ. Eng. Sci. 2003, 20 (5),
389−404.
(47) Kadlec, R. H. Comparison of free water and horizontal subsurface
treatment wetlands. Ecol. Eng. 2009, 35 (2), 159−174.
(48) EPA. Constructed Wetlands Treatment of Municipal Wastewaters;
2000. Available at http://www.epa.gov/owow/wetlands/pdf/Design_
Manual2000.pdf.
(49) Jasper, J. T.; Sedlak, D. L. Biotransformation of wastewater-
derived trace organic contaminants in a periphyton-dominated wetland.
In preparation.
(50) Pocernich, M.; Litke, D. W. Nutrient concentrations in
wastewater treatment plant effluents, South Platte River basin. J. Am.
Water Res. Assoc. 1997, 33 (1), 205−214.
(51) Leech, D. M.; Snyder, M. T.; Wetzel, R. G. Natural organic matter
and sunlight accelerate the degradation of 17ß-estradiol in water. Sci.
Total Environ. 2009, 407 (6), 2087−2092.
(52) Tratnyek, P. G.; Hoigne,́ J. Oxidation of substituted phenols in the
environment: AQSAR analysis of rate constants for reaction with singlet
oxygen. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1991, 25 (9), 1596−1604.
(53) Boreen, A. L.; Arnold, W. A.; McNeill, K. Photochemical fate of
sulfa drugs in the aquatic environment: Sulfa drugs containing five-
membered heterocyclic groups. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2004, 38 (14),
3933−3940.
(54) Bachand, P. A.M.; Horne, A. J. Denitrification in constructed free-
water surface wetlands: II. Effects of vegetation and temperature. Ecol.
Eng. 2000, 14 (1−2), 17−32.
(55) Loraine, G. A.; Pettigrove, M. E. Seasonal variations in
concentrations of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in
drinking water and reclaimed wastewater in Southern California.
Environ. Sci. Technol. 2005, 40 (3), 687−695.
(56) Orange County Water District. Prado Wetlands. 2008. Available
at: http://www.ocwd.com/Prado-Wetlands/ca-28.aspx. Accessed July
9, 2012.
(57) Florida Department of Environmental Protection. Orlando
Easterly Wetlands. Available at http://www.dep.state.fl.us/water/
wastewater/dom/oreastwet.htm. Accessed July 9, 2012.

Environmental Science & Technology Article

dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXXI

Agenda Item G-1

http://www.nrel.gov/rredc/smarts/
http://www.nrel.gov/rredc/smarts/
http://www.epa.gov/owow/wetlands/pdf/Design_Manual2000.pdf
http://www.epa.gov/owow/wetlands/pdf/Design_Manual2000.pdf
http://www.ocwd.com/Prado-Wetlands/ca-28.aspx
http://www.dep.state.fl.us/water/wastewater/dom/oreastwet.htm
http://www.dep.state.fl.us/water/wastewater/dom/oreastwet.htm


(58) Horne, A. J. Nitrogen removal from waste treatment pond or
activated sludge plant effluents with free-surface wetlands. Water Sci.
Technol. 1995, 31 (12), 341−351.
(59) Pinney, M. L.; Westerhoff, P. K.; Baker, L. Transformations in
dissolved organic carbon through constructed wetlands. Water Res.
2000, 34 (6), 1897−1911.
(60) Shiga, T.; Fujimura, A.; Tateishi, T.; Ohashi, K.; Ebihara, A.
Differences of chronopharmacokinetic profiles between propranolol
and atenolol in hypertensive subjects. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 1993, 33 (8),
756−761.
(61) Yamamoto, H.; Nakamura, Y.; Moriguchi, S.; Nakamura, Y.;
Honda, Y.; Tamura, I.; Hirata, Y.; Hayashi, A.; Sekizawa, J. Persistence
and partitioning of eight selected pharmaceuticals in the aquatic
environment: Laboratory photolysis, biodegradation, and sorption
experiments. Water Res. 2009, 43 (2), 351−362.
(62) Song, W.; Cooper, W. J.; Mezyk, S. P.; Greaves, J.; Peake, B. M.
Free radical destruction of β-blockers in aqueous solution. Environ. Sci.
Technol. 2008, 42 (4), 1256−1261.
(63) Benner, J.; Salhi, E.; Ternes, T.; Von Gunten, U. Ozonation of
reverse osmosis concentrate: Kinetics and efficiency of beta blocker
oxidation. Water Res. 2008, 42 (12), 3003−3012.
(64) Ziegmann, M.; Frimmel, F. H. Photocatalytic degradation of
clofibric acid, carbamazepine and iomeprol using conglomerated TiO2
and activated carbon in aqueous suspension. Water Sci. Technol. 2010,
61 (1), 273−281.
(65) De Laat, J.; Maouala-Makata, P.; Dore, M. Rate constants for
reactions of ozone and hydroxyl radicals with several phenyl-ureas and
acetamides. Environ. Technol. 1996, 17 (7), 707−716.
(66) Latch, D. E.; Stender, B. L.; Packer, J. L.; Arnold, W. A.; McNeill,
K. Photochemical fate of pharmaceuticals in the environment:
Cimetidine and ranitidine. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2003, 37 (15), 3342−
3350.

Environmental Science & Technology Article

dx.doi.org/10.1021/es304334w | Environ. Sci. Technol. XXXX, XXX, XXX−XXXJ

Agenda Item G-1



Agenda Item G-1



Agenda Item G-1



Agenda Item G-1



Agenda Item G-1



Agenda Item G-1



Agenda Item G-1



Agenda Item G-1



Agenda Item G-1



Town of Discovery Bay
“A Community Services District”

AGENDA REPORT

Meeting Date

July 3, 2013

Prepared By: Fairin Perez, Parks & Landscape Manager
Submitted By: Rick Howard, General Manager

Agenda Title

Award of Contract to Vintage Contractors for the Cornell Park Pickle Ball Conversion project

Recommended Action

That the Board: (1) Award contract to Vintage Contractors in the amount of $24,820,00 for the Cornell Pickle Ball Conversion project; and
(2) authorize the General Manager to execute all contract documents.

Executive Summary

The Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District (District) Board of Directors (Board) approved the Cornell Park Pickle Ball
Conversion Project on the Discovery Bay Lighting and Landscape Zone 8 2013/2014 Operating and Capital Budget on June 19, 2013.

This Project will convert one (1) existing Tennis Court into (2) new pickle ball courts at Cornell Park. New fencing, posts, nets and
resurfacing are included in the project costs.

Bid Analysis:

The Bid Proposal was requested June 18, 2013 from Vintage Contractors. This project was not publically bid for the following reasons:
1) Vintage Contractors resurfaced existing courts and repainted/repaired fencing at the Cornell Park Tennis Courts in Spring of 2012; 2)
Vintage Contractors is the sole certified installer of the Plexi-pave Surfacing for our area; and 3) Awarding contract to Vintage
Contractors maintains warranties for original resurfacing from prior work and ensures warranties for the conversion.

No. Contractor Address Bid Amount

1
Vintage Contractors 2367 Ocean Avenue

San Francisco, CA 94127
$24,820.00

The contract may begin as soon as materials are received by the Contractor. Contractor has agreed to attempt to complete work prior to
the first planned Pickle Ball tournament on July 27, 2013.

Environmental Review:

The California Environmental Quality Act (Section 21000, et seq. of the California Public Resources Code, hereafter CEQA) requires
analysis of agency approvals of discretionary projects. A “project,” under CEQA, is defined as “the whole of an action, which has a
potential for resulting in either a direct physical change in the environment, or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the
environment.” The proposed project is a project under CEQA.

Staff previously reviewed the proposed project and found that the project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines
Section 15304 (Minor Alterations). On November 7, 2012 the Board authorized the filing a Notice of Exemption for the Cornell Park
Pickle Ball Courts; which was then delivered and filed with the Contra Costa County Recorder’s Office.

Financial Review:

All project costs have been budgeted within the Fiscal Year 2012-13 Discovery Bay Landscape and Lighting Zone 8 Operating and
Capital Budget; Approved Project Budget: $32,500.00. Sufficient funds are available for the construction contract of $24,820.00, as well
as contingency to accommodate potential change orders up to $7,680.00; for a total construction budget of $32,500.00.

Fiscal Impact:
Amount Requested $32,500.00 (Includes $7,680.00 Contingency)
Sufficient Budgeted Funds Available?: Yes

Proj/Fund # Zone # 8 Category: Capital 4834

Previous Relevant Board Actions for This Item

June 19, 2013 – Adoption of Discovery Bay Lighting and Landscape Zone 8 2013/2014 Operating and Capital Budget
November 7, 2012 – Approval of Notice of Exemption, Cornell Park Pickle Ball Courts

Attachments

Draft Contract to Vintage Contractors for the Cornell Park Pickle Ball Court Conversion, Vintage Contractors Proposal

AGENDA ITEM: G-2

Cinderella
Stamp



 

 

 

  
 
 

CONTRACT  

FOR 

 

CORNELL PARK PICKLE BALL CONVERSION 

 

This CONTRACT is made and entered into this 5
th
 day of July, 2013, by and between the Town of 

Discovery Bay Community Services District (hereinafter “Owner”) whose address is 1800 Willow Lake 

Road Discovery Bay, CA 94505 and Vintage Contractors (hereinafter “Contractor”). 

 

W I T N E S S E T H  

 

That the Owner has awarded to the Contractor, upon his Bid duly submitted in the amount of $24.830.00, 

the Contract for doing the work and furnishing the materials and equipment for the work (hereinafter 

“Work”) described in the Contract Documents bound herewith on the terms stated as follows: 

 

1.   Contractor Agrees: 

a.  To do all the Work and furnish all the labor, material, equipment and appliances to complete 

the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.  See attached “Exhibit A” 

 

b.  To do and perform said Work diligently as directed by the Owner until completion is 

evidenced by written acceptance by the Owner. 

 

c.  To start said Work within five (5) working days after receipt of Notice to Proceed and 

Completion of all work in 20 working days, which are part of “Exhibit A” from date 

established by the Notice to Proceed.  A working day shall be defined in accordance with the 

provision of Section 8 of the California Standard Specifications. 

 

d. To remedy, at his expense, any defects in the Work, which shall appear within a period of 

twelve (12) months from the date of the final acceptance of the Work. 

 

e. To do and perform the Work contemplated hereby and furnish all labor, material, appliances, 

equipment, tools and pay all taxes therefore, at the bid price specified in the Bid form 

submitted by the Contractor, a conformed copy of which is attached and made a part of the 

Contract. 

 

f. To maintain during the life of the Contract, Workers’ Compensation, Public Liability and 

Property Damage Insurance as provided in the General Conditions.  Certificates of such 

insurance shall be delivered to the Owner.  The Contractor must comply with Labor Code 

§3700. 

 

g. Should the Contractor fail to complete the Work included in the Contract within the time limit 

agreed upon or such extensions thereof as may be granted, a deduction of One Hundred dollars 

($100.00) per day will be made from amounts otherwise due the Contractor for each and every 

calendar day, or fraction thereof, that the work, or each stated portion, remains incomplete 

after the date set for its completion. 

 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 

 

President – Ray Tetreault • Vice-President – Mark Simon • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Chris Steele 
 

 

Agenda Item G-2



 

 

2. The Owner will cause payment to be made to the Contractor for the Contract prices provided 

herein in the following manner:  

 

a. On or about the tenth day of each month after the start of the Work, an amount equal to 

ninety percent (95%) of the value of all Work completed as of the 20
th
 day of the preceding 

month, based on quantities of Work completed, as determined by the Engineer at the unit 

prices stated, less the aggregate of all previous payments made to the Contractor. 

 

b. Thirty-five (35) days after completion of the Contract and its acceptance by the Owner, the 

balance of the Contract price will be paid.  Such final payment will not be made until 

completion of the entire Work and acceptance of the whole by the Owner. 

 

c. Contractor may substitute securities in lieu of retained funds in accordance with Public 

Contracts Code Section 22300. 

 

3. It is further agreed by the parties that before each payment is made as provided above, receipts 

and releases of liens of all kinds for all labor and materials and all other indebtedness 

connected with the Work shall be presented to the Owner by the Contractor upon the request of 

the Owner. 

 

4. It is expressly understood and agreed that a waiver of any of the conditions or covenants of this 

Contract shall not be considered a waiver of any of the provisions hereof 

5. Contractor shall comply with all Federal, State and local laws and ordinances applicable to the 

work.  This includes compliance with prevailing wage rates and their payment in accordance 

with California Labor Code, Section 1775. 

 

  5A. A determination of the general prevailing rate of per diem wages and holiday and 

overtime work where the work is to be performed is available for review upon request at the 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD offices.  Contractor and subcontractors will not pay less than the 

prevailing rates of wages.  Contractor will post on copy of the prevailing rates of wage at the 

job site. Contractor shall forfeit as penalty the sum of up to fifty dollars ($50.00) for each 

calendar day or portion thereof, and for each worker paid less than the prevailing rates under 

this contract.  Travel and subsistence payments shall be paid to each worker as defined in the 

applicable collective bargaining agreements filed with the Department of Industrial Relations 

for the particular craft, classification or type of work. 

 

  5B. Eight (8) hours labor constitutes a legal day’s work.  Workers shall be paid at a rate 

of one and on-half times the basic rate of pay for work in excess of eight (8) hours during a 

calendar day or forty hours during a calendar week of the foregoing hours.  Contractor shall 

keep and make available an accurate record showing the name of each worker and hours 

worked each day and each week by each worker.  As a penalty to the Town of Discovery Bay 

CSD, Contractor shall forfeit twenty-five dollars ($25.00) for each worker, including 

subcontractors’ workers, for each calendar day during which the worker is required or 

permitted to work more than eight (8) hours in any one calendar day and forty (40) hours in 

any one calendar week in violation of Labor Code Sections 1810 through 1815. 

  

  5C. Pursuant to California Labor Code Section 1776, Contractor and each Subcontractor 

shall keep accurate records, showing the name, address, social security number, work 

classification, straight time and overtime hours worked each day and week, and the actual per 

diem wages paid to each journeyman, apprentice, worker, or other employee employed by him 

or her in connection with the work.  Each payroll record shall contain or be verified by a 

written declaration that it is made under penalty of perjury, stating both of the following:  The 

information contained in the payroll record is true and correct.  The employer has complied 

with the requirements of Labor Code Section 1771, 1811, and 1815 for any work performed by 

his or her employees on the public work project.  A certified copy of all payroll records shall be 

Agenda Item G-2



 

 

made available for inspection or furnished upon request to the Town of Discovery Bay CSD, 

the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, and the Division of Apprenticeship Standards of 

the Department of Industrial Relations.  A certified copy of all payroll records shall be made 

available upon request by the public for inspection or for copies thereof. However, a request by 

the public shall be made through the Town of Discovery Bay CSD, the Division of 

Apprenticeship Standards, or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement.  If the requested 

payroll records have not been provided pursuant to Labor Code Section 1776 (b)(2), the 

requesting party shall, prior to being provided the records, reimburse the costs of preparation as 

provided in Title 13 California Code of Regulations Section 16402 by the Contractor, 

subcontractors, and the entity through which the request was made.  The public shall not be 

give access to the records at the principal office of the Contractor.  The certified payroll records 

shall be on forms provided by the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement or shall contain 

the same information as provided by the division.  The Contractor or subcontractor shall file a 

certified copy of the records enumerated with the entity that requested the records within ten 

(10) days after receipt of a written request. 

 

  5D. Any copy of records made available for inspection as copies and furnished upon 

request to the public or any public agency by the Town of Discovery Bay CSD, the Division of 

Apprenticeship Standards, or the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement shall be marked or 

obliterated in such a manner as to prevent disclosure of an individual’s name, address, and 

social security number as provided in Labor Code Section 1776.  The name and address of the 

Contractor awarded the contract or the subcontractor performing the contract shall not be 

marked or obliterated.  The Contractor shall inform the Town of Discovery Bay CSD of the 

location of the records enumerated under paragraph (1.3) including the street address, city and 

county, and shall within five (5) working days, provide a notice of change of location and 

address.   The Contractor or Subcontractor shall have ten (10) days in which to comply 

subsequent to receipt of written notice requesting the records.  In the event that the Contractor 

or Subcontractor fails to comply within the 10-day period, her or she shall, as a penalty to the 

Town of Discovery Bay CSD, forfeit twenty-five dollars ($25.00) for each calendar day, or 

portion thereof, for each worker until strict compliance is effectuated.  Upon the request of the 

Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, these penalties shall be withheld from progress 

payments then due.  The Contractor is not subject to a penalty assessment pursuant to this 

section due to the failure of a subcontractor to comply with this section.  
   

6. It is mutually agreed and understood that the complete Contract shall consist of this Contract, 

and the following component documents, all of which are fully a part hereof as if herein set out 

in full, or if not attached, as if attached, and which together constitute the Contract Documents: 

 

 Accepted Proposal (Attached) 

  

7. The provisions of California Labor Code Sections 1777.5 and 1777.6 shall apply to the 

employment of apprentices by Contractor or any subcontractor under him. 

 

8. If the total bid amount as set forth in the Bid is in excess of $25,000, then Contractor shall 

provide a Faithful Performance Bond and a Labor and Materials Bond, in the sum of 100% of 

the contract price; the Faithful Performance Bond will be retained by the Town of Discovery 

Bay for twelve months following final acceptance by the Town of Discovery Bay of the 

improvements constructed to guarantee correction of failures attributable to workmanship and 

materials.   

 

9. All provisions of the California Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1973 (CALOSHA), as 

amended, shall be adhered to. 

 

10. The statutory provisions for penalties for failing to comply with the State of California wage 

and labor laws will be enforced, as well as that for failing to pay prevailing wages. 

 

Agenda Item G-2



 

 

11. Eight hours labor constitutes a legal day’s work. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these presents to be executed in 

duplicate, on the day and year first above written. 

   

 

            TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 

            1800 Willow Lake Road 

            Discovery Bay, CA 94505 

 

            BY:_____________________________ 

  

            TITLE:__________________________ 

 

 

            CONTRACTOR: _________________________  

                 

            BY:____________________________ 

             

            TITLE:_________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                                                                               

Agenda Item G-2



PROPOSAL
VINTAGE CONTRACTORS, INC.

Contractors License 416130
2367 Ocean Avenue
San Francisco, CA 94127
(415) 282-1602
FAX (415) 282-1603 

North Bay (707) 253-1841
Monterey (831) 658-0225

Town of Discovery Bay
NAME

1800 Willow Lake Rd
STREET

Discovery Bay
CITY

CA
STATE

PROPOSAL SUBMITTED TO:

94505
ZIP

Fairin Perez
CONTACT

DATE

Cornell Park Courts (CONVERT TC TO PB) REV
JOB NAME

630 Willow Lake Rd
STREET

CITY STATE ZIP

Discovery Bay CA 94505

925 634 1733
PHONE

925.513.2705
CELL

We hereby submit specifications and estimates for:

We hereby propose to furnish labor and materials–complete in accordance with the above specifications, for the sum of:
Payment due upon receipt of invoice.

All material is guaranteed to be as specified. All work to be completed in a workmanlike manner according to standard practices. Any alteration or deviation from above specifications involving
extra costs, will be executed only upon written orders, and will become an extra charge over and above the estimate. All agreements contingent upon strikes, accidents or delays beyond our
control. Owner to carry fire, tornado and other necessary insurance.

Our workers are fully covered by Workmen's Compensation Insurance.   Note: This proosal may be withdrawn by us if not accepted within 30 days. 

In event legal action is instituted by either party hereto, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and costs.
Authorized Signature: 

Acceptance of Proposal
The above prices, specifications and conditions are satisfactory and are hereby accepted. You are authorized to do the work
as specified. Payment will be made as outlined above.

Accepted:

Date: Signature:

Signature:

June 25, 2013

FAX

 INSERT COLOR SELECTION____________________________

Tony Edwards

CONVERT ONE TENNIS COURT TO PICKLE BALL COURTS (REVISED)

PROCEDURE:
1. Layout two pickle ball courts back to back overf existing tennis court. Remove tennis net posts
       and cap sleeves.
2. Furnish and install sleeves and posts for two pickle ball courts (Do-it tennis 241)...  $4,380.00
3. Fencing: 118lf tapered divider fence between tennis court and pickle ball courts with two swing gates... $7,790.00
4.    Fencing: Furnish and install 3’ tall divider fence between pickle ball courts with walkthrough opening... $3,350.00
5.     Install gate in existing tennis court fence to access tennis court from corner... $1,060.00
6.    Apply Plexipave athletic surfacing over existing tennis court, two tone blue/green. 
7. Apply white playing lines for two pickle ball courts and hang nets... $8,240.00

JOB TOTAL: $24,820.00

NOTES: Assumes existing tolerance of +/- 1/8” within 10’ straight edge; with 1% slope all in one direction; our material will follow
contours of substrate.

VINTAGE IS NON UNION PAYING PREVAILING WAGES

Agenda Item G-2



No Back Up
Documentation

For Agenda Item # H



No Back Up
Documentation

For Agenda Item # I



Town of Discovery Bay
“A Community Services District”

AGENDA REPORT

Meeting Date

July 3, 2013

Prepared By: Rick Howard, General Manager
Submitted By: Rick Howard, General Manager

Agenda Title

Town of Discovery Bay “DRAFT” Employee Personnel Manual

Recommended Action

As Necessary

Executive Summary

The Town of Discovery Bay Community Services District employs fourteen individuals that perform a variety of job
functions in diverse job classifications.

The District has never officially adopted an Employee Personnel Manual; following instead a draft document that had
never been finalized. As the District has grown and as laws and regulations have changed, the need to formally adopt an
Employee Personnel Manual is apparent.

Staff has spent a considerable amount of time preparing the DRAFT Employee Personnel Manual (attached) and
conferring with legal staff on its contents. The DRAFT Employee Personnel Manual is consistent with existing practices of
the District.

At this time, the Policy is in draft form, and staff is looking for input and feedback. The item will be scheduled for adoption
in August, 2013.

Fiscal Impact:

Amount Requested $ N/A
Sufficient Budgeted Funds Available?: (If no, see attached fiscal analysis)
Prog/Fund # Category: Pers. Optg. Cap. -or- CIP# Fund#

Previous Relevant Board Actions for This Item

N/A

Attachments

DRAFT Personnel Manual

AGENDA ITEM: J-1

Cinderella
Stamp



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

i 
777841-4777841-4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
 

A California Community Services District 
 

PERSONNEL MANUAL 
  

Agenda Item J-1



 

 
777841-4 

ARTICLE 1 
INTRODUCTION 

Section 1.1.  Personnel Manual .................................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.2.  Manual Revisions ..................................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.3.  Manual Acknowledgement ...................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.4.  Town of Discovery Bay ............................................................................................................. 1 
Section 1.5.  Equal Employment Opportunity .............................................................................................. 1 
Section 1.6.  Employment at Will .................................................................................................................. 2 
Section 1.7.  Policy Against Harassment. ...................................................................................................... 2 
Section 1.8.  Applicability .............................................................................................................................. 4 
 

ARTICLE 2 
EMPLOYMENT STATUS 

Section 2.1.  Employee Classifications .......................................................................................................... 4 
 

ARTICLE 3 
HOLIDAYS, VACATION, LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

Section 3.1.  Holidays .................................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 3.2.  Vacation Policy ......................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.3.  Sick Leave ................................................................................................................................. 6 
Section 3.4.  Leaves of Absence. ................................................................................................................... 7 
Section 3.5.  Employment During Leave of Absence .................................................................................. 18 
 

ARTICLE 4 
HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, AND PAY DAY 

Section 4.1.  Hours of Work ........................................................................................................................ 18 
Section 4.2.  Meal and Rest Periods. ........................................................................................................... 18 
Section 4.3.  Overtime Pay. ......................................................................................................................... 18 
Section 4.4.  Other Types of Pay. ................................................................................................................ 19 
Section 4.5.  Place and Time for Payment of Wages. ................................................................................. 20 
 

ARTICLE 5 
RULES OF CONDUCT 

Section 5.1.  Open Door .............................................................................................................................. 20 
Section 5.2.  Termination, Discipline, and Rules of Conduct. ..................................................................... 20 
Section 5.3.  Exit Interview .......................................................................................................................... 22 
Section 5.4.  Employment at Will ................................................................................................................ 22 
 

ARTICLE 6 
WORK REGULATIONS 

Section 6.1.  Personnel Records. ................................................................................................................. 23 
Section 6.2.  Personal Telephone Calls ....................................................................................................... 23 
Section 6.3.  Smoking .................................................................................................................................. 23 
Section 6.4.  Dress and Grooming Standards .............................................................................................. 23 
Section 6.5.  Employment of Relatives ....................................................................................................... 23 
Section 6.6.  Conflicts of Interest ................................................................................................................ 24 
 

ARTICLE 7 
DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE 

Section 7.1.  Purpose of Guideline .............................................................................................................. 25 
Section 7.2.  Definitions .............................................................................................................................. 25 
Section 7.3.  Prohibited Conduct. ............................................................................................................... 26 

Agenda Item J-1



 

 
777841-4 

Section 7.4.  Disciplinary Action. ................................................................................................................. 27 
Section 7.5.  Management Awareness ....................................................................................................... 27 
Section 7.6.  Use of Legal Drugs .................................................................................................................. 28 
Section 7.7.  Unregulated or Authorized Conduct. ..................................................................................... 28 
Section 7.8.  Confidentiality ........................................................................................................................ 28 
Section 7.9.  Drug Testing for Safety-Sensitive Positions ............................................................................ 28 
 

ARTICLE 8 
TECHNOLOGY 

Section 8.1.  Voice-Mail, E-Mails and Technology Policy ............................................................................ 28 
Section 8.2.  Technology Resources Definition ........................................................................................... 29 
Section 8.3.  Authorization .......................................................................................................................... 29 
Section 8.4.  Use .......................................................................................................................................... 29 
Section 8.5.  Improper Use. ........................................................................................................................ 29 
Section 8.6.  Town Access To Technology Resources ................................................................................. 30 
Section 8.7.  The Internet And On-Line Services ......................................................................................... 31 
Section 8.8.  Monitoring.............................................................................................................................. 31 
Section 8.9.  Confidential Information ........................................................................................................ 32 
Section 8.10.  Software Use / License Restrictions ..................................................................................... 32 
Section 8.11.  Software For Home Use ....................................................................................................... 32 
Section 8.12.  Security ................................................................................................................................. 32 
Section 8.13.  Remote Access To Technology Resources ........................................................................... 33 
Section 8.14.  Audits ................................................................................................................................... 33 
 

ARTICLE 9 
VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE 

Section 9.1.  Statement of Policy ................................................................................................................ 33 
Section 9.2.  Workplace Violence Defined .................................................................................................. 34 
Section 9.3.  Reporting ................................................................................................................................ 34 
Section 9.4.  Investigation ........................................................................................................................... 34 
Section 9.5.  Corrective Action and Discipline ............................................................................................ 34 
 

ARTICLE 10 
MOBILE DEVICE POLICY 

Section 10.1.  Mobile Device Policy ............................................................................................................ 35 
 

ARTICLE 11 
VEHICLE USAGE POLICY 

Section 11.1.  Vehicle Usage Policy ............................................................................................................. 35 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

1 
777841-4  

ARTICLE 1 
INTRODUCTION 

 

Section 1.1.  Personnel Manual 
This Manual is intended to help employees become better acquainted with the Town of Discovery Bay (“Town”).  
It describes, in general terms, many of the Town’s employment guidelines.  It is not intended to be an official 
policy and procedures manual, however, in the event this manual conflicts with a subsequent official adopted 
policy or administrative procedure, the adopted policy or administrative procedure shall override this document.   
 
The Town reserves the right to make changes to this Manual (see Manual Revisions, below).  Employees are 
responsible for knowing about and understanding those changes once they have been disseminated.  The Town 
also reserves the right to interpret the provisions of this Manual.  For this reason, employees should check with 
their supervisors to obtain information regarding specific employment guidelines, practices, policies, or 
procedures. 
 
Because employment at the Town is “at will” (see Guideline 2.03), employees should not interpret anything in this 
Manual as creating a contract or guarantee of continued employment.   
 

Section 1.2.  Manual Revisions 
The Town reserves the right to make changes to this Manual and to any employment policy, practice, work rule, 
or benefit, at any time without prior notice.  However, any such change is effective only if it is in writing, and is 
authorized by the Board of Directors.  Except as otherwise provided in this Manual, no one has the authority to 
make any promise or commitment contrary to what is in this Manual.  This Manual replaces all earlier Manuals 
and supersedes all prior policies, practices, and procedures.   
 

Section 1.3.  Manual Acknowledgement 
Employees should sign the acknowledgement form at the back of this Manual, tear it out, and return it to their 
supervisors.  This will provide the Town with a record that each employee has received this manual.   
 

Section 1.4.  Town of Discovery Bay 
The Town is a community services district, organized under the California Government Code, and the creation of 
which was approved by the voters in 1997.  It serves the residents of Discovery Bay, and is an independent special 
district.  It is, in fact, a local government, and has the powers specified by law.  It is governed by a Board of 
Directors (“Board”), consisting of five elected members.  Pursuant to its formation documents, it also carries out 
the functions of the former Discovery Bay Municipal Advisory Committee. 
 

Section 1.5.  Equal Employment Opportunity 
It is the Town’s policy to provide equal employment opportunity for all applicants and employees.  The Town does 
not unlawfully discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, or related 
medical conditions), gender identity, national origin, ancestry, citizenship, age, physical or mental disability, 
legally protected medical condition or information, genetic information, family care status, military caregiver 
status, veteran status, marital status, domestic partner status, sexual orientation, or any other basis protected by 
local, state, or federal laws.  When necessary, the Town also makes reasonable accommodations for disabled 
employees and for pregnant employees who request an accommodation, with the advice of their health care 
providers, for pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions.   
 
The Town prohibits sexual harassment and the harassment of any individual on any of the other bases listed 
above.  For information about the types of conduct that constitute impermissible harassment, the Town’s internal 
procedures for addressing complaints of harassment, the legal remedies available through and complaint 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

2 
777841-4  

procedures of the appropriate state and federal agencies and directions on how to contact these agencies, please 
refer to the Town’s Policy Against Harassment located at page 2 of this Manual.   
 
This policy applies to all areas of employment including recruitment, hiring, training, promotion, compensation, 
benefits, transfer, disciplinary action, and social and recreational programs.  It is the responsibility of every 
manager and employee to conscientiously follow this policy.  Any employee having any questions regarding this 
policy should discuss them with his or her immediate supervisor or the General Manager.   
 

Section 1.6.  Employment at Will 
All employment at the Town is “at-will.” This means that both employees and the Town have the right to 
terminate employment at any time, with or without advance notice, and with or without cause.  Employees also 
may be demoted or disciplined and the terms of their employment may be altered at any time, with or without 
cause, at the discretion of the Town.  No one other than a majority of the Board of Directors has the authority to 
alter this arrangement, to enter into an agreement for employment for a specified period of time, or to make any 
agreement contrary to this at-will status.  Any such agreement must be in writing and must be signed by the 
President of the Board and by the affected employee, and must express a clear and unambiguous intent to alter 
the at-will nature of the employment relationship. 
 

Section 1.7.  Policy Against Harassment 

A. Purpose of Policy 
The Town is committed to providing a workplace free of unlawful harassment.  This includes sexual harassment 
(which includes harassment based on gender, gender identity, pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical 
conditions), as well as harassment based on such factors as race, color, creed, religion, national origin, citizenship, 
ancestry, age, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, sexual 
orientation, domestic partner status, family care or medical leave status, veteran status, or any other basis 
protected by federal, state, or local laws.  The Town strongly disapproves of and will not tolerate harassment of 
employees by managers, supervisors, or co-workers.  Similarly, the Town will not tolerate harassment by its 
employees of non-employees with whom the Town employees have a business, service, or professional 
relationship.  The Town also will attempt to protect employees from harassment by non-employees in the 
workplace.   
 

B. Harassment Defined 
Harassment includes verbal, physical, and visual conduct that creates an intimidating, offensive, or hostile working 
environment or that interferes with an employee’s work performance.  Such conduct constitutes harassment 
when (1) submission to the conduct is made either an explicit or implicit condition of employment; (2) submission 
or rejection of the conduct is used as the basis for an employment decision; or (3) the harassment interferes with 
an employee’s work performance or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.   
 
Harassing conduct can take many forms and may include, but is not limited to, the following (when based upon an 
employee’s protected status as noted above: slurs, jokes, statements, gestures, assault, impeding or blocking 
another’s movement or otherwise physically interfering with normal work, pictures, drawings, or cartoons, 
violating someone’s “personal space,” foul or obscene language, leering, stalking, staring, unwanted or offensive 
letters or poems, offensive email or voicemail messages.   
 
Sexually harassing conduct in particular may include all of these prohibited actions, as well as other unwelcome 
conduct, such as requests for sexual favors, conversation containing sexual comments, and other unwelcome 
sexual advances.  Sexually harassing conduct can be by a person of either the same or opposite sex.   
 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

3 
777841-4  

C. Reporting And Investigating Harassing Conduct 
Any incidents of harassment, including work-related harassment by any Town personnel or any other person, 
should be reported immediately to the employee’s supervisor or to the General Manager.  Supervisors and 
managers who receive complaints or who observe harassing conduct should immediately inform the General 
Manager.  The Town emphasizes that an employee is not required to complain first to his or her supervisor if that 
supervisor is the individual who is harassing the employee.  If it is desired to make a complaint about the General 
Manager, the employee may report directly to the President of the Board.   
 
Every reported complaint of harassment will be investigated thoroughly and promptly.  The investigation will be 
handled in as confidential a manner as possible consistent with a full, fair, and proper investigation.   
 
In addition to notifying the Town about harassment or retaliation complaints, affected employees may also direct 
their complaints to the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing (“DFEH”), which has the authority 
to conduct investigations of the facts.  The deadline for filing complaints with the DFEH is one year from the date 
of the alleged unlawful conduct.  If the DFEH believes that a complaint is valid and settlement efforts fail, the 
DFEH may seek an administrative hearing before the California Fair Employment and Housing Commission 
(“FEHC”) or file a lawsuit in court.  Both the FEHC and the courts have the authority to award monetary and non-
monetary relief in meritorious cases.  Employees can contact the nearest DFEH office or the FEHC at the locations 
listed in the Town’s DFEH poster or by checking the State Government listings in the local telephone directory.   
 

D. Corrective Action 
The Town will not tolerate retaliation against any employee for making a good faith complaint of harassment or 
for cooperating in an investigation.  If harassment or retaliation is established, the Town will take corrective 
action.  Corrective action may include, for example: training, referral to counseling, or disciplinary action ranging 
from a verbal or written warning to termination of employment, depending on the circumstances.   
 

Section 1.8.  Applicability 
This Personnel Manual applies to all employees of Town, except where inconsistent with a written contract of 
employment approved by the Board. 
 

ARTICLE 2 
EMPLOYMENT STATUS 

 

Section 2.1.  Employee Classifications 
Employee classifications are as follows: 

A. Regular Full-Time Employees 
An employee who is regularly scheduled to work not less than thirty (30) hours per week for a period of indefinite 
duration is referred to as a regular full-time employee.  A regular full-time employee is eligible for the benefits 
described in this Manual. 

 

B. Regular Part-Time Employees 
An employee who is regularly scheduled to work less than thirty (30) hours per week for a period of indefinite 
duration is referred to as a regular part-time employee.  Regular part-time employees are eligible for benefits only 
as specifically described in this Manual. 

 

C. Part Time, Seasonal, and Temporary Employees 
Part Time, Seasonal, and Temporary Employees (“PST Employees”) are persons hired to work on special projects 
or assignments with the understanding that such work will be completed within a specified period of time.  When 
the need arises, the Town may hire employees for a temporary period or contact out, and may use a temporary 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

4 
777841-4  

staffing contract service or agency independent of the Town.  PST Employees do not become regular employees 
as a result of the passage of time.  PST Employees are not eligible for the benefits described in this Manual. 

 

D. Exempt/Non-Exempt Employees 
Exempt employees are those employees who are exempt from earning overtime compensation; non-exempt 
employees are those employees eligible for overtime compensation in accordance with the provisions of 
applicable wage and hour laws.  Overtime compensation requirements are set forth in the section of this Manual 
entitled “Hours of Work and Overtime”.  The employment positions of the General Manager, Finance Manager, 
Parks and Landscape Manager, and Water and Wastewater Manager are exempt.  Other positions may or may not 
be exempt, and the status of the employee in that position will be established at the time of hiring, depending on 
the duties and responsibilities of the position. 

 

E. Hiring Powers 
The General Manager and Legal Counsel are hired by and serve at the pleasure of the Board.  All other employees 
of the Town are hired by and serve at the pleasure of the General Manager, subject to this Manual and Board 
approval of the authorized position schedule.  The authorized position schedule is located within the Town’s 
annual budget. 
 

ARTICLE 3 
HOLIDAYS, VACATION, LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

 

Section 3.1.  Holidays.  The Town observes the following standard holidays: 
 

New Year’s Day 
Martin Luther King, Jr.  Day 

President’s Birthday 
Memorial Day 

Independence Day 
Labor Day 

Veterans Day 
Thanksgiving Day 

Friday Following Thanksgiving 
Christmas Eve 
Christmas Day 

Employee’s Birthday 
 

A. Eligibility 
Unless otherwise provided in this policy, all regular full-time employees will receive time off with pay at their 
normal base rate unless otherwise provided in this Manual.  Regular part-time employees receive holiday time off, 
with pay pro-rated according to the number of weekly hours they are scheduled to work.  PST Employees are not 
eligible for paid holiday benefits.  Moreover, all employees are ineligible for holiday benefits that while they are 
on leave of absence.   
 

B. Weekends and Vacations 
Holidays are to be taken on the day they occur.  Holidays (including an Employee’s Birthday holiday) which fall on 
Saturday will be observed the preceding Friday, and those which fall on Sunday will be observed the following 
Monday.  The use of the Birthday holiday must be approved in advance by the employee’s supervisor.  If an 
employee’s birthday falls on the day of an already recognized holiday set forth in this section, the Birthday holiday 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

5 
777841-4  

may be used on the day preceding or following the already recognized holiday at the discretion of the General 
Manager.  Holidays that occur during an eligible employee’s vacation will not be counted as vacation days taken.   
 

C. Pay In Lieu of Time Off 
The Town may, in its sole discretion, require some or all employees to work on Town-observed holidays, in which 
case the Town will provide pay in lieu of time off. 
 

Section 3.2.  Vacation Policy 
The Town provides vacation benefits to eligible employees to enable them to take paid time off for rest and 
recreation.  The Town believes this time is valuable for employees in order to enhance their productivity and to 
make their work experience with the Town personally satisfying. 
 

A. Vacation Accrual 
All regular full-time employees, whether exempt or nonexempt, are eligible to accrue vacation benefits based on 
their continuous service, measured from the date of hire.  All regular part-time employees are eligible to accrue 
vacation benefits on a pro rata basis, according to the number of weekly hours they are scheduled to work.  
“Continuous length of service” is defined as service that is uninterrupted by termination of employment and 
subsequent rehire by the Town or a break in service that has been bridged.  No vacation may be taken during the 
first year of service, unless otherwise permitted by the General Manager.  Vacation accrues according to the 
following schedule: 
 

 
Years of Continuous Service 

 
Vacation Accrual 
 

Date of hire through the first year 
 

5/12 of one day for each full month worked up to 
a maximum of 5 days (40 hours) per year. 

Second year through fifth year 
 

10/12 of one day for each full month worked up to 
a maximum of 10 days (80 hours) per year. 

Sixth year through tenth year 
 

15/12 of one day for each full month worked up to 
a maximum of 15 (120 hours) days per year. 

Eleventh year and thereafter 
 

20/12 of one day for each full month worked up to 
a maximum of 20 (160 hours) days per year. 

B. PST Employees.  PST employees do not accrue vacation benefits. 
 

C. Maximum Accrual 
Vacation accruals may not exceed 2 times an employee’s current annual entitlement (e.g., 40 days for an 
employee with more than ten years of service.  Once this maximum is reached, all further accruals of vacation will 
cease.  Vacation accruals will recommence after the employee has taken vacation and his or her accrued hours 
have dropped below the maximum. 
 

D. Pay in Lieu of Vacation 
No employee will receive pay in lieu of vacation except on the termination of his or her employment, as described 
in Paragraph F, below, unless the employee has deferred his or her vacation at the Town’s request. 
 

E. Vacation Accrual During Periods of Leaves of Absence 
Employees do not accrue vacation during an unpaid leave of absence.  Vacation accruals recommence when the 
employee returns to work from an unpaid leave of absence.  Employees will continue to accrue vacation during 
paid leaves of absence or while on disability salary continuation.   

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

6 
777841-4  

 

F. Vacation Pay on Termination 
On termination of employment, employees are paid all accrued but unused vacation through their last day 
worked at their base rate of pay at the time of termination. 
 

G. Vacation Approval 
All vacations must be approved in advance by the employee’s immediate supervisor. 
 

H. Vacation Scheduling 
Scheduling of vacations is to be done in a manner consistent with the Town’s operational requirements.  Vacation 
requests should be submitted by employees to their immediate supervisor for approval at least four (4) weeks 
prior to the commencement of a vacation period.  This requirement may be waived in writing at the discretion of 
the General Manager.  Vacation requests may be disapproved or rescheduled to accommodate the Town’s 
operational requirements. 
 

I. Vacation Advances 
An employee is not permitted to borrow on future accrual of vacation benefits.  If an employee has used any 
vacation days before they have been accrued and then leaves the employment of the Town, the overdrawn 
amount must be repaid to the Town.  
 

J. Holidays Occurring During Vacation 
If an observed Town holiday (see guideline entitled “Holidays”) occurs during an employee’s scheduled vacation, 
no deduction from accrued vacation will be made for the holiday.  An employee may add to his or her vacation 
period by using the holiday in place of accrued vacation time.   
 

Section 3.3.  Sick Leave 
In order to help prevent loss of earnings that may be caused by accident or illness, the Town has established paid 
sick leave. 
 

A. Eligibility 
All regular full-time employees are eligible for 3.693 hours of sick leave each pay period, or twelve (12) days per 
year.  Regular part-time are eligible to accrue sick leave on a pro-rata basis.  PST Employees are ineligible to earn 
or receive sick leave benefits. 
 

B. Use 
Sick leave may be taken for a personal illness, an emergency, a disability, or for a family care or medical leave as 
described in the Town’s “Leaves Of Absence” policy.  Eligible employees may also use sick leave to attend to an 
illness of a child, parent, spouse, domestic partner, stepparent, stepchildren, in-law, grandparent, or grandchild of 
the employee.  Additionally, hours missed for medical and dental appointments will be treated as sick leave.  Sick 
leave must be taken by eligible employees in increments of at least one hour.  The Town retains the right to 
request verification from a licensed health care provider for all absences due to illness or disability.  Sick pay may 
be withheld if the employee does not provide a satisfactory verification. 

 

C. Compensation For Sick Leave 
Eligible employees will receive pay at their normal base rate for any sick leave taken.  No employee will receive 
pay in lieu of sick leave under any circumstances, and employees will not be paid for any accrued but unused sick 
leave upon termination of employment. 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

7 
777841-4  

D. Accrual Of Sick Leave 
Regular full-time employees accrue 3.693 hours of sick leave per pay period and regular part-time employees 
accrue sick leave on a pro rata basis.  Eligible employees may carry over accrued but unused sick leave from one 
calendar year to the next.  However, sick leave may only be accumulated up to a total of 192 hours.  Employees 
will not accrue sick leave during any unpaid leave of absence. 
 

E. Approval 
Whenever possible (e.g., for a scheduled doctor’s or dentist’s appointment), employees must seek approval from 
their immediate supervisor prior to taking their sick leave.  Otherwise, the employees must notify their immediate 
supervisor as soon as practicable and, in no event, later than one hour after their scheduled starting time. 
 

F. Coordination of Sick Leave Benefits With Other Benefits 
The Town will pay sick-leave benefits to an eligible employee during the normal three-day waiting period before 
the employee is paid workers’ compensation benefits pursuant to the applicable state or federal law governing 
the industrial injury or illness.  Similarly, the Town will pay sick-leave benefits during the normal seven-day waiting 
period before the eligible employee is paid benefits from the State Disability Insurance (SDI) program or another 
insured unemployment disability plan.  Following the three-day and seven-day waiting periods specified above, an 
employee will continue to receive accrued sick pay, less the disability benefits actually received or the disability 
benefits that would have been received had the employee made timely application to the appropriate agency.   
 

Section 3.4.  Leaves of Absence 
 

A. Introduction 
The Town provides (1) family care, medical, and military family leave for up to 12 or 26 weeks per year, depending 
on the reason, see section II(D), in accordance with California’s Family Rights Act (“CFRA”) and the federal Family 
and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended (“FMLA”); (2) pregnancy leave for up to four months in accordance 
with the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA”); (3) disability leave as required to reasonably 
accommodate employees with a workplace injury or a qualified disability under the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (“ADA”) or the FEHA; and (4) leave for other legally required absences as set forth below.  Employees having 
any questions regarding this policy should contact the General Manager.   
 

B. Family Care, Medical and Military Family Leave   
 

(1) Eligibility 
To be eligible for family care, medical, and military family leave, an employee must (1) have worked for the Town 
for at least twelve months prior to the date on which the leave is to commence; and (2) have worked at least 
1,250 hours in the twelve (12) months preceding the leave.   
 
An employee returning from fulfilling his or her National Guard or Reserve military obligation will be credited with 
the hours of service that would have been performed but for the period of military service in determining the 
1,250 hours of service.   
 
In the case of a pregnancy disability or other legally protected disability or medical condition or work-related 
injury, an employee may not need to satisfy all of the above requirements.  In such circumstances, the employee 
should contact a Human Resources professional for clarification about his or her rights for other types of leave.   
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

8 
777841-4  

(2) Permissible Uses of Family Care, and Medical Military Leave 
“Family care and medical leave” may be requested for (1) the birth or adoption of an employee’s child; (2) the 
placement of a foster child with the employee; or (3) the serious health condition of an employee’s child, 
registered domestic partner, spouse, or parent; or (4) an employee’s own serious health condition.   
 
A serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either an 
overnight stay in a medical care facility, or continuing treatment by a health care provider for a condition that 
either prevents the employee from performing the functions of the employee’s job, or prevents the qualified 
family member from participating in school or other daily activities.   
 
Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement may be met by a period of incapacity of more 
than three consecutive calendar days combined with at least two visits to a health care provider or one visit and a 
regimen of continuing treatment, or incapacity due to pregnancy, or incapacity due to a chronic condition.  Other 
conditions may meet the definition of continuing treatment.   
 
“Military exigency leave” may be requested when there is a qualifying military exigency as defined by the U.S.  
Department of Labor arising out of the fact that an employee’s spouse, child, or parent is on active duty (or has 
been notified of an impending call or order to active duty) in the Armed Forces.  Qualifying military exigencies 
include the following:  
 

(a) Short-notice deployment where the employee may take leave to attend any issue that arises from the fact 
that a covered military member is notified of an impending call or order to active duty seven or less calendar days 
prior to the date of deployment.  Leave taken for this purpose can be used for a period of seven calendar days 
beginning on the date the covered servicemember receives the notification.   
 

(b) Military events and related activities where the employee may take leave to attend to any official 
ceremonies, programs or events related to the call to active duty and to attend to family support, assistance 
programs, or informational briefings related to the call to active duty.   
 

(c) Childcare and school activities where the employee may take leave to arrange for alternative childcare or 
to provide childcare on an urgent, immediate need basis when the need arises from the call to active duty, to 
enroll or transfer a child to a new school, to attend meetings with school or daycare facility staff regarding 
disciplinary measures, parent-teacher conferences, or meetings with school counselors.   
 

(d) Financial and legal arrangements where the employee may take leave to make or update financial or legal 
arrangements related to the covered servicemember’s absence, such as preparing powers of attorney, wills, 
transferring bank accounts, and the like, or appearing or acting on behalf of the absent servicemember in matters 
related to military benefits.   
 

(e) Counseling where the employee may take leave to attend counseling, the need for which arises from the 
call to active duty of the covered servicemember.   
 

(f) Rest and recuperation where the employee may take up to five days of leave to spend time with a 
covered servicemember each time the servicemember is on short-term rest and recuperation leave during the 
period of deployment.   
 

(g) Post-deployment activities where the employee may take leave for a period of up to 90 days following the 
termination of the deployment to attend arrival ceremonies, reintegration briefings and events, and other official 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

9 
777841-4  

ceremonies or programs provided by the military, or to address issues that arise out of the death of a covered 
servicemember.   
 

(h) Additional activities where the employee may take leave to address other events that arise out of the call 
to active duty as the Town and the employee may agree as to both timing and duration.   
 
“Military caregiver leave” may be requested to care for a covered servicemember if the employee is the covered 
servicemember’s spouse, child, parent, or next of kin.  For purposes of this leave, a covered servicemember is a 
current member of the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves who is undergoing 
medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary 
disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness, or a veteran who is undergoing medical treatment, 
recuperation, or therapy, for a serious injury or illness who was a member of the Armed Forces (including a 
member of the National Guard or Reserves) at any time during the five years preceding the date on which the 
veteran undergoes medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy.   
 

(3) Substitution of Paid Leave 
Employees are required to substitute accrued vacation time and other paid personal leave (except sick leave) for 
all family care, medical leaves, and military leaves.  Employees are required to substitute sick leave only for the 
employee’s own medical leaves.  Employees may elect to substitute sick leave to attend to an illness of a child, 
parent, spouse or domestic partner of the employee or for other types of family care leave.   
 

(4) Amount of Leave 

(a) Family Care, Medical, and Military Caregiver Leave 
Provided all the conditions of this policy are met, an employee may take a maximum of 12 weeks of family care, 
medical, and military exigency leave in a rolling 12-month period measured backwards from the date the 
employee’s leave commences.   
 
Employees who are unable to work due to pregnancy disability will be granted the greater of 12 weeks leave or 
the amount of leave to which the employee may be entitled under California state law for a pregnancy-related 
disability or in connection with childbirth.  See Section III of this Guide.  Family care leaves for the birth, adoption, 
or foster care placement of a child must be concluded within one year of the birth, adoption, or placement.   
 

(b) Military Caregiver Leave 
Provided all the conditions of this policy are met, an employee may take a maximum of 26 weeks of military 
caregiver leave in a single 12-month period, inclusive of the time the employee takes for a family care, medical, or 
military exigency leave during that period.  This 12-month period will be measured forward from the first day 
leave is taken.   
 
Spouses who are both employed by the Town may take a maximum combined total of 26 weeks in the 12-month 
period for the care of the servicemember and the birth, adoption, or foster care of their child or to care for an ill 
parent, provided that no more than 12 weeks of this combined 26-week period may be taken for reasons other 
than to care for the servicemember.   
 

(c) Intermittent Leave 
Medical leave for the employee’s own serious health condition, family care leave for the serious health condition 
of the employee’s spouse, parent, or child, and military caregiver leave may be taken intermittently or on a 
reduced schedule when medically necessary.  Where the intermittent or reduced schedule leave is for planned 
medical treatment, the employee must make an attempt to schedule the treatment so as not to disrupt unduly 
the Town’s operations.  Where the family care leave is to be taken in connection with the birth, adoption, or 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

10 
777841-4  

foster placement of a child, the minimum duration for each period of leave is two weeks, except that the 
employee may request leave of less than two weeks duration on any two occasions.  Military exigency leave also 
may be taken intermittently or on a reduced schedule.   

(5) Leave’s Effect on Pay 
Except to the extent that other paid leave is substituted for family care, medical, and military family leave, leave 
under the FMLA and the CFRA is unpaid.  However, employees may be entitled to California State Disability 
Insurance (“SDI”).  Employees also may be entitled to Paid Family Leave (“PFL”) for up to six (6) weeks in any 
twelve month period during leaves to care for qualifying family members.  PFL provides a partial wage 
replacement for absences from work to care for a seriously ill or injured family member or for bonding with a 
minor child within one year of the birth or placement of the child in connection with foster care or adoption.  
Employee contributions provide funding for this program.  PFL is administered like SDI by the California 
Employment Development Department.  PFL must be taken concurrently with family care leave and does not 
entitle an employee to take any additional time off.  In addition, an employee must use up to two weeks of any 
accrued but unused vacation before the employee will be eligible to receive PFL.   
 

(6) Leave’s Effect on Benefits 
During an employee’s family care, medical, and military family leave, the Town will continue to pay for the 
employee’s participation in the Town’s group health plans, if any, to the same extent and under the same terms 
and conditions as would apply had the employee not taken leave.  Thus, the employee must continue to pay his or 
her share of the health plan premiums during the leave.  If the employee substitutes paid leave for the unpaid 
leave, such payments will be deducted from the employee’s pay through the regular payroll deductions.  
Otherwise, the employee must make arrangements with the Town for the payment of such premiums.  All other 
benefits will be governed in accordance with the terms of each benefit plan and are the sole responsibility of the 
employee.   
 
If the employee fails to pay his or her share of the premiums during leave, or if the employee fails to return from 
the leave at the expiration of 12 weeks (or 26 weeks in the case of a military caregiver leave) for a reason other 
than the recurrence, continuation, or onset of a serious health condition for which leave under this policy is 
allowed or other circumstances beyond the employee’s control, the Town can recover any health plan premiums 
paid by the Town on the employee’s behalf during any periods of the leave.   
 
Employees on family care, medical, and military family leave accrue employment benefits such as sick leave, 
vacation benefits, or seniority only when paid leave is being substituted for unpaid leave and only if the employee 
would otherwise be entitled to such accrual.   
 
Use of FMLA leave will not result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to the start of an 
employee’s leave.   
 

(7) Procedure for Requesting Family Care, Medical, and Military Family Leave 

(a) Notice Requirements.  Employees must notify the Town of their request for family care, medical, military 
exigency, or military caregiver leave as soon as they are aware of the need for such leave.  For foreseeable family 
care, medical and military caregiver leave, the employee must provide 30 calendar days’ advance notice to the 
Town of the need for leave.  For events that are unforeseeable 30 days in advance, the employee must notify the 
Town as soon as is practicable and generally must comply with the Town’s normal call-in or notice procedures.  If 
the leave is requested in connection with a planned, non-emergency medical treatment, the employee must make 
an attempt to schedule such treatment so as to avoid unduly disrupting Town operations, and may be requested 
to reschedule the treatment so as to minimize disruption of the Town’s business.   
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

11 
777841-4  

If an employee fails to provide the requisite 30-day advance notice for foreseeable events without any reasonable 
excuse for the delay, the Town reserves the right to delay the taking of the leave until at least 30 days after the 
date the employee provides notice of the need for family care or medical leave.   
 
All requests for family care, medical, military exigency, and military caregiver leave should include enough 
information to make the Town aware that the employee needs qualifying leave, and the anticipated timing and 
duration of the leave, if known.  Sufficient information may include that the employee is unable to perform job 
functions; the family member is unable to perform daily activities, the need for hospitalization or continuing 
treatment by a health care provider, or circumstances supporting the need for military family leave.  Employees 
also must inform the Town if the requested leave is for a reason for which FMLA leave was previously taken or 
certified.   
 
Any requests for extensions of leave under this policy must be received as soon as is practicable and must include 
the revised anticipated date(s) and duration of the leave.  To the extent permitted by law, the Town reserves the 
right to deny requests for extensions or deny reinstatement to an employee who exceeds the leave amounts 
provided by this policy or fails to provide requested medical certification.  In addition, if you have a disability, you 
may be eligible for leave under the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) or state law.  For more detailed 
information on extended leaves, please contact the General Manager.   
 
Once the Town is aware of the employee’s need for leave, it will inform the employee whether he or she is eligible 
under the FMLA.  If the employee is eligible, the notice will specify any additional information required as well as 
the employees’ rights and responsibilities.  If the employee is not eligible, the Town will provide a reason for the 
ineligibility.   
 

(b) Certification 
Any request for medical leave for an employee’s own serious health condition, for family care leave to care for a 
child, spouse, domestic partner or parent with a serious health condition or for a serious injury, or for military 
caregiver leave must be supported by medical certification from a health care provider.  For military caregiver 
leave, the employee must provide confirmation of a family relationship to the seriously ill or injured 
servicemember.  Employees generally must provide the required certification within 15 calendar days after the 
Town’s request for certification.  For foreseeable leaves, employees must provide the required medical 
certification before the leave begins.  When this is not possible, employees must provide the required certification 
within 15 calendar days after the Town’s request for certification, unless it is not practicable under the 
circumstances to do so, despite the employee’s good faith efforts.   
 
The medical certification for a child, spouse, domestic partner or parent with a serious health condition or for the 
serious injury or illness of a qualifying service member must include (a) the date on which the serious health 
condition or serious injury or illness commenced; (b) the probable duration of the condition or injury or illness; (c) 
the health care provider’s estimate of the amount of time needed for family care; (d) the health care provider’s 
assurance that the health care condition or injury or illness warrants the participation of the employee to provide 
family care; and (e) in the case of intermittent or reduced schedule leave where medically necessary, the probable 
duration of such a schedule.   
The medical certification for leave for the employee’s own serious health condition must include (a) the date on 
which the serious health condition commenced; (b) the probable duration of the condition; (c) a statement that, 
due to the serious health condition, the employee is unable to perform the essential functions of his or her 
position; and (d) in the case of intermittent leave or reduced schedule leave where medically necessary, the 
probable duration of such a schedule.  In addition, the certification may, at the employee’s option, identify the 
nature of the serious health condition involved.   
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

12 
777841-4  

Failure to timely provide the required certification may result in the denial of foreseeable leave until such 
certification is provided.  In the case of unforeseeable leaves, failure to timely provide the required certification 
may result in a denial of the employee’s continued leave.  Where the employee’s need for leave due to the 
employee’s own serious health condition, or the serious health condition of the employee’s covered family 
member, lasts beyond a single leave year, the Town may require the employee to provide a new medical 
certification in each subsequent leave year.  Any request for an extension of the leave also must be supported by 
an updated medical certification.   
 
The Town has developed forms for use in obtaining medical certifications that satisfy the requirements of this 
policy.  For military caregiver leave, the Town will accept Invitational Travel Orders (“ITOs”) or Invitational Travel 
Authorizations (“ITAs”) in lieu of its medical certification form.   
 
It is the employee’s responsibility either to furnish a complete and sufficient certification or to furnish the health 
care provider providing the certification with any necessary authorization from the employee or the employee’s 
family member in order for the health care provider to release a complete and sufficient certification to the Town 
to support the employee’s leave request.   
 
Where permitted by law, if the Town has reason to doubt the validity of the medical certification provided by the 
employee, the Town may require the employee to obtain a second opinion from a doctor of the Town’s choosing 
at the Town’s expense.  If the employee’s health care provider providing the original certification and the doctor 
providing the second opinion do not agree, the Town may require a third opinion, also at the Town’s expense, 
performed by a mutually agreeable doctor who will make a final determination.  It is the employee’s responsibility 
to furnish his or her health care provider with the necessary authorization for the disclosure of medical 
information to the doctor(s) who will provide the second and third opinions.  If the employee fails to provide the 
necessary authorization, the request for leave may be denied, in accordance with applicable law.   
 

(8) Designation of Protected Leave 
Once the Town has enough information to determine whether the leave is FMLA-qualifying, the Town will inform 
the employee if leave will be designated as FMLA-protected and, if known at that time, the amount of leave that 
will be counted against the employee’s leave entitlement.  If the Town determines that the leave is not protected, 
the Town will notify the employee.   
 

(9) Recertification 
The employee taking leave because of his or her own serious medical condition or the serious medical condition 
of a family member may be required, except in cases of military caregiver leave, to provide the Town with 
recertification at appropriate intervals.  For purposes of recertification, the employer may request the same 
information as allowed by law for the original certification.  As part of that request, the Town may provide the 
health care provider with a record of the employee’s absence pattern to confirm whether such a pattern is 
consistent with the need for leave.  The employee must provide the requested recertification within 15 calendar 
days of such a request, unless it is not practicable to do so despite the employee’s diligent, good faith efforts.   
 

(10) Return to Work Certification 
Where the leave is for the employee’s own serious health condition, the Town requires employees to provide 
medical certification that he or she is fit for duty and able to return to work.  The Town may delay restoring the 
employee to employment or terminate the employee without such certificate.   
 

(11) Leave’s Effect on Reinstatement 
Employees timely returning from a leave covered under this policy are entitled to reinstatement to the same or 
equivalent position consistent with applicable law.  The Town may deny reinstatement to employees who are 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

13 
777841-4  

among the highest paid ten percent of all employees employed by the Town within 75 miles of the employees’ 
worksite and whose reinstatement would cause substantial and grievous economic injury to the Town’s 
operations.  An employee has no greater right to reinstatement than if he or she had been continuously employed 
rather than on leave.  The Town will comply with all applicable laws pertaining to reinstatement of employees, 
including where required, the reasonable accommodation of employees who have been on an approved leave.   
 
The Town complies with applicable family care, medical leave, and military family leave laws.  Under the FMLA it is 
unlawful for any employer to: interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of any right provided under the FMLA; 
or discharge or discriminate against any person for opposing any practice made unlawful by the FMLA or for 
involvement in any proceeding under or relating to the FMLA.  If an employer has done so, an employee may file a 
complaint with the U.S.  Department of Labor or may bring a private lawsuit against an employer.  The FMLA does 
not affect any federal or state law prohibiting discrimination, or supersede any state or local law or collective 
bargaining agreement that provides greater family or medical leave rights.  If you have questions, or would like 
further clarification about your rights under the FMLA or other types of leave, please contact the Human 
Resources Department.   
 

C. Pregnancy-Related Disability Rights 

(1) Leaves of Absence and Transfers 
Any employee who is disabled on account of pregnancy, childbirth, or related conditions may take a pregnancy-
related disability leave for the period of actual disability of up to four months, in addition to any family care or 
medical leave to which the employee may be entitled under Section 3.5 of this policy (Family Care, Medical and 
Military Family Leaves).  Pregnancy-related disability leaves may be taken intermittently, or on a reduced-hours 
schedule, as medically necessary.   
 
Moreover, an employee is entitled to a reasonable accommodation for pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical 
conditions if she so requests and provides the Town with medical certification from her health care provider.  In 
addition to other forms of reasonable accommodation, a pregnant employee is entitled to transfer temporarily to 
a less strenuous or hazardous position or to less hazardous or strenuous duties if she so requests, the transfer 
request is supported by proper medical certification, and the transfer can be reasonably accommodated.   
 

(2) Substitution of Paid Leave for Pregnancy-Related Disability Leave 
An employee taking pregnancy-related disability leave must substitute any available sick pay for her leave and 
may, at her option, substitute any accrued vacation time for her leave.  The substitution of paid leave for 
pregnancy-related disability leave does not extend the total duration of the leave to which an employee is 
entitled.   
 

(3) Leave’s Effect on Benefits 
During an employee’s family care, medical, and military family leave, the Town will continue to pay for the 
employee’s participation in the Town’s group health plans, to the same extent and under the same terms and 
conditions as would apply had the employee not taken leave.  Thus, the employee must continue to pay his or her 
share of the health plan premiums during the leave.  If the employee substitutes paid leave for the unpaid leave, 
such payments will be deducted from the employee’s pay through the regular payroll deductions.  Otherwise, the 
employee must make arrangements with the Town for the payment of such premiums.  All other benefits will be 
governed in accordance with the terms of each benefit plan and are the sole responsibility of the employee.   
 
The Town may recover from the employee the premium that the Town paid to maintain coverage for the 
employee under the group health plan if the employee fails to return from leave after the period of leave has 
expired and the employee’s failure to return is for a reason other than: (i) the employee is taking leave under the 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

14 
777841-4  

California Family Rights Act; (ii) the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a health condition that entitles the 
employee to leave for pregnancy disability or other circumstances beyond the employee’s control.   
 
Employees on Pregnancy-Disability leave will accrue employment benefits, such as sick leave, vacation leave, and 
seniority only when paid leave is being substituted for unpaid leave and only if the employee would otherwise be 
entitled to such accrual.  Employee benefits may be continued during the unpaid portion of the Pregnancy-
Disability leave according to the provisions of the Town’s various employee benefit plans.   
 

(4) Other Terms and Conditions of Leave 
The provisions of the Town’s Family Care, Medical and Military Family Leave policy regarding the leave’s effect on 
pay, notice requirements, medical certification requirements, and reinstatement also apply to all pregnancy-
related disability leaves.  However, for pregnancy-related disabilities, there is no process for obtaining more than 
one medical opinion, and there is no reinstatement exception for key employees.  For the purpose of applying 
those provisions, an employee’s pregnancy-related disability is considered to be a serious health condition.   
 

D. Other Disability Leaves 
In addition to medical or pregnancy-related disability leaves described in Sections II and III, employees may take a 
temporary disability leave of absence if necessary to reasonably accommodate a workplace injury or a disability 
under the ADA or the FEHA.  Any disability leave under this section will run concurrently with any medical leave to 
which the employee is entitled under Section II of this policy.  Disability leaves under this section will be unpaid.   
  
Employees taking disability leave must comply with the Family Care, Medical and Military Family Leave provisions 
regarding substitution of paid leaves, notice, and medical certification.  For the purpose of applying these 
provisions, a disability leave will be considered to be a medical leave.   
 
If a disability leave under this section extends beyond 12 weeks in a 12-month period, the employee will not be 
entitled to any continued employer contributions towards any employee benefit plan unless otherwise required 
by law.  An employee, however, may elect to continue participating in such benefit plans, at the employee’s own 
expense, to the extent permitted by such plans.   
 
The duration of a leave under this section shall be consistent with applicable law, but in no event shall the leave 
extend past the date on which an employee becomes capable of performing the essential functions of his or her 
position, with or without reasonable accommodation.  For a full explanation of leave duration and reinstatement 
rights, employees should contact the General Manager.   
 

E. Other Leaves Of Absence 
The Town also grants eligible employees leaves of absence for military leave, jury or witness duty, certain court 
appearances, appearances at school or daycare activities, emergency duty as a volunteer firefighter, a reserve 
peace officer, or emergency rescue personnel, to vote in a statewide election, for bereavement leave, for leave 
related to domestic violence, crime victims leave, or leave for the donation of an organ or bone marrow.  Unless 
otherwise required by law or set forth herein, employees will not be paid for such leaves of absence.   
 
Employees wishing to take a leave of absence for one of these reasons should refer to the procedures outlined 
below or contact the General Manager.   
 

(1) Military Leave Of Absence 
The Town will grant employees a military leave of absence to the extent required by applicable federal and state 
law.   
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

15 
777841-4  

(2) Military Spouse Leave 
At any time that it regularly employs 25 or more persons, or as otherwise required by applicable federal and state 
law, the Town will grant qualified California employees up to ten (10) days leave during that time in which the 
employee’s spouse or domestic partner is on leave from deployment in a combat zone with the active duty or 
reserve military or national guard during a period of military conflict.  Employees may use accrued vacation time 
to cover this absence.  If the employee has no accrued vacation, the employee must request time off without pay.   
 
Qualifying employees are employees who work an average of 20 hours per week and have a spouse or domestic 
partner who is serving as (1) a member of the U.S.  Armed Forces and who has been deployed during a period of 
military conflict to an area designated as a combat theater or combat zone by the President of the United States 
or (2) a member of the Armed Forces Reserve Components or the National Guard and has been deployed during a 
period of military conflict.   
 
Qualifying employees who wish to request this leave must provide the Town with a written request for such leave 
within two business days of receiving official notice that the military spouse or domestic partner will be on leave 
from deployment.  The employee must also provide written documentation to the Town certifying that the 
military member will be on military leave from deployment.   
 

(3) Jury and Witness Duty 
The Town will provide employees time off to serve, as required by law, on a jury or grand jury if the employee 
provides reasonable advance notice.  The Town will also provide employees with time off to appear in court or 
other judicial proceedings as a witness to comply with a valid subpoena or other court order.  Leaves under this 
section will be unpaid.   
 
However, exempt employees who work any portion of a workweek in which they also serve on jury duty or 
appear as a witness will receive their full salary for that workweek.  Employees may elect to substitute accrued 
vacation during any unpaid leave due to jury duty or a witness appearance.   
 
Employees are required to provide reasonable advance notice of the need for jury/witness leave.  Employees also 
are expected to report to work each day or portion of a day they are not performing jury/witness duty.   
 

(4) Leave to Attend Children’s School at Teacher’s Request 
The Town will grant employees who are parents or guardians of a pupil time off without pay to appear at their 
children’s school pursuant to a teacher’s request under Education Code section 48900.1, if the employee, prior to 
taking the time off, gives reasonable notice to the Town that he or she is requested to appear in the school. 
 

(5) Leave For Educational/Daycare Purposes 
At any time that it regularly employs twenty-five (25) or more persons, or as otherwise required by applicable 
federal and state law, the Town will grant employees time off without pay for up to forty (40) hours per calendar 
year, but no more than eight hours in any calendar month, to participate in the activities of schools or licensed 
child daycare facilities attended by their children.  Employees must substitute accrued vacation for purposes of a 
planned absence under this Section.   
 
Employees wishing to take time off under this Section must provide their supervisors with reasonable notice of 
the planned absence.  If both parents of a child are employed by the Town at the same worksite, the request for 
time off under this Section will be granted to the first parent to provide notice of the need for time off.  The 
request from the second parent will be accommodated if possible.   
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

16 
777841-4  

The Town reserves the right to request that the employee furnish written verification from the school or daycare 
facility as proof that the employee participated in school or daycare activities on the specific date and at a 
particular time.  Failure to provide written verification is grounds for disciplinary action. 
 

(6) Volunteer Firefighter, Reserve Peace Officer, and Emergency Rescue Personnel 
Nonexempt employees will be granted time off without pay to perform emergency duties as a volunteer 
firefighter, reserve peace officer, or emergency rescue personnel.  At any time that it regularly employs fifty (50) 
or more persons, or as otherwise required by applicable federal and state law, Town will grant employees who are 
volunteer firefighters a leave of up to 14 days per calendar year for fire or law enforcement training.  Exempt 
employees who work any portion of a workweek in which they also perform such emergency duties or training 
will receive their full salary for that workweek.  Otherwise, exempt employees will be granted time off without 
pay.  Employees may substitute vacation pay for any unpaid portion of leave to perform such emergency duties or 
training.   
 

(7) Voting Time Off 
Employees who do not have sufficient time outside of their regular working hours to vote in a statewide election 
may request time off to vote.  If possible, employees should make their request at least two days in advance of 
the election.  Up to two hours of paid time off will be provided, at the beginning or end of the employee’s regular 
shift, whichever will allow the most free time for voting and the least time off work.   
 

(8) Bereavement Leave 
All employees who suffer a death in their immediate family may have a paid leave for five (5) scheduled work days 
for each death of an immediate family member.  For purposes of this policy an employee’s immediate family is 
defined to include the employee’s current spouse, domestic partner, child, parent, sibling, grandparent, 
grandchild of employee, or child, sibling, parent or grandchild of employee’s spouse or domestic partner.  
Employees must take this leave within a seven (7) consecutive day period will be paid only for days and hours they 
were scheduled to work.   
 
If an employee requires more than five (5) days off for bereavement leave, the employee may request additional 
unpaid leave or may request the opportunity to use any accrued vacation time at the discretion of the General 
Manager. 
 

(9) Leave Related To Domestic Violence or Sexual Assault 
The Town will grant unpaid time off to an employee who is a victim of domestic violence or a victim of sexual 
assault for the employee to obtain or attempt to obtain any relief, including, but not limited to, a temporary 
restraining order, restraining order, or other injunctive relief, to help ensure the health, safety, or welfare of the 
victim or his or her child.   
 
At any time that it regularly employs twenty-five (25) or more persons, or as otherwise required by applicable 
federal and state law, the Town will also grant unpaid time off to an employee who has been the victim of 
domestic violence or sexual assault to attend court proceedings, to receive services from a domestic violence 
shelter, program or rape crisis center, counseling, medical attention, and for participation in safety planning 
programs.   
 
The Town requires reasonable advance notice of the leave when feasible.  If time off is taken due to an 
emergency, the employee must, within fifteen (15) days of the absence, provide the Town with certification of the 
need for the leave such as a police report, court order, documentation from a healthcare provider, victims 
advocate, or counselor.   
  

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

17 
777841-4  

(10) Crime Victims’ Leave 
The Town will provide time off to an employee to attend judicial proceedings related to a crime, if that employee 
is a victim of crime, an immediate family member of a victim, a registered domestic partner of a victim, or the 
child of a registered domestic partner of a victim.  The Town requires that where feasible, in advance of taking 
leave, the employee provide it with a copy of the notice of each scheduled proceeding that is provided to the 
victim by the agency responsible for providing notice.  If advance notice is not possible, the employee is required 
to provide the Town with a copy of the notice within a reasonable time.   
 

(11) Leave for Organ and Bone Marrow Donation 
At any time that it regularly employs twenty-five (25) or more persons, or as otherwise required by applicable 
federal and state law, the Town will grant an employee the following paid leaves of absence for the purpose of 
organ or bone marrow donation:  
 

(a) A leave of absence of up to five (5) days in any one-year period for the purpose of donating the 
employee’s bone marrow to another person.   
 

(b) A leave of absence of up to thirty (30) days in any one-year period for the purpose of the employee 
donating his or her organ to another person.   
 
A leave of absence for the purpose of organ or bone marrow donation will be provided with pay, however, if an 
employee has earned and unused sick or vacation time available, the employee is required to first use up to five 
days of paid sick or vacation time for a bone marrow donation and up to two weeks of sick or vacation time for 
organ donation.   
 
In order to receive a leave of absence pursuant to this policy, the employee must provide written verification to 
the General Manager that he or she is an organ or bone marrow donor and that there is a medical necessity for 
the donation of the organ or bone marrow.   
 
Any leave taken for the donation of an organ or bone marrow will not constitute a break in service for purposes of 
the employee’s right to salary adjustments, sick leave, vacation, annual leave, or seniority.  During any leave taken 
under this policy, the Town will maintain and pay for coverage under any group health plan, for the full duration 
of this leave.  Leave provided under this policy may be taken in one or more periods.  Leave taken under this 
policy will not run concurrently with any leave taken pursuant to the federal Family and Medical Leave Act or the 
California Family Rights Act.   
 
Upon expiration of a leave of absence authorized by this policy, the Town will restore the employee to the 
position held by the employee when the leave began or to a position with equivalent seniority status, employee 
benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment.  The Town may decline to restore an employee 
because of reasons unrelated to the exercise of rights under this policy by the employee. 
 

(12) Administrative Time Off 
Notwithstanding any other portion of this Manual, it is recognized that exempt employees do not receive 
overtime compensation, and may work irregular hours, and may not be able to take vacation when desired.  
Accordingly, the General Manager shall be entitled to receive eighty (80) hours annually of paid administrative 
leave in addition to any leave otherwise authorized in the General Manager’s employment contract.  All other 
exempt employees shall be entitled to receive sixty (60) hours of paid administrative leave each fixed year.  
Administrative leave is not, however, a vested or earned form of compensation.  Any administrative time unused 
at the end of the year shall be forfeited, and it shall not be compensated for upon termination. 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

18 
777841-4  

Section 3.5.  Employment During Leave of Absence 
An employee on any leave under this section may not accept employment with any other employer without the 
Town’s written permission.  An employee who accepts such employment will be deemed to have resigned from 
the employment at the Town. 
 

ARTICLE 4 
HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME, AND PAY DAY 

 

Section 4.1.  Hours of Work 
The Town’s office hours are generally from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  However, employees 
will be assigned specific hours, shifts, and days of work, dependent upon the need of the department, by the 
General Manager or by the employee’s supervisor.  Due to the nature of Town operations, employees may be 
required to work shifts, or hours, outside regular office hours.  The General Manager or the employee’s 
Supervisor may reschedule an employee’s hours, shifts, and days whenever necessary based upon the needs of 
the Town.   
 

Section 4.2.  Meal and Rest Periods 

A. Rest Periods 
The Town authorizes and permits nonexempt employees working at least three and one-half hours in a day to 
take a ten-minute, off-duty paid rest period for each four hours worked or major fraction thereof.  The 10 minutes 
do not include the reasonable time it takes to walk to and from a break area.  Employees who work up to six 
hours in a day may take a second rest period.  Employees who work more than 10 hours in a day may take a third 
rest period.  Employees should take their rest periods in the middle of each work period to the extent it is 
practicable to do so, and not combine them with meal periods or skip them to leave work early.   
 
Employees who feel they were not provided the opportunity to take all rest periods authorized and permitted 
under this policy should inform their supervisor or manager, and (if not corrected) Human Resources immediately. 
 

B. Meal Periods 
The Town provides employees who work more than five hours in a day with an unpaid 30-minute, uninterrupted 
meal period starting no later than the end of the fifth hour of work.  The Town provides employees who work 
more than 10 hours in a day with a second unpaid 30-minute, uninterrupted meal period starting no later than 
the end of the 10th hour of work.  Employees who work no more than six hours in a day may waive the first meal 
period.  Employees who work no more than 12 hours in a day may waive the second meal period if they took their 
first meal periods.  Employees are entitled, encouraged, and expected to take all meal periods provided under this 
policy and not waived.  During meal periods, the Town will relieve employees of all duty and will not exercise 
control over employees’ activities.  Employees are free to spend their meal period time as they choose (consistent 
with any other Town policies that may apply during off-duty time) and are free to leave the worksite.  No 
supervisor or manager may impede or discourage employees from taking meal periods provided under this policy.   
 
Employees who feel they were not provided a meal period that complies with this policy should inform their 
supervisor or manager, and (if not corrected) the General Manager immediately.   
 

Section 4.3.  Overtime Pay 

A. Overtime Definition and Rates of Pay 
All nonexempt employees who work more than forty (40) hours in one workweek will receive overtime pay 
computed as follows: 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

19 
777841-4  

(1) Overtime at the rate of 1 ½ times the employee’s regular rate of pay will be provided for all hours worked 
in excess of forty (40) in any one workweek. 

 

(2) Overtime will be computed on actual minutes worked, adjusted to the nearest increment of 15 minutes.  
Only those hours actually worked are added together to determine an employee’s overtime pay.  Compensated 
holidays, for example, are not hours worked and are therefore not counted in making overtime calculations. 
 

B. Workweek and Workday 
Unless otherwise provided, for purposes of calculating overtime each workweek begins on Sunday and each 
workday begins at 12:01 a.m.   
 

C. Pre-Authorization 
No nonexempt employee may work overtime without the express prior approval of his or her supervisor.   
 

D. Non-Exempt Employees Prohibited from Working at Home 
Non-exempt employees are strictly prohibited from completing any work for the Town while at home and not 
during regularly scheduled working hours, unless express prior approval of the General Manager in writing is 
obtained. 
 

Section 4.4.  Other Types of Pay 

A. Reporting Time Pay 
Nonexempt employees who report to work at the Town’s request, but are furnished less than half of their usual 
or scheduled day’s work, will be paid for half the usual or scheduled day’s work, but not less than two hours’ pay 
or more than four hours’ pay at their regular rate, without regard to the number of hours they actually worked, 
unless the reasons for the lack of work are beyond the Town’s control.  Reporting time pay will not be paid to an 
employee on paid standby status who is called to perform assigned work at a time other than the employee’s 
scheduled reporting time.  Reporting time hours are not counted as “hours worked” for overtime purposes 
beyond the time in which work is actually performed.  For example, if an employee who is scheduled to work an 
eight-hour shift is sent home after three hours, the employee will receive four hours’ pay for that day, but the 
fourth hour of reporting time pay will not be treated as time worked for overtime purposes. 
 

B. Callback Pay 
Any non-exempt employee who is called back to work for a second work period in any one workday and is 
furnished with less than two hours’ work is paid a minimum of two hours pay at the regular straight-time rate for 
the second work period, without regard to the number of hours actually worked, unless the reasons for lack of 
work are beyond the Town’s control. 
  

C. Holiday Pay 
Non-exempt employees are paid their regular straight-time wages for holidays as set forth under Article 3 of this 
manual.  To receive holiday pay, the employee must work the regularly scheduled workdays preceding and 
following the holiday, or receive prior approval from his or her Supervisor to take the time off.   
 

D. Pay Advances 
There will be no pay advances.   
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

20 
777841-4  

Section 4.5.  Place and Time for Payment of Wages 

A. Regular Pay Days 
Employees are paid biweekly, twenty-six (26) times annually.  Employees must complete their time cards in a 
timely manner in order to ensure that they are paid for all hours worked.  If a pay day falls on a holiday, paychecks 
will be distributed on the preceding workday.  For employees who are not on direct deposit, checks are 
distributed on the date assigned for payment.  If the employee is absent when the paycheck is distributed, the 
employee may claim the paycheck from his or her immediate supervisor when the employee returns.   
 

B. Payment on Resignation, Termination, or Completion of Assignment or Term 
If an employee resigns, his or her paycheck will be available on the final day of work, provided the employee has 
given at least 72 hours’ prior notice.  If an employee resigns without giving 72 hours’ notice, his or her paycheck 
will be made available within 72 hours after the employee gives notice of the resignation, unless the employee 
requests in writing that his or her final paycheck be mailed, in which case the Town will mail the final paycheck 
within three days after the employee gives notice.  Employees who are terminated involuntarily will be paid on 
the day of the discharge.  If an employee is hired for a specific assignment or otherwise has a defined term of 
employment, his or her paycheck will be available upon the completion of the assignment or employment term.  
In all cases, employees’ final paychecks will include payment for all wages owed and any accrued but unused 
vacation time. 
 

ARTICLE 5 
RULES OF CONDUCT 

 

Section 5.1.  Open Door 
The Town has an Open Door Policy that encourages employee participation in decisions affecting them and their 
daily professional responsibilities.  Employees who have job-related concerns or complaints are encouraged to 
talk them over with their immediate Supervisor or any other management representative with whom they feel 
comfortable.  The Town believes that employee concerns are best addressed through this type of informal and 
open communication. 
 

Section 5.2.  Termination, Discipline, and Rules of Conduct 

A. Termination  
 

(1) Voluntary Termination 
The Town will consider an employee to have voluntarily terminated his or her employment if an employee does 
any of the following: 
 

(a) Elects to resign from the Town; 
 

(b) Fails to return from an approved leave of absence on the date specified by the Town; or 
 

(c) Fails to report for work without notice to the Town for three (3) consecutive days. 
 

(2) Involuntary Termination 
An employee may be terminated involuntarily for reasons that may include, but are not limited to, poor 
performance, misconduct, or other violations of the Town’s rules of conduct as set forth below.  Notwithstanding 
this list of rules, the Town reserves the right to discharge or demote any employee with or without cause and with 
or without prior notice. 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

21 
777841-4  

B. Discipline and Rules of Conduct   
 

(1) Policy 
Employees are expected to observe certain standards of job performance and good conduct.  When performance 
or conduct does not meet Town standards, the Town will endeavor when it deems appropriate to provide the 
employee a reasonable opportunity to correct the deficiency.  If, however, the employee fails to make the 
correction, he or she will be subject to discipline up to and including termination. 
 
The rules set forth below are intended to provide employees with fair notice of what is expected of them.  
Necessarily, however, such rules cannot identify every type of unacceptable conduct and performance.  
Therefore, employees should be aware that conduct not specifically listed below but which adversely affects or is 
otherwise detrimental to the interests of the Town, other employees, or customers, may also result in disciplinary 
action.  The listing of these rules does not in any way abrogate or modify the at-will policy set forth in Section 1.6 
of this manual. 
 

(2) Job Performance 
Employees may be disciplined for poor job performance, including but not limited, to the following: 
 

(a) Unsatisfactory work quality or quantity; 
 

(b) Poor attitude (for example, rudeness or lack of cooperation); 
 

(c) Excessive absenteeism, tardiness, or abuse of rest break and meal period policies; 
 

(d) Failure to follow instructions or Town procedures; or 
 

(e) Failure to follow established safety regulations. 
 

(3) Misconduct.  Employees may be disciplined for misconduct, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 

(a) Insubordination; 
 

(b) Dishonesty; 
 

(c) Theft; 
 

(d) Discourtesy; 
 

(e) Misusing or destroying Town property or the property of another on Town property. 
 

(f) Violating conflict of interest rules; 
 

(g) Disclosing or using confidential or proprietary information without authorization; 
 

(h) Falsifying or altering Town records, including the application for employment; 
 

(i) Interfering with the work performance of others; 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

22 
777841-4  

(j) Altercations, physical or verbal; 
 

(k) Harassing, including sexually harassing employees, customers, contractors, or others while acting within 
the scope of their employment; 
 

(l) Being under the influence of, manufacturing, dispensing, distributing, using, or possessing alcohol or 
illegal or controlled substances on Town property or while conducting Town business; 
 

(m) Gambling on Town premises or while conducting Town business; 

(n) Sleeping on the job or leaving your work location or worksite without authorization; 
 

(o) Possessing a firearm or other dangerous weapon on Town property or while conducting Town business. 
 

(p) Being convicted of a crime that indicates unfitness for the job or raises a threat to the safety or well-being 
of the Town, its employees, customers, or property; 
 

(q) Failing to report to the Town, within five (5) days, any conviction under any criminal drug statute for a 
violation occurring in the work place; 
 

(r) Use of foul, abusive, or offensive language; or  
 

(s) Smoking in non-designated areas. 
 

(4) Attendance.  In addition to the general rules state above, employees may be disciplined for failing to 
observe the following specific requirements relating to attendance: 
 

(a) Reporting to work on time, observing the rest break and meal period policies, and obtaining approval to 
leave work early; and 
 

(b) Notifying the supervisor in advance of anticipated tardiness or absence. 
 

C.  Discipline Procedure  
Except as set forth below, discharge or demotion for poor performance ordinarily will be preceded by an oral 
warning and a written warning.  The Town reserves the right to proceed directly to a written warning, demotion, 
or termination for misconduct or performance deficiency, without resort to prior disciplinary steps, when the 
Town deems such action appropriate.   
 

Section 5.3.  Exit Interview 
Employees who leave the Town for any reason may be asked to participate in an exit interview.  This interview is 
intended to permit terminating employees the opportunity to communicate their views regarding their work with 
the Town, including job duties, job training, job supervision, and job benefits.  At the time of the interview, 
employees are expected to return all Town-furnished property, such as uniforms, tools, equipment, I.D.  cards, 
keys, credit cards, documents, and Manuals.  Arrangements for clearing any outstanding debts with the Town and 
for receiving final pay also will be made at this time.   
 

Section 5.4.  Employment at Will 
Nothing in this Guideline is intended to alter the at-will status of employment with the Town.  Either you or the 
Town may terminate the employment relationship at any time with or without cause and with or without prior 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

23 
777841-4  

notice.  The Town reserves the right to terminate any employment relationship, to demote, or to otherwise 
discipline an employee without resort to the above disciplinary procedures. 
 

ARTICLE 6 
WORK REGULATIONS 

 

Section 6.1.  Personnel Records  

A. Personnel Files 
The information in an employee’s personnel file is permanent and confidential, and must be kept up to date.  
Employees should inform the Personnel Manager immediately whenever there are changes in personal data such 
as address, telephone number, marital status, number of dependents, and person(s) to notify in case of 
emergency.   
 
Employees have the right to inspect their personnel files at reasonable times and on reasonable notice.  In 
addition, employees have the right to request copies of all employment-related documents that they have signed.  
An employee may inspect only his or her own personnel file and only in the presence of a supervisor of the 
General Manager.  Personnel files are the property of the Town and may not be removed from the Town’s 
premises without written authorization from the General Manager.   
 

B. Payroll Records 
Employees also have the right to inspect and copy certain Town payroll records regarding their compensation, and 
deductions from their compensation, upon reasonable request to the Town.  Employees wishing to review or copy 
payroll records should notify the General Manager.   
 

Section 6.2.  Personal Telephone Calls 
Personal telephone calls are to be limited to essential matters and kept as brief as possible.  Continued excessive 
use of phones for personal matters is subject to disciplinary action. 
 

Section 6.3.  Smoking 
The Town prohibits smoking in the workplace.  Smoking is prohibited within the confines of any office or vehicle.  
Smoking will be permitted out of doors only, and in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.  All 
cigarettes are to be extinguished and disposed of prior to entering any office or vehicle.  Employees violating this 
policy will be subject to disciplinary action. 
 

Section 6.4.  Dress and Grooming Standards 
The Town considers the presentation of the Town image to its clients, suppliers, and the public at large to be 
extremely important.  Accordingly, it is expected that all employees dress in a manner consistent with proper 
hygiene, safety, and taste.  Employees whose jobs require them to come in contact with clients, customers, 
suppliers, or the public are expected to wear apparel the Town considers appropriate for dealing with the public.  
Each employee is expected to be neat and clean in appearance, with clean clothing or clean uniform and good 
personal hygiene.  Clothing should be appropriate for the particular work area and type of work performed. 
 

Section 6.5.  Employment of Relatives 
The Town will only allow for the employment of relatives of existing employees under specific situations, as 
identified below and as set forth in this section and only with the advanced written approval of the General 
Manager.  Relatives of present employees may be hired by the Town only if (1) the individuals concerned will not 
work in a direct supervisory relationship with one another, (2) the individuals concerned do not work in the same 
work unit or area or under the same direct Supervisor, and (3) the employment will not pose difficulties for 
supervision, security, safety, or morale.  This policy will not apply to employees of the Town who are employees of 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

24 
777841-4  

the Town as of the effective date of this Manual, but such employees may, in the discretion of the General 
Manager, be reassigned to positions satisfying subsections (1), (2), and (3) above.  “Relatives” are defined as 
spouses, domestic partners, children, sisters, brothers, mothers, or fathers, and persons related by marriage or 
domestic partnership.  Present employees who marry or form a domestic partnership, or become related by 
marriage or domestic partnership, will be permitted to continue employment with the Town only if they do not 
work in a direct supervisory relationship with one another, or otherwise pose difficulties for supervision, security, 
safety, or morale.  If employees who marry or form a domestic partnership, or become related by marriage or 
domestic partnership, do work in a direct supervisory relationship with one another, the Town will attempt to 
reassign one of the employees to another position for which he or she is qualified, if such a position is available.  If 
no such position is available, then one of the employees will be required to leave the Town’s employment.  The 
decision as to which employee will separate from employment is left to the sole discretion of the employees.  In 
the event that no alternative position is available and neither employee voluntarily leaves the Town, the 
employee with lesser seniority will be terminated. 
 

Section 6.6.  Conflicts of Interest 
Employees are expected to devote their best efforts and attention to the full-time performance of their jobs.  
They are expected to use good judgment, to adhere to high ethical standards, and to avoid situations that create 
an actual or potential conflict between the employee’s personal interest and the interest of the Town.  A conflict 
of interest exists where the employee’s loyalties or actions are divided between the Town’s interest and those of 
another, such as a competitor, supplier, or customer.  Both the fact and the appearance of a conflict of interest 
should be avoided.  Employees unsure as to whether a certain transaction, activity, or relationship constitutes a 
conflict of interest should discuss it with their immediate supervisor or the General Manager for clarification.  Any 
expectations to this guideline must be approved in writing by the General Manager. 
 
Where it is not feasible to describe all possible conflicts of interest that could develop, some of the more common 
conflicts, from which employees should refrain, include the following. 
 

A. Accepting personal gifts or entertainment from competitors, customers, suppliers, or potential suppliers; 
 

B. Working for a competitor, supplier, or customer; 
 

C. Engaging in self-employment in competition with the Town; 
 

D. Using proprietary or confidential Town information for personal gain or to the Town’s detriment; 
 

E. Having a direct or indirect financial interest in or relationship with a customer or supplier; 
 

F. Using Town property or labor for personal use; 
 

G. Acquiring any interest in property or assets of any kind for the purpose of selling or leasing it to the Town. 
 

H. Committing the Town to give financial or other support to any outside activity or organization. 
 

I. Developing a personal relationship with a subordinate employee of the Town or with an employee of a 
competitor, supplier, or customer that might interfere with the exercise of impartial judgment in decisions 
affecting the Town or any employees of the Town. 
If an employee or someone with whom an employee has a close relationship (a family member or close 
companion), has a financial or employment relationship with a competitor, customer, supplier, or potential 
supplier, the employee must disclose this fact in writing to the General Manager.  Employees should be aware 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

25 
777841-4  

that if they enter into a personal relationship with a subordinate employee or with an employee of a competitor, 
supplier, or customer, a conflict of interest may exist which requires full disclosure to the Town. 
 
Part-time employees may engage in outside employment, provided that they disclose such employment and get 
written approval from their immediate supervisor. 
 
Failure to adhere to this guideline, including failure to disclose any conflicts or to seek an exception, may result in 
discipline, up to and including termination of employment. 
 
If there are questions, the employee shall discuss them with their immediate supervisor, the General Manager, or 
both.  Please refer to the Town’s adopted Conflict of Interest Code for additional information. 
 

ARTICLE 7 
DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE 

 

Section 7.1.  Purpose of Guideline 
It is the intent of the Town to maintain a workplace that is free of drugs and alcohol and to discourage drug and 
alcohol abuse by its employees.  Employees who are under the influence of a drug or alcohol on the job 
compromise the Town’s interests and endanger their own health and safety and the health and safety of others. 
Substance abuse in the workplace can also cause a number of other work-related problems, including 
absenteeism and tardiness, substandard job performance, increased workloads for co-workers, behavior that 
disrupts other employees, and inferior quality in products or service.  
 
To further its interest in avoiding accidents, to promote and maintain safe and efficient working conditions for its 
employees, and to protect its business, property, equipment, and operations, the Town has established this 
Guideline concerning the use of alcohol and drugs. As a condition of continued employment with the Town, each 
employee must abide by this Guideline.  
 

Section 7.2.  Definitions 
For purposes of this Guideline:  

A. “Illegal drugs or other controlled substances” means any drug or substance that (a) is not legally 
obtainable; or (b) is legally obtainable but has not been legally obtained; or (c) has been legally obtained but is 
being sold or distributed unlawfully.  
 

B. “Legal drug” means any drug, including any prescription drug or over-the-counter drug, that has been 
legally obtained and that is not unlawfully sold or distributed.  
 

C. “Abuse of any legal drug” means the use of any legal drug (a) for any purpose other than the purpose for 
which it was prescribed or manufactured; or (b) in a quantity, frequency, or manner that is contrary to the 
instructions or recommendations of the prescribing physician or manufacturer.  
 

D. “Reasonable suspicion” includes a suspicion that is based on specific personal observations such as an 
employee’s manner, disposition, muscular movement, appearance, behavior, speech or breath odor; information 
provided to management by an employee, by law enforcement officials, by a security service, or by other persons 
believed to be reliable; or a suspicion that is based on other surrounding circumstances.  
 

E. “Possession” means that an employee has the substance on his or her person or otherwise under his or 
her control.  
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

26 
777841-4  

Section 7.3.  Prohibited Conduct 

A. Scope 
The prohibitions of this section apply whenever the interests of the Town may be adversely affected, including 
any time an employee is:  
 

(1) On Town premises;  
 

(2) Conducting or performing Town business, regardless of location;  
 

(3) Operating or responsible for the operation, custody, or care of Town equipment or other property; or  

 

(4) Responsible for the safety of others in connection with, or while performing, Town-related business.  
 

B. Alcohol 
The following acts are prohibited and will subject an employee to discharge:  
 

(1) The unauthorized use, possession, purchase, sale, manufacture, distribution, transportation, or 
dispensation of alcohol; or  
 

(2) Being under the influence of alcohol.  
 

C. Illegal Drugs 
The following acts are prohibited and will subject an employee to discharge:  
 

(1) The use, possession, purchase, sale, manufacture, distribution, transportation, or dispensation of any 
illegal drug or other controlled substance; or  
 

(2) Being under the influence of any illegal drug or other controlled substance.  
 

D. Legal Drugs 
The following acts are prohibited and will subject an employee to discharge:  
 

(1) The abuse of any legal drug;  
 

(2) The purchase, sale, manufacture, distribution, transportation, dispensation, or possession of any legal 
prescription drug in a manner inconsistent with law; or  
 

(3) Working while impaired by the use of a legal drug whenever such impairment might:  
 

(a) Endanger the safety of the employee or some other person;  
 

(b) Pose a risk of significant damage to Town property or equipment; or  
 

(c) Substantially interfere with the employee’s job performance or the efficient operation of the Town’s 
business or equipment.  
 
 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

27 
777841-4  

Section 7.4.  Disciplinary Action 

A. Discharge for Violation of Guideline 
A first violation of this Guideline will result in immediate discharge whenever the prohibited conduct:  
 

(1) Caused injury to the employee or any other person, or, in the sole opinion of management, endangered 
the safety of the employee or any other person;  
 

(2) Resulted in significant damage to Town property or equipment, or, in the sole opinion of management, 
posed a risk of significant damage;  
 

(3) Involved the sale or manufacture of illegal drugs or other controlled substances;  
 

(4) Involved the possession, distribution, or dispensation of illegal drugs or other controlled substances or 
alcohol;  
 

(5) Involved an employee who had not completed the introductory period or was a casual, seasonal, or 
temporary employee; or  
 

(6) Involved the failure of an employee to report a criminal conviction, as required by Section 7.4.C, below.  
 

B. Discretion Not to Discharge 
In circumstances other than those described in Paragraph A, above, the Town, in the discretion of management, 
may choose not to discharge an employee for a first violation of this Guideline, if the employee satisfactorily 
completes participation in an approved drug or alcohol abuse assistance or rehabilitation program when 
recommended by the Town.  
 

C. Effect of Criminal Conviction 
An employee who is convicted under a criminal drug statute for a violation occurring in the workplace or during 
any Town-related activity or event will be deemed to have violated this Guideline.  
 

D. Written Warning 
An employee who is not discharged for a first violation of this Guideline will receive a final written warning. 
 

E. Effect of Second Violation 
A second violation of this Guideline at any time will result in immediate discharge.  
 

F. Effect of Discharge on Eligibility for Rehire 
Employees who are discharged for a violation of this Guideline will not be eligible for rehire by the Town. 
  

Section 7.5.  Management Awareness 
Managers and supervisors should be attentive to the performance and conduct of those who work with them and 
should not permit an employee to work in an impaired condition or to otherwise engage in conduct that violates 
this Guideline. When management has reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee or employees are 
working in violation of this Guideline, prompt action will be taken.  If the employee occupies a designated safety-
sensitive position, such action may include drug testing in accordance with the procedures outlined in this policy.  
 
 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

28 
777841-4  

Section 7.6.  Use of Legal Drugs 
The Town recognizes that employees may, from time to time, be prescribed legal drugs that, when taken as 
prescribed or according to the manufacturer’s instructions, may result in impairment. Employees may not work 
while impaired by the use of legal drugs if the impairment might endanger the employee or someone else, pose a 
risk of significant damage to Town property, or substantially interfere with the employee’s job performance. If an 
employee is so impaired by the appropriate use of legal drugs, he or she may not report to work. To 
accommodate the absence, the employee may use accrued sick leave or vacation time.  The employee may also 
contact the General Manager to determine whether or not he or she qualifies for an unpaid leave of absence, 
such as family care or medical leave.  Nothing in this Guideline is intended to sanction the use of accrued sick 
leave or vacation time to accommodate absences due to the abuse of legal drugs.  Further, nothing in this 
Guideline is intended to diminish the Town’s commitment to employ and reasonably accommodate qualified 
disabled individuals. The Town will reasonably accommodate qualified disabled employees who must take legal 
drugs because of their disability.  
 

Section 7.7.  Unregulated or Authorized Conduct  

A. Customary Use of Over-the-Counter Drugs 
Nothing in this Guideline is intended to prohibit the customary and ordinary purchase, sale, use, possession, or 
dispensation of over-the-counter drugs, so long as that activity does not violate any law or result in an employee 
being impaired by the use of such drugs in violation of this Guideline.  
 

B. Authorized Use of Alcohol 
The Town may provide alcohol for consumption at certain events, such as social functions. The consumption of 
alcohol at these events does not violate this Guideline.  
 

Section 7.8.  Confidentiality 
Disclosures made by employees to the General Manager concerning their use of legal drugs will be treated 
confidentially and will not be revealed to managers or supervisors unless there is an important work-related 
reason to do so in order to determine whether it is advisable for the employee to continue working.  Disclosures 
made by employees to the General Manager concerning their participation in any drug or alcohol rehabilitation 
program will be treated confidentially.  
 

Section 7.9.  Drug Testing for Safety-Sensitive Positions 
Employees in safety-sensitive positions, as defined by the United States Department of Transportation regulations 
including those employees whose position requires possession of a Class 1 Commercial Drivers license, will be 
tested for drugs and alcohol as part of the Town’s employment screening process and during employment in 
accordance with applicable state and federal law including, but not limited to, The Omnibus Transportation 
Employee Testing Act of 1991 and any subsequent amendments thereto.   
 

ARTICLE 8 
TECHNOLOGY 

 

Section 8.1.  Voice-Mail, E-Mails and Technology Policy 
The Town maintains and utilizes, as part of its operations, a computer system, voice-mail, e-mail, cellular and 
smart phone, iPads and other methods of technological communication.  These systems are provided to assist 
employees in the conduct of Town business.  Each employee has a responsibility to use the Town’s Technology 
Resources in a manner that increases productivity, enhances the Town’s public image, and is respectful of other 
employees.  Failure to follow the Town’s policies regarding Technology Resources may lead to disciplinary 
measures, up to and including termination of employment.   
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

29 
777841-4  

Section 8.2.  Technology Resources Definition 
Technology Resources consist of all electronic devices, software, and means of electronic communication 
including any of the following: personal computers and workstations; laptop computers; mini and mainframe 
computers; computer hardware such as disk drives and tape drives; peripheral equipment such as printers, 
modems, fax machines, and copiers; computer software applications and associated files and data, including 
software that grants access to external services, such as the Internet; electronic mail; telephones; cellular and 
smart phones; iPads; personal organizers and other handheld devices; pagers; voicemail systems; and instant 
messaging systems.   
 

Section 8.3.  Authorization 
Access to the Town’s Technology Resources is within the sole discretion of the Town.  Generally, employees are 
given access to the Town’s various technologies based on their job functions.  Only employees whose job 
performance will benefit from the use of the Town’s Technology Resources are authorized to access and use the 
necessary technology.  Additionally, employees must successfully complete Town-approved training before they 
are authorized to access and use the Town’s Technology Resources.   
 

Section 8.4.  Use 
The Town’s Technology Resources are to be used by employees only for the purpose of conducting Town business 
and personal use of such Resources is discouraged.  Employees may, however, use the Town’s Technology 
Resources for the following incidental personal uses as long as such use does not interfere with the employee’s 
duties, is not done for pecuniary gain, does not conflict with the Town’s business, and does not violate any Town 
policy:  
 

(1) To use the telephone system for brief and necessary personal calls;  
 

(2) To send and receive necessary and occasional personal communications;  
 

(3) To prepare and store incidental personal data (such as personal calendars, personal address lists, and 
similar incidental personal data) in a reasonable manner; and  
 

(4) To access the Internet for brief personal searches and inquiries during meal times or other breaks, or 
outside of work hours, provided that employees adhere to all other usage policies.   
 
The Town assumes no liability for loss, damage, destruction, alteration, receipt, transmission, disclosure, or 
misuse of any personal data or communications transmitted over or stored on the Town’s Technology Resources.  
The Town accepts no responsibility or liability for the loss or non-delivery of any personal electronic mail or 
voicemail communications or any personal data stored on any Town property.  The Town strongly discourages 
employees from storing any personal data on any of the Town’s Technology Resources.   
 

Section 8.5.  Improper Use   

A. Prohibition Against Harassing, Discriminatory and Defamatory Use 
The Town is aware that employees use electronic mail for correspondence that is less formal than written 
memoranda.  Employees must take care, however, not to let informality degenerate into improper use.  As set 
forth more fully in the Town’s “Policy Against Harassment,” the Town does not tolerate discrimination or 
harassment based on gender, pregnancy, childbirth (or related medical conditions), race, color, religion, national 
origin, ancestry, age, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, marital status, sexual orientation, 
family care or medical leave status, veteran status, or any other status protected by state and federal laws.  Under 
no circumstances shall employees use the Town’s Technology Resources to transmit, receive, or store any 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

30 
777841-4  

information that is discriminatory, harassing, defamatory, obscene, indecent, threatening, or that otherwise could 
adversely affect any individual, group, or entity (e.g., sexually explicit or racial messages, jokes, or cartoons).   
 

B. Prohibition Against Violating Copyright Laws 
Employees shall not use the Town’s Technology Resources to copy, retrieve, forward, or send copyrighted 
materials unless the employee has the author’s permission or is accessing a single copy only for the employee’s 
reference.   
 

C. Other Prohibited Uses 
Employees shall not use the Town’s Technology Resources for any illegal purpose, violation of any Town policy, in 
a manner contrary to the best interests of the Town, in any way that discloses confidential or proprietary 
information of the Town or third parties, or for personal or pecuniary gain.   
 

Section 8.6.  Town Access To Technology Resources 
All messages sent and received, including personal messages, and all data and information stored on the Town’s 
Technology Resources (including on its electronic mail system, voicemail system, or computer systems) are Town 
property regardless of the content.  As such, the Town reserves the right to access all of its Technology Resources 
including its computers, voicemail, and electronic mail systems, at any time, in its sole discretion.  No employee, 
other than the President of the Board of Directors, has authority to waive, vary or amend the Town’s right to 
access its Technology Resources.   
 

A. No Reasonable Expectation Of Privacy 
On occasion, the Town may need to access its Technology Resources including computer files, electronic mail 
messages, and voicemail messages.  Employees should understand, therefore, that they have no right of privacy 
with respect to any messages or information created, collected, or maintained on the Town’s Technology 
Resources, including personal information or messages.  The Town may, at its discretion, inspect all files or 
messages on its Technology Resources at any time for any reason.  The Town may also monitor its Technology 
Resources at any time in order to determine compliance with its policies, for purposes of legal proceedings, to 
investigate misconduct, to locate information, or for any other business purpose.   
 

B. Passwords 
Certain of the Town’s Technology Resources can be accessed only by entering a password.  Passwords are 
intended to prevent unauthorized access to information.  Passwords do not confer any right of privacy upon any 
employee of the Town.  Thus, even though employees may maintain passwords for accessing Technology 
Resources, employees must not expect that any information maintained on Technology Resources, including 
electronic mail and voicemail messages, are private.  Employees are expected to maintain their passwords as 
confidential.  Employees must not share passwords and must not access coworkers’ systems without express 
authorization.   
 

C. Data Collection 
The best way for employees to ensure the privacy of personal information is not to store or transmit it on the 
Town’s Technology Resources.  So that employees understand the extent to which information is collected and 
stored, examples of information currently maintained by the Town are provided below.  The Town may, however, 
in its sole discretion, and at any time, alter the amount and type of information that it retains.   
 

(1) Telephone Use and Voicemail: 
Records are kept of all calls made from and to a given telephone extension.  Although voicemail is password-
protected, an authorized administrator can listen to voicemail messages and also reset the password.   
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

31 
777841-4  

(2) Electronic Mail: 
Electronic mail is backed up and archived.  Although electronic mail is password-protected, an authorized 
administrator can read electronic mail and also reset the password.   
 

(3) Desktop Facsimile Use: 
Copies of all facsimile transmissions are maintained in the facsimile server.   
 

(4) Document Use: 
Each document stored on Town computers has a history that shows which users have accessed the document for 
any purpose.   
 

(5) Internet Use:  
Internet sites visited, the number of times visited, and the total time connected to each site are recorded and 
periodically monitored.   
 

D. Deleted Information 
Deleting or erasing information, documents, or messages maintained on the Town’s Technology Resources is, in 
most cases, ineffective.  All employees should understand that any information kept on the Town’s Technology 
Resources may be electronically recalled or recreated regardless of whether it may have been “deleted” or 
“erased” by an employee.  Because the Town periodically backs up all files and messages, and because of the way 
in which computers reuse file storage space, files and messages may exist that are thought to have been deleted 
or erased.  Therefore, employees who delete or erase information or messages should not assume that such 
information or messages are confidential or ever were confidential.  If a legal dispute arises, or may arise in the 
future, it may be unlawful to attempt to delete or erase certain information.  Employees shall fully comply with 
Town policy regarding retention or destruction of information.   
 

Section 8.7.  The Internet And On-Line Services 
The Town provides authorized employees access to online services such as the Internet.  The Town expects that 
employees will use these services in a responsible way and for business-related purposes only.  Under no 
circumstances are employees permitted to use the Town’s Technology Resources to access, download, or 
contribute to Internet sites that contain inappropriate content such as that which is discriminatory, harassing, 
defamatory, obscene, indecent, threatening, or that otherwise could adversely affect any individual, group, or 
entity.   
 
Additionally, employees may not use the Town’s Technology Resources to post, comment, send, or otherwise 
upload any information to any Web sites or other online groups, including web logs (i.e., “blogs”), social 
networking Web sites, newsgroups, discussion groups, or non-Town email groups.  These actions will likely 
generate junk electronic mail and may expose the Town to liability or unwanted attention because of comments 
or other contributions that employees may make.  The Town strongly encourages employees who wish to access 
the Internet for non-work-related activities to obtain their own personal Internet access accounts that are 
unaffiliated with the Town, and to use such accounts at home on their own personal computer without making 
any reference to the Town.   
 

Section 8.8.  Monitoring 
The Town monitors both the amount of time spent using online services and the sites visited by individual 
employees.  The Town reserves the right to limit such access by any means available to it, including revoking 
access altogether.  The Town, through technological tools, may also prohibit or limit access to certain Web sites 
considered inappropriate by the Town or its technology provider. 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

32 
777841-4  

Section 8.9.  Confidential Information 
The Town is very sensitive to the issue of protection of trade secrets and other confidential and proprietary 
information of both the Town and third parties (“Confidential Information”).  Therefore, employees are expected 
to use good judgment and to adhere to the highest ethical standards when using or transmitting Confidential 
Information on the Town’s Technology Resources.   
 
Confidential Information should not be accessed through the Town’s Technology Resources in the presence of 
unauthorized individuals.  Similarly, Confidential Information should not be left visible or unattended.  Moreover, 
any Confidential Information transmitted via Technology Resources should be marked with the following 
confidentiality legend: “This message contains confidential information.  Unless you are the addressee (or 
authorized to receive for the addressee), you may not copy, use, or distribute this information.  If you have 
received this message in error, please advise [employee’s name] immediately at [employee’s telephone number] 
or return it promptly by mail.”  
 
Employees should adhere to Town’s security policy with regard to Confidential Information and take all 
appropriate measures to safeguard the confidentiality and security of such information.  Employees should avoid 
sending Confidential Information via the Internet, except when absolutely necessary.  Employees should also 
verify electronic mail addresses before transmitting any messages containing Confidential Information.   
 

Section 8.10.  Software Use / License Restrictions 
All software in use on the Town’s Technology Resources is officially licensed software.  No software is to be 
installed or used that has not been duly paid for and licensed appropriately for the use to which it is being put.  No 
employee may load any software on the Town’s computers, by any means of transmission, unless authorized in 
writing in advance by the General Manager or the President of the Board of Directors, and thoroughly scanned for 
viruses or other malware prior to installation.   
 

Section 8.11.  Software For Home Use 
Employees are prohibited from transferring or copying any software from a Town Technology Resource to 
another computer or other device, unless employees have received written authorization from the General 
Manager or the President of the Board of Directors.   
 

Section 8.12.  Security 
The Town has installed a variety of programs and devices to ensure the safety and security of the Town’s 
Technology Resources.  Any employee found tampering with or disabling any of the Town’s security devices will 
be subject to discipline up to and including termination.  Moreover, the Town reserves the right to advise 
appropriate legal authorities of any violation of law by an employee that results in the misappropriation, theft, or 
unlawful use of Town’s property or proprietary information.  To maintain the effectiveness of the Town’s security 
measures, employees should use only secure networks established by the Town to access or use Confidential 
Information.  Such information may not be downloaded, stored, or copied on any non-Town equipment or media 
(including personally owned computer, handheld devices, external memory devices, or disks) without prior 
written approval of the General Manager.  If Confidential Information is downloaded, stored, or copied on non-
Town equipment or media, employee must take all appropriate measures to safeguard against loss, theft, 
damage, or breach of such equipment or media.  If Confidential Information is downloaded, stored, or copied on 
non-Town equipment or media, employees must permanently delete such information prior to selling or 
otherwise transferring out of their own possession or control such equipment or media.  If Confidential 
Information is downloaded, stored, or copied on non-Town equipment or media and employee resigns, is 
terminated, or is requested to do so by management, employees must delete all Confidential Information they 
received, including any and all copies thereof.  Similarly, employees may not send Confidential Information to 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

33 
777841-4  

their personal e-mail accounts, even for work-related purposes, without prior written approval of the General 
Manager or President of the Board of Directors.   
 
Any loss or suspected loss of Confidential Information, or any suspicious activity such as external hacking attempts 
or unusual internal activity, should be reported immediately to Town management. 
 

Section 8.13.  Remote Access To Technology Resources 
The Town may, at its sole discretion, provide certain employees with remote access systems such as a laptop, 
iPad, smart phone, or other personal organizer to allow such employees to handle the tasks associated with their 
jobs while working away from the office.  Employees must take care to ensure the security of all Town-provided 
equipment.  Employees must not share network passwords or other PINs with anyone.  As soon as an employee 
believes Town-provided equipment is lost or that the security and confidentiality of the data on that equipment 
has been compromised, he or she must notify the General Manager.  If Town-provided equipment is lost, or if it is 
damaged as a result of carelessness, employees may be responsible for replacement fees.  The Town-provided 
remote access system should only be used for Town-related business.  The Town may decide that it is no longer 
necessary for certain employees to possess a remote access system and their ability to use such systems may be 
discontinued, in which case such employees are expected to return any Town-issued remote access systems in 
accordance with Town’s “Town Property” policy.   
 
The Town does not expect or require employees to work on tasks (including e-mail, work product, etc.) during 
meal periods or after scheduled working times.  Any and all use of remote access systems shall be made in 
compliance with Town’s “Hours Of Work, Overtime, And Pay Day policy.”  Non-exempt Employees are strictly 
prohibited from working on any tasks outside of scheduled working hours unless with the express written 
authorization of the General Manager. 
 
Use of public or home networks, such as unencrypted WiFi networks, can be a threat to the security and reliability 
of the Town’s Technology Resources.  Accordingly, employees must only access Town Technology Resources via 
means that are specifically approved by the Town.   
 

Section 8.14.  Audits 
The Town may perform auditing activity or monitoring to determine compliance with these policies.  Audits of 
software and data stored on the Town’s Technology Resources may be conducted without warning at any time. 

 

ARTICLE 9 
VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE 

 

Section 9.1.  Statement of Policy 
The Town recognizes that workplace violence is a concern among employers and employees across the country.  
The Town is committed to providing a safe, violence-free workplace.  In this regard, the Town strictly prohibits 
employees, consultants, customers, visitors, or anyone else on Town premises or engaging in a Town-related 
activity from behaving in a violent or threatening manner.  Moreover, the Town seeks to prevent workplace 
violence before it begins and reserves the right to address certain behaviors, even in the absence of violent 
behavior.   
 
The Town believes that prevention of workplace violence begins with recognition and awareness of potential 
early warning signs and has established procedures for responding to any situation that presents the possibility of 
violence.   
 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

34 
777841-4  

Section 9.2.  Workplace Violence Defined 
Workplace violence includes, but is not limited to, the following:  
 

(1) Threats of any kind;  
 

(2) Threatening, physically aggressive, or violent behavior, such as intimidation of or attempts to instill fear in 
others;  
 

(3) Other behavior that suggests a propensity towards violence, which can include belligerent speech, 
excessive arguing or swearing, sabotage, or threats of sabotage of Town property, or a demonstrated pattern of 
refusal to follow Town policies and procedures;  
 

(4) Defacing Town property or causing physical damage to the facilities; or  
 

(5) With the exception of security personnel, bringing weapons or firearms of any kind on Town premises, in 
Town parking lots, or while conducting Town business.   
 

Section 9.3.  Reporting 
If any employee observes or becomes aware of any of the above-listed actions or behavior by an employee, 
customer, consultant, visitor, or anyone else, he or she should notify a supervisor or the General Manager 
immediately.   
 
Further, employees should notify the General Manager if any restraining order is in effect, or if a potentially 
violent nonwork-related situation exists that could result in violence in the workplace.   
 

Section 9.4.  Investigation 
All reports of workplace violence will be taken seriously and will be investigated promptly and thoroughly.  In 
appropriate circumstances, the Town will inform the reporting individual of the results of the investigation.  To 
the extent possible, the Town will maintain the confidentiality of the reporting employee and of the investigation.  
The Town may, however, need to disclose results in appropriate circumstances, for example, in order to protect 
individual safety.  The Town will not tolerate retaliation against any employee who reports workplace violence.   
 

Section 9.5.  Corrective Action and Discipline 
If the Town determines that workplace violence has occurred, the Town will take appropriate corrective action 
and will impose discipline on offending employees.  The appropriate discipline will depend on the particular facts 
but may include written or oral warnings, probation, reassignment of responsibilities, suspension, or termination.  
If the violent behavior is that of a non-employee, the Town will take appropriate corrective action in an attempt 
to ensure that such behavior is not repeated.   
 
Under certain circumstances, the Town may forego disciplinary action on the condition that the employee takes a 
medical leave of absence.  In addition, the Town may request that the employee participate in counseling, either 
voluntarily or as a condition of continued employment. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

35 
777841-4  

ARTICLE 10 
MOBILE DEVICE POLICY 

 

Section 10.1.  Mobile Device Policy 
The Town prohibits the use of all handheld mobile devices including telephone, data, personal organizer, or other 
devices for work purposes while operating a motor vehicle or for personal purposes while operating a motor 
vehicle during work hours or on Town business.  Moreover, all use of Town-issued mobile devices, or personally 
purchased mobile devices used for work-related purposes, must be made in accordance with Town policy.   
 
Employees may use hands-free mobile devices while driving when safe to do so.  Special care should be taken in 
situations where there is heavy traffic, inclement weather, or the employee is driving in an unfamiliar area.  
Employees must adhere to all federal, state, and local rules and regulations regarding the use of mobile devices 
while driving.   
 
Under no circumstances are employees allowed to use text devices to type or review text messages for work 
purposes while operating a motor vehicle or for personal purposes while operating a motor vehicle during work 
hours or on Town business. 
 

ARTICLE 11 
VEHICLE USAGE POLICY 

 

Section 11.1.  Vehicle Usage Policy 
The Town maintains a Vehicle Usage Policy.  While the policy is considered part of this Manual, it is set forth in a 
separate document.  A copy of the Vehicle Usage Policy will be provided to you.

Agenda Item J-1



 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
PERSONNEL MANUAL 

36 
777841-4  

EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
PLEASE READ THE EMPLOYEE MANUAL AND FILL OUT AND RETURN THIS PORTION TO YOUR SUPERVISOR.   
 
Employee Name:  __________________________________________________ 
 
I acknowledge that I have received a copy of the Town’s Employee Manual.  I understand that I am responsible for 
reading the Manual and for knowing and complying with the policies set forth in the Manual during my 
employment with the Town.   
 
I further understand, however, that the guidelines contained in the Manual are guidelines only and are not 
intended to create any contractual rights or obligations, express or implied, and shall not be construed to create 
any type of right to a “fair procedure” prior to termination or other disciplinary action.  I also understand that, 
except for the Town’s at-will employment policy, the Town may amend, interpret, modify, or withdraw any of the 
provisions of the Manual at any time in its sole discretion, with or without notice.  Furthermore, I understand 
that, because the Town cannot anticipate every issue that may arise during my employment, if I have any 
questions regarding any of the Town’s guidelines or procedures, I should consult my immediate supervisor or the 
General Manager.   
 
I understand and agree that my relationship with the Town is “at-will,” which means that my employment is for 
no definite period and may be terminated by me or by the Town at any time and for any reason, with or without 
cause or advance notice.  I also understand that the Town may demote or discipline me or otherwise alter the 
terms of my employment at any time at its sole discretion, with or without cause or advance notice.   
 
I understand and agree that the terms of this Acknowledgment may not be modified or superseded except by a 
written agreement approved by a majority vote of the Board of Directors, that no other employee or 
representative of the Town has the authority to enter into any such agreement, and that any agreement to 
employ me for any specified period of time or that is otherwise inconsistent with the terms of this 
Acknowledgment will be unenforceable unless in writing and signed by me and the President of the Board of 
Directors of the Town.  I further understand and agree that if the terms of this Acknowledgment are inconsistent 
with any guideline or practice of the Town now or in the future, the terms of this Acknowledgment shall control.   
 
Finally, I understand and agree that this Acknowledgment contains a full and complete statement of the 
agreements and understandings that it recites, that no one has made any promises or commitments to me 
contrary to the foregoing, and that this Acknowledgment supersedes all previous agreements, whether written or 
oral, express or implied, relating to the subjects covered in this Acknowledgment.   
 
I have carefully read this Acknowledgement of Receipt.  

Date:       

              
      Employee’s Signature 
 
              
      Employee’s Name (Please Print) 

Agenda Item J-1



No Back Up
Documentation

For Agenda Item # K



 
 

Town of Discovery Bay Community Center Committee 
Meeting Minutes for May 29, 2013 - Pg.1 

 

                                                  
 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
OF THE COMMUNITY CENTER COMMITTEE 
OF THE TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
Wednesday, May 29, 2013 
COMMUNITY CENTER MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
1800 Willow Lake Road, Discovery Bay, California 
Website address: www.todb.ca.gov 
 

Community Center Committee Members 
Kevin Graves, Chair; Chris Steele, Vice-Chair; Diane Alexander, Paul Emmett, Marianne Wiesen 

 
COMMUNITY CENTER MEETING 7:00 P.M. 
 
A. ROLL CALL 

Call business meeting to order – 7:02 p.m. by Chair Graves 
Roll Call – All present with the exception of Member Emmett 
Member Alexander – Arrived at 7:03 p.m. 
  

B. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Individual Public Comments will be limited to a 3-minute time limit) 

None 
 

C. APPROVE MINUTES 
1. DRAFT Minutes of previous Community Center meeting dated May 7, 2013 
Motion by: Member Alexander to approve the minutes  
Second by: Vice-Chair Steele 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Chair Graves, Vice-Chair Steele, Member Alexander, Member Wiesen, NOES: 0, 
ABSENT: 1 – Member Emmett 
 

D. PRESENTATIONS 
None 
 

E. NEW BUSINESS AND ACTION ITEMS 
1. Community Center Operations Update 
General Manager Howard – Provided details of item E-1.  There was discussion between the General Manager 
and the Community Center Committee. 
2. Community Center Earth Day Exercise Results 
General Manager Howard – Provided details of item E-2.  There was discussion between the General Manager 
and the Community Center Committee. 
3. Community Center Status after June 30, 2013 
General Manager Howard – Provided details of item E-3.  There was discussion between the General Manager 
and the Community Center Committee. 
Motion by: Vice-Chair Steele to recommend to staff that the community center building be closed effective June 30, 
2013 with the exception of those classes and programs that will continue through the beginning of construction and 
that the site remain open for free play and reserved tennis, swimming (seasonal), and overall site use. 
Second by:  Member Wiesen 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Chair Graves, Vice-Chair Steele, Member Alexander, Member Wiesen, NOES: 0, 
ABSENT: 1 – Member Emmett 
Recreation Projects Coordinator Position 
Motion by: Member Alexander to have the Recreation Projects Coordinator position be funded to begin the process 
of developing a recreation program that is inclusive for all Discovery Bay residents. 
Second by: Member Wiesen 
There was discussion between the General Manager and the Community Center Committee. 
Vote: Motion Carried – AYES: 4 – Chair Graves, Vice-Chair Steele, Member Alexander, Member Wiesen, NOES: 0, 
ABSENT: 1 – Member Emmett 

TOWN OF DISCOVERY BAY 
A COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

 

 

President – Ray Tetreault • Vice-President – Mark Simon • Director – Kevin Graves • Director – Bill Pease • Director – Chris Steele 
 

 

Agenda Item L-1

http://www.todb.ca.gov/


 
 

Town of Discovery Bay Community Center Committee 
Meeting Minutes for May 29, 2013 - Pg.2 

 

There was discussion between the General Manager and the Community Center Committee regarding the Design 
Services Proposal from Lee Jagoe Architects for building renovation. 
 
4. Schedule next Community Center Committee Meeting 
General Manager Howard – Provided details of item E-4.  There was discussion between the General Manager 
and the Community Center Committee.  The next scheduled Community Center meeting is scheduled for 
Wednesday, June 26, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. 

 
F. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
  
G. ADJOURNMENT     

The meeting adjourned at 7:55 p.m. to the next Community Center Committee meeting dated June 26, 2013 at 7:00 
p.m. on 1800 Willow Lake Road. 
 
 

//cmc – 06.03.13 
 
http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/ 
 

Agenda Item L-1

http://www.todb.ca.gov/content/agenda-and-minutes/


No Back Up
Documentation

For Agenda Item # L-2



Agenda Item M-1



Agenda Item M-1



Agenda Item M-1



No Back Up
Documentation

For Agenda Item # N



No Back Up
Documentation

For Agenda Item # O


	07-03-13-1 Coversheet for Agenda Packet.pdf
	07-03-13-2 Agenda.pdf
	C - NO BACK UP DOCUMENTATION FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM.pdf
	D - NO BACK UP DOCUMENTATION FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM.pdf
	E - NO BACK UP DOCUMENTATION FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM.pdf
	F-1 DRAFT Minutes Special Meeting 06-19-13.pdf
	F-2 DRAFT Minutes Regular Meeting 06-19-13.pdf
	F-3-1 Agenda Report Approve Register of District Invoices.pdf
	F-3-2 Copy of RFA Town Water Wastewater (2).pdf
	F-3-3 Copy of RFA LL #8 (2).pdf
	F-3-4 Copy of RFA LL #9 (2).pdf
	G-1-1 Agenda Report - Supplemental Environmental Project-SRWQCB-Admin Civil Liabilities-$54,000.00.pdf
	G-1-2 Micropol 2013 Biotransformation V5.pdf
	G-1-3 ESTJasperWetlandsPhoto.pdf
	G-1-4 April 26, 2013 letter from RWQCB.pdf
	G-1-5 June 12, 2013 letter from RWQCB.pdf
	G-1-6 May 20, 2013 letter to RWQCB.pdf
	G-2-1 Agenda Report Pickle Ball Conversion Award of Contract.pdf
	G-2-2 Contract_Vintage_Conversion_07 05 13.pdf
	G-2-2 Pickleball - Vintage Contractors Proposal 06 25 13.pdf
	H - NO BACK UP DOCUMENTATION FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM.pdf
	I - NO BACK UP DOCUMENTATION FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM.pdf
	J-1-1 Agenda Report Employee Personnel Manual.pdf
	J-1-2 Final DRAFT Personnel Manual.pdf
	K - NO BACK UP DOCUMENTATION FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM.pdf
	L-1 Approved Minutes Community Center Committee 05-29-13.pdf
	L-2 NO BACK UP DOCUMENTATION FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM.pdf
	M-1 Letter from Supervisor Piepho regardng Caltrans Right of Way.pdf
	N - NO BACK UP DOCUMENTATION FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM.pdf
	O - NO BACK UP DOCUMENTATION FOR THIS AGENDA ITEM.pdf

